

Blankenburg, Martin

Empirical Essays on Earnings Forecast Errors and the Risk of Momentum

Dissertation for obtaining the degree of Doctor of Business and Economics (Doctor rerum politicarum - Dr. rer. pol.)

at WHU - Otto Beisheim School of Management

17 March 2022

First Advisor: Prof. Dr. Mei Wang

Second Advisor: Prof. Dr. Michael Massmann

Acknowledgments

This thesis is devoted to my parents, Regina and Detlef, to my girlfriend Franziska and to my friends. I am indebted to the support, energy and love they have given me through my whole life. Thank you.

Foremost, I wish to express my sincere gratitude to my first supervisor, Prof. Dr. Mei Wang, for giving me the opportunity to study at her chair. She gave me the best research environment and professional as well as personal support one could imagine. I would also like to voice my gratitude to my second supervisor, Prof. Dr. Michael Massmann, for his tremendous advice and support on my econometric methodology and the many fruitful discussions. I am also indebted to my former manager Matthias Frey for giving me with the necessary time and support to finish my thesis. Thank you.

I would also like to thank my beloved friends for encouraging and helping me at every stage of my life: Jan Debald, Juliane Krumm, Bastian Teichgreeber, Markus & Sarah Hofmeister, Theresa Meinen, Fabian Will, and Tobias Schäfer. Thank you.

Contents

List of Figures

List of Tables

1	Intr	coduction	1							
2	Ear	nings Forecast Errors and Firm Characteristics	7							
	2.1	Chapter Introduction	7							
	2.2	Literature Review	10							
	2.3	Data and Methodology	16							
		2.3.1 Corporate Fundamentals and Stock Data	16							
		2.3.2 The Measurement of Earnings Forecast Errors	23							
		2.3.3 Methodology	29							
	2.4	Empirical Results	31							
	2.5 Chapter Conclusion									
3	Ear	nings Forecast Errors and Risk-Factor Models	41							
	3.1	Chapter Introduction	41							
	3.2	Literature Review	44							
	3.3	Data and Methodology	48							
		3.3.1 Risk Factors	48							
		3.3.2 Stock Data	52							
		3.3.3 The Measurement of Earnings Forecast Errors	55							
		3.3.4 Methodology	57							
	3.4	Empirical Results	60							
		3.4.1 Time Series Regressions	60							
		3.4.2 Robustness: Regressions with Stambaugh Mispricing Factors	67							

Re	efere	ices 11	27
в	R S	ession Info 12	20
A	App	endix to Chapter 3: Full Regression Details	11
5	Con	clusion 10	07
	4.5	Chapter Conclusion	.05
		4.4.4 Risk-Managed Fama and French Factor Strategies	93
		4.4.3 Risk-Managed Momentum Strategy	90
		4.4.2.2 Predictability of Risk Components	88
		4.4.2.1 Market Variance and Momentum Variance	88
		4.4.2 Decomposition of Momentum Risk	88
		4.4.1 First-Order Autoregressive Models	85
	4.4	Empirical Results	85
	4.3	Data and Methodology	77
	4.2	Literature Review	75
	4.1	Chapter Introduction	73
4	\mathbf{Risl}	of Momentum: An International Comparison	73
	3.5	Chapter Conclusion	71

List of Figures

1	Effect of trimming on investment measures	21
2	Effect of trimming on profitability measures	22
3	Earnings forecast errors for growth and value portfolios	27
4	Earnings forecast errors for small and big portfolios	28
5	Time series of annual returns for risk factors	53
6	Regressions of Fama-French five-factor model and earnings forecast errors	61
7	Regressions of Carhart four-factor model and earnings forecast errors \ldots .	62
8	Regressions of Hou q-factor model and earnings forecast errors	63
9	Regressions of Stambaugh and Yuan four-factor model and earnings forecast	
	errors	68
10	Variance of momentum and its autocorrelation	84
11	Risk-managed momentum (WML) strategy	94
12	Weights of the risk-managed momentum strategy	95
13	Risk-managed market (RMRF) strategy	100
14	Risk-managed size (SMB) strategy	101
15	Risk-managed value (HML) strategy	102
16	Risk-managed profitability (RMW) strategy	103
17	Risk-managed investment (CMA) strategy	104

List of Tables

1	Summary statistics for investment measures	19									
2	Summary statistics for profitability measures	20									
3	Summary statistics for portfolios										
4	Earnings forecast errors across portfolios	25									
5	Regression summary for all portfolios	32									
6	Regression summary for 10 value portfolios	36									
7	Regression summary for 10 growth portfolios	37									
8	Descriptive statistics for risk factors	51									
9	Descriptive statistics for portfolios	58									
10	Regression statistics	66									
11	Regression statistics for Stambaugh four-factor model	70									
12	Descriptive statistics for risk factors	81									
13	Descriptive statistics for variances of risk factors	83									
14	$AR(1)$ of one-month realized variances $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	86									
15	Market Variance and Momentum Variance	89									
16	Decomposition of the risk of momentum	91									
17	Descriptive statistics for risk-managed momentum strategy	93									
18	Descriptive statistics for risk-managed factor strategies	97									
19	Summary statistics for Fama-French five-factor model	112									
20	Summary statistics for Fama-French five-factor model and earnings forecast										
	errors	113									
21	Summary statistics for Carhart four-factor model	114									
22	Summary statistics for Carhart four-factor model and earnings forecast errors	115									
23	Summary statistics for Hou q-factor model	116									
24	Summary statistics for Hou q-factor model and earnings forecast errors	117									

25	Summary statistics for Stambaugh and Yuan four-factor model	118
26	Summary statistics for Stambaugh and Yuan four-factor model and earnings	
	forecast errors	119

1 Introduction

This dissertation is examines forecast errors and the risk of equity momentum strategies. There is substantial evidence that analyst forecasts for corporate earnings are overly optimistic, especially long-term forecasts, leading to earnings forecast errors. In Chapter 2, we examine how firm characteristics contribute to this phenomenon. By firm characteristics, we refer to important corporate fundamentals that were identified as significant predictors in the cross-section of stock returns and characteristics that underlie popular risk-factor models, such as the Fama and French five-factor model (Fama & French, 2015) and the q-factor model (Hou, Xue, & Zhang, 2015), which currently serve as benchmarks for explaining variations in cross-sectional stock returns.

This is motivated by studies such as that of Kothari, So, & Verdi (2016), who attribute the accuracy in analysts' forecasts to certain firm characteristics and posit that accuracy generally decreases with uncertainty measures and the forecast horizon. Zhang (2006) examines the role of information uncertainty in short-term stock price continuation anomalies. He defines information uncertainty as "ambiguity with respect to the implications of new information for a firm's value" (Zhang, 2006, p. 105). This ambiguity can potentially stem from two sources: volatility of a firm's underlying fundamentals and poor information. His results suggest that high information uncertainty delays the flow of information into stock prices, which makes especially high-uncertainty stocks vulnerable to behavioural biases (see also Hirshleifer (2001)). We combine these ideas and test in Chapter 2 to what extent important firm characteristics can explain the accuracy in analysts' forecasts in light of uncertainty in these firm characteristics.

We study three investment-based corporate fundamentals, three firm profitability measures, firm size, book-to-market ratio, and portfolio time-series momentum. The focus on investment and profitability measures is based on the findings of Hou, Xue, & Zhang (2017) that investment and profitability, but not liquidity, are the main drivers of the cross-section of expected returns.

Every year, we assign stocks into 25 portfolios based on their book-to-market ratio and firm size. We find that the earnings forecast errors for small-growth stocks are the largest in magnitude (meaning, the most negative) and have the highest standard errors, by far. We also find that growth stocks carry higher uncertainty in the form of higher standard errors in their investment and profitability measures as well as in monthly excess returns. This provides evidence to the suggestion of Zhang (2006) that high-uncertainty firms are more likely to be growth firms.

Further, we find in panel regressions that measures of corporate investments are negatively related to future earnings forecast errors. This implies that higher investments lead to either lower actual earnings in the next period, higher estimated earnings for the next period or a combination thereof. Higher profitability has the opposite effect and leads to improved future earnings forecast errors. When comparing the results for portfolios of value and growth stocks, we find that the magnitude of the coefficients for the investment and profitability measures is more pronounced for growth stocks. Additionally, the tested corporate fundamentals explain a much higher variance of the earnings forecast errors of growth stocks compared to value stocks.

To our best knowledge, our study in Chapter 2 is the first that directly links the properties of earnings forecast errors to corporate fundamentals underlying the risk factors in the most important cross-sectional models. Moreover, our findings provide further evidence on the role of information uncertainty, potentially caused by the volatility of a firm's underlying fundamentals and poor information, in evaluating a firm's value in light of new information. Secondly, there is substantial evidence that stock market anomalies, in part, reflect forms of mispricing and that stocks share similar components of mispricing (see, e.g., Hirshleifer & Jiang (2010) and Kozak, Nagel, & Santosh (2018)). Stambaugh & Yuan (2017) argue that factor models can be useful to examine whether expected returns reflect some sort of risk or mispricing. The factors may capture systematic risk, where investors demand a risk premium as compensation for bearing that risk. Or factors can capture sources of mispricing, such as investor sentiment or uncertainty regarding earnings. In Chapter 3, we examine how uncertainty regarding earnings - as measured by earnings forecast errors, which we introduced in Chapter 2 - contribute to the mispricing phenomenon. Earnings forecast errors have been put forward as a mispricing-based explanation of the value premium (Piotroski & So (2012)) and have the advantage of being a non-return-based measure. Therefore, these errors allow for a direct analysis of expectation errors caused by institutional investors and analysts. Studies such as Hou et al. (2017) and Fama & French (2016) demonstrate that popular risk factor models - such as the Fama & French (2015) five-factor model, the Carhart (1997) fourfactor model and the Hou et al. (2015) q-factor model - largely summarise the cross-section of average stock returns. Additionally, Hirshleifer & Jiang (2010), Stambaugh & Yuan (2017), and others find that many return-anomaly studies indicate that some form of mispricing is at least partially responsible for the reported anomaly returns. Stambaugh & Yuan (2017) find that their four-factor model with two mispricing factors accommodates a large set of return anomalies even better than the aforementioned four- and five-factor models. In Chapter 3, our study adds to this and tests the extent to which earnings forecast errors as a specific proxy for mispricing are a priced factor when added to well-documented risk-factor models. Using data for the 34 portfolio formation years 1982–2015, we find in time series regressions that, when significant, the coefficient for earnings forecast errors is always strongly positive, which is the case for most of the portfolios carrying larger companies. This implies that less mispricing in the form of less negative earnings forecast errors corresponds to higher contemporaneous returns. Furthermore, adding earnings forecast errors to the factor models lowers the estimated betas of the market excess return and the value risk factor (high minus low, HML) for value stocks in all tested models. Thus, some of the perceived general stock market risk and the value premium for value stocks might instead be uncertainty around

earnings as measured by earnings forecast errors. When added to the Stambaugh & Yuan (2017) four-factor model the coefficient for earnings forecast errors is significant for 18 of the 25 portfolios. Therefore, it is the most significant mispricing factor, by far, among the three included. This indicates that earnings forecasts errors are, on the one hand, related to existing mispricing factors in the literature but, on the other hand, also capture with uncertainty regarding earnings a distinctively different mispricing aspect. Overall, adding earnings forecast errors significantly raises the portion of variability explained in the returns of the 25 size- and book-to-market-sorted portfolios as measured by the adjusted R^2 in all four tested models. This effect is more pronounced for portfolios of large cap and value stocks, where the more complex model including earnings forecast errors is significantly better in explaining portfolio returns as documented in related F-tests.

Our contribution to the finance literature in Chapter 3 is threefold. First, to our best knowledge, this is the first study that tests the explanatory power of earnings forecast errors for the cross-section of average portfolio returns in the presence of popular risk factors. Second, the study provides further evidence for the hypothesis that both risk factors and mispricing are significant drivers in the cross-section of stock returns. Third, we reveal that earnings forecasts errors capture with uncertainty around earnings a different dimension of mispricing.

In Chapter 4 of this dissertation, we focus on the risk properties of the momentum factor. Momentum strategies usually buy past winners and sell past losers, which implies a bet on past returns predicting future returns in the cross-section. The academic literature shows that the success of momentum strategies is not limited to U.S. stocks, where it was first identified by Jegadeesh & Titman (1993), but is a widespread phenomenon across major asset classes, regions, and periods. However, investors pay a high price for the strong momentum returns, as they are highly negatively skewed and suffer from infrequent but severe drawdowns: The winners-minus-losers (WML) strategy from Fama and French lost 91.59% within two months in 1932 and returned -73.43% within three months in 2009 (Barroso & Santa-Clara, 2015, p. 112).

Studies such as those by Barroso & Santa-Clara (2015) and Daniel & Moskowitz (2016) also reveal that the risk of momentum varies substantially over time and is highly predictable. Based on *ex ante* volatility forecasts for momentum a dynamically weighting of the momentum factor WML leads to a doubling of the Sharpe ratio compared to the regular momentum strategy in both studies. Additionally, Barroso & Santa-Clara (2015) find that a dynamic weighting of the momentum factor based on an autoregressive (AR) variance forecast largely eliminates the crash risk of momentum. However, the above-mentioned studies focus almost exclusively on U.S. data. We extend the study of Barroso & Santa-Clara (2015) to a much broader sample and examine whether the predictability of the risk of momentum can be generalised to all developed market equity regions, in other words, the United States, Europe, Japan, and the Asia Pacific ex Japan region. Further, we apply the autoregressive (AR) forecast of Barroso & Santa-Clara (2015) for the variance of momentum to all five Fama and French factors and test whether the predictability of risk is a pervasive phenomenon across all five risk factors.

Here, our contribution to the literature is fivefold. First, we find that the risk of momentum is not only predictable in the United States but generally in all other developed market equity regions, in other words, Europe, Japan, and the Asia Pacific ex Japan region. Second, we reveal that the high autocorrelation of momentum risk is not only limited to the first lag but is statistically significant for up to approximately 10 lags, based on monthly data. Third, we demonstrate that the predictability of the variance is not unique to the momentum strategy but a common characteristic that applies to all five Fama and French factors, i.e. the market excess return (RMRF), size (SMB), value (HML), profitability (RMW), and investments (CMA). Fourth, we find that the risk-managed momentum strategy remains highly successful relative to the regular momentum strategy even after it has been proposed by Barroso & Santa-Clara (2015). However, we find that the same strategy fails to improve the risk and return measures for the other factors despite the high predictability of their risk. Lastly, when we decompose the risk of momentum, we find that the vast majority of the risk is strategy-specific and is not driven by the variance of the broad stock market. This confirms the results of Barroso & Santa-Clara (2015), and we conclude that this offers a possible explanation for the strong success of the risk-managed strategy of momentum.

The conclusion of this dissertation discusses drawbacks of the results presented here and provides some directions for further research.

2 Earnings Forecast Errors and Firm Characteristics¹

2.1 Chapter Introduction

There is substantial evidence that analyst forecasts for corporate earnings, especially longterm forecasts, are too optimistic, leading to earnings forecast errors. In this paper we examine how firm characteristics contribute to this phenomenon. By firm characteristics, we refer to important corporate fundamentals that were identified as significant predictors in the cross-section of stock returns and characteristics that underlie popular risk-factor models. Our study is motivated by three results from the finance literature. First, several papers, including Kothari et al. (2016), have attributed the accuracy in analysts' forecasts to certain firm characteristics and posit that accuracy generally decreases with uncertainty measures, such as firm complexity and volatility in returns and earnings, and the forecast horizon. Second, since the 1970s, hundreds of firm characteristics have been put forward as being significant predictors in the cross-section of stock returns. However, studies such as that by Green, Hand, & Zhang (2017) have found that only a handful of variables are reliably independent determinants of non-microcap stock returns. Additionally, these variables are mostly unrelated to the characteristics that underlie popular risk-factor models, such as the Fama and French five-factor model (Fama & French, 2015) or the q-factor model (Hou et al., 2015), which currently serve as benchmarks for explaining variation in cross-sectional stock returns. Third, Zhang (2006) has examined the role of information uncertainty in short-term stock price continuation anomalies. He has defined information uncertainty as "ambiguity with respect to the implications of new information for a firm's value" (Zhang, 2006, p. 105). This ambiguity can potentially stem from two sources: volatility of a firm's underlying fundamentals and poor information. His results suggest that high information uncertainty delays the flow of information into stock prices. Thus, the lack of accurate feedback about a

¹unpublished working paper

firm's fundamentals make stocks, especially high-uncertainty stocks, vulnerable to behavioural biases (Hirshleifer, 2001). This study combines these three ideas and tests the extent to which important firm characteristics can explain the accuracy in analysts' forecasts in light of uncertainty in these firm characteristics.

Specifically, we study three investment-based corporate fundamentals, three firm profitability measures, firm size, the book-to-market ratio and portfolio time-series momentum. The three investment-based corporate fundamentals are Investment-to-Assets, Investment Growth and Investment-to-Capital. The three firm profitability measures we use are Operating Profitability, Gross Profitability and Return-on-Equity. The focus on investment and profitability measures is based on the findings of Hou et al. (2017) that investment and profitability, but not liquidity, are the main drivers of the cross-section of expected returns. Thus, we analyse their influence on earnings forecast errors as well.

Every year, we assign stocks into 25 portfolios based on their book-to-market ratio and firm size to draw conclusions about the average earnings forecast errors for these classes of stocks. We find that the earnings forecast errors for small-growth stocks are the largest in magnitude (meaning, the most negative) and have the highest standard errors, by far. This supports the rationale of Zhang (2006), who uses firm size as one proxy of information uncertainty as he argues that small firms are less diversified and have less information available to the market. This poorer information about small firms leads to very negative earnings forecast errors. Additionally, we find that growth stocks carry higher uncertainty in the form of higher standard errors in their investment and profitability measures as well as monthly excess returns. This provides evidence for the suggestion of Zhang (2006) that high-uncertainty firms are more likely to be growth firms.

Using data for the 35 portfolio formation years 1982–2016 we find in panel regressions consistent results across the investment-based measures as well as across the firm profitability measures: Measures of corporate investments are negatively related to future earnings forecast

errors. This implies that higher investments (specifically measured via Investment-to-Capital) lead to either lower actual earnings in the next period, higher estimated earnings for the next period, or a combination thereof. Higher profitability, measured as Operating Profitability and Return-on-Equity, has the opposite effect and leads to improved future earnings forecast errors. The book-to-market ratio also has a significant positive effect on earnings forecast errors, which implies that, *ceteris paribus*, higher valuations (i.e., lower book-to-market ratios) are related to higher estimated future earnings, which manifest in lower (meaning, worse) earnings forecast errors. When separately comparing the results for portfolios of value and growth stocks, the direction for both type of stocks is largely the same. However, the magnitude of the coefficients is more pronounced for growth stocks. Furthermore, the tested corporate fundamentals explain a much higher variance of the earnings forecast errors of growth stocks compared to value stocks.

This study contributes to the finance literature in several ways. First, to our best knowledge, this is the first study that directly links the properties of earnings forecast errors to corporate fundamentals underlying the risk factors in the most important cross-sectional models. Prior studies, such as that by Hughes, Liu, & Su (2008), focus on a different set of corporate fundamentals unrelated to ours. Thus, the evidence presented in this paper sheds new light on the role of accounting-based corporate fundamentals in driving earnings forecast errors. Second, our findings provide further evidence on the role of information uncertainty, potentially caused by the volatility of a firm's underlying fundamentals and poor information, in evaluating a firm's value in light of new information. Finally, the presented evidence also provides new insights into the underlying cause of the value effect. It is still one of the biggest debates in finance whether the source of the value premium (i.e., the outperformance of value over growth stocks over longer horizons) is risk-based or a behavioural anomaly leading to mispricing. Our results suggest that mispricing in the form of earnings forecast errors should be taken into account when analysing the value effect. The remainder of this paper is organised as follows. The next section discusses the related literature. Section 2.3 describes the sample data, the measurement of earnings forecast errors, and the methodology. Section 2.4 provides the empirical results of our estimated panel regression models, and Section 2.5 concludes.

2.2 Literature Review

Our study is related to three areas of the empirical finance and behavioural finance literature. First, we review and analyse the properties of earnings forecast errors. Second, we review the literature that links earnings forecast errors to firm characteristics. Here, we also briefly review the firm characteristics that underlie popular risk-factor models. Third, the role of information uncertainty is evaluated and serves as frame for our findings.

Starting with the properties of earnings forecast errors, Dechow & Sloan (1997) have analysed earnings forecasts, forecast errors, and their impact on stocks with an emphasis on the value premium. Based on data on listed U.S. stocks, they found that the realised mean annualised earnings-per-share (EPS) growth is approximately 9% below the predicted annualised EPS growth. Sorting all stocks based on their book-to-market ratio indicates that the negative forecast error increases monotonically going from value stocks to growth stocks. They further found that forecast errors are particularly high among stocks with high forecasted earnings growth. This supports the suggestion of Zhang (2006) as well as our findings that highuncertainty firms are more likely to be growth firms (see below). When Dechow & Sloan (1997) linked forecasted earnings to stock prices, they initially mirrored virtually all forecasted EPS growth. As the EPS growth was subsequently realized at less than half the forecasted growth rate, they concluded that more than half of the value premium can be explained by the naive reliance of investors on biased earnings forecasts. However, a related study by Doukas, Kim, & Pantzalis (2002) failed to identify statistically significant differences in forecast errors between value and growth stocks. Kothari et al. (2016) reviewed the literature related to the properties of analysts' forecasts and their links to corporate fundamentals. Forecast accuracy (i.e., the absolute difference between forecasted value and realised value) is linked to certain firm characteristics: Accuracy generally decreases with uncertainty measures, such as firm complexity and volatility in returns and earnings (Kross & Ro (1990), Huberts & Fuller (1995), Lang & Lundholm (1996)), which confirms our findings that growth stocks have higher uncertainty in their firm characteristics and higher earnings forecast errors. Accuracy is also negatively related to the forecast horizon, meaning that accuracy deteriorates when the forecast horizon increases (Sinha, Brown, & Das (1997), Clement (1999), Brown & Mohd (2003)). Overall, Kothari et al. (2016) concluded that forecasting accuracy seems to be a "firm characteristic influenced by firm-level attributes such as the riskiness of its investments, firm size, and temporary shocks" (Kothari et al., 2016, p. 6).

Looking at forecast bias (i.e., the sign of the difference between forecasted value and realised value), the empirical literature generally has found that analyst forecasts, especially long-term forecasts, are too optimistic. One reason for this is that analysts tend to produce too-optimistic forecasts for companies with less predictable earnings to secure access to managements' private information (Das, Levine, & Sivaramakrishnan (1998), Chen & Matsumoto (2006), Mayew (2008)). A related stream of research indicates that forecasts from analysts who are affiliated with an investment bank are systematically higher than forecasts from analysts not linked to an investment bank. Again, the rationale is to secure superior access to management's private information (e.g., Lin & McNichols (1998), Michaely & Womack (1999), Dechow, Hutton, & Sloan (2000), Agrawal & Chen (2008)).

Frankel & Lee (1998) were among the first to employ firm characteristics to predict future analyst forecast errors with a specific focus on identifying potential mispricing. They modelled realised two-year-ahead Return-on-Equity forecast errors with four firm characteristics, including book-to-price (B/P), five-year sales growth, and consensus long-term growth forecast. While they found a negative relation between B/P and analyst forecast errors over specific forecast horizons, the relationship was not monotonic and did not hold across all tested horizons. Thus, they concluded "that the B/P effect is only tangentially related to forecast errors" (Frankel & Lee, 1998, p. 306). Sales growth was positively related to forecast errors, but the relationship was non-linear. Lastly, they also found that analyst forecasts tend to be more optimistic for firms with high long-term growth forecasts, confirming the findings of Dechow & Sloan (1997).

Hughes et al. (2008) analysed the predictability of analyst forecast errors by focussing on under-reaction and over-reaction variables identified in prior literature. The under-reaction variables included quarterly earnings surprises, past price changes and past earnings forecast revisions. Over-reaction variables include past sales growth, analysts' long-term forecasts, change of property, plant and equipment and change of other long-term assets. All overreaction variables had a negative relationship with analyst forecast errors, but the coefficients were mostly insignificant. The coefficients for the under-reaction variables were all highly significantly positive and in line with results reported in prior literature. Additionally, they found that accounting accruals were significantly negatively correlated with future analyst forecast errors. However, despite the "surprisingly large magnitude of predictable component estimates" (Hughes et al., 2008, p. 276) in analyst forecast errors, they found that this predictability did not automatically translate into profitable trading strategies.

So (2013) argued that the traditional approach of predicting analyst forecast errors used by Frankel & Lee (1998) and Hughes et al. (2008) is likely to suffer from omitted variable bias whenever the variables used to predict forecast errors correlate with unobservable inputs to analyst forecasts. He thus developed a new approach that aims to alleviate this bias by comparing forecasts based on firm characteristics with forecasts issued by analysts. For companies where the characteristics-based forecast exceeded the consensus analyst forecast, the subsequently realised earnings tended to exceed the consensus forecast, and vice versa. This led to significant predictive power for both analyst forecast errors and future returns. For his characteristics forecast for future firms' EPS, So (2013) used the nine firm characteristics that also were applied by Fama & French (2006) to forecast profitability.² When So (2013) compared his characteristics approach to the traditional approach of Frankel & Lee (1998) and Hughes et al. (2008), he found that the coefficients of size, book-to-market, momentum, and the firm's most recent earnings surprise were significantly positive in regression results predicting analyst forecast errors. Additionally, total accruals and consensus long-term growth forecasts had a statistically significant negative coefficient. So (2013) also reported that the median analyst forecast tended to be above the forecast based on characteristics, consistent with the empirical finding that analysts are incentivised to produce optimistic forecasts.

Piotroski & So (2012) took a different approach by arguing that expectations embedded in different valuation multiples of value and growth stocks must be analysed in relation to the strength of the company's fundamentals. They measured the aggregate current strength of firm fundamentals based on nine variables related to profitability, changes in financial leverage and liquidity, and changes in operational efficiency.³ They documented that future expectation adjustments were significantly more pronounced for value stocks than for growth stocks when implied expectations were not in line with the recent strength in firm fundamentals. Consistent with this, they found that the return difference between value and growth stocks was strongest among firms where current valuation multiples were not in line with the recent aggregate strength in firm fundamentals. Among firms whose fundamental strength was largely in line with expectations implied by current valuations, the value premium was close to zero.

Additionally, Piotroski & So (2012) also used two non-return-based measures - consensus

²These include earnings per share, negative and positive accruals per share, percentage change in total assets, dividends per share, and book-to-market, amongst others.

³The nine variables are four profitability-related variables (return-on-assets, cashflow from operations scaled by total assets, change in net income, and accruals scaled by total assets); three variables related to changes in financial leverage and liquidity (change in the ratio of long-term debt to total assets, change in the ratio of current assets to current liabilities, and common equity issuance) and two operating efficiency-related variables (change in gross margin and change in the asset turnover ratio).

forecast errors and revisions in analysts' earnings forecasts - to derive expectation errors and expectation adjustments directly from analyst forecasts instead of deriving them from short-term stock price changes.⁴ The two measures were negative for the full sample and for most value and growth portfolios, meaning that analyst forecasts were, on average, too optimistic. Dividing each value and growth portfolio further into three sub-portfolios based on a firm's recent financial strength indicated that both consensus forecast errors and revisions in analyst earnings forecast were strongly negative for firms with weak financial strength, moderately negative for firms with average financial strength, and close to zero for firms with strong financial performance. Consensus forecast errors were only marginally less negative for value firms than for growth firms, but the difference was statistically insignificant. However, conditioning on a firm's recent financial strength reveals that growth firms with weak recent financials had the most negative consensus forecast errors while the forecast errors for value firms with strong financials were only marginally negative. Similarly, forecast revisions were the most negative for growth firms with weak recent financials but were close to zero for value firms with strong financials.

Next, we briefly review major risk-factor models and their underlying firm characteristics. Hou et al. (2017) compared the performance of the most prominent empirical asset pricing models in explaining 216 reported significant stock market anomalies between 1967 and 2014. The models included the Capital Asset Pricing Model (CAPM) of Sharpe (1964) and Lintner (1965), which is just composed of the excess return on the market; the Fama & French (1993) three-factor model, which adds the size (market capitalisation) and value (book-to-market) risk factors; the Carhart (1997) four-factor model, which adds the cross-sectional momentum factor; the Pástor & Stambaugh (2003) four-factor model, which adds a liquidity factor to the Fama & French (1993) three-factor model;, the Hou et al. (2015) q-factor model, consisting

⁴They define consensus forecast errors as firms' actual earnings next year minus the consensus forecast, scaled by total assets per share at the start of the portfolio formation period. The second non-return-based measure they use is revisions in analysts' earnings forecast, which is defined as total revision in the consensus forecast from the initial forecast measurement date until the firms' next annual earnings announcement date, also scaled by total assets per share (Piotroski & So, 2012, p. 2861).

of the market factor, a size factor, an investment factor based on Investment-to-Assets, and a profitability factor based on Return-on-Equity; and the Fama & French (2015) five-factor model, also consisting of the market factor, a size factor, an investment factor based on change in total assets, and a profitability factor based on Operating Profitability. Hou et al. (2017) found that their Hou et al. (2015) q-factor model performed best in explaining anomalies related to momentum and profitability while the Fama & French (2015) five-factor model outperformed slightly in explaining value-versus-growth anomalies. Overall, they concluded that corporate fundamentals such as investment and profitability, but not liquidity, are the main drivers of the cross-section of expected returns.

Third, the role of information uncertainty, which serves as a frame for our findings, is evaluated. Several papers, including Kothari et al. (2016), posit that the forecast accuracy generally decreases with uncertainty measures. Zhang (2006) examined the role of information uncertainty in short-term stock price continuation anomalies as well as cross-sectional variations in stock returns. He defined information uncertainty as "ambiguity with respect to the implications of new information for a firm's value" where the ambiguity can potentially stem from two sources: volatility of a firm's underlying fundamentals and poor information (Zhang, 2006, p. 105). As information uncertainty is not directly measurable, he used six proxies for information uncertainty (firm size, firm age, analyst coverage, dispersion in analyst forecasts, stock volatility, and cash flow volatility) as well as analyst forecast revisions and price momentum to differentiate between good and bad news. The two main findings were, first, that the initial market reaction to new public information was far from complete, implying that bad news predicts lower future returns and vice versa. Second and more importantly, the degree of incompleteness rose monotonically with the degree of information uncertainty. Based on this, Zhang (2006) argued that investors underreact more to new information when there is higher uncertainty. Thus, the market reaction is far from complete for high-uncertainty stocks, and he suggested that high-uncertainty firms are more likely

to be growth firms. This argumentation is underpinned by the theoretical model of Daniel, Hirshleifer, & Subrahmanyam (1998) and Daniel, Hirshleifer, & Subrahmanyam (2001), where they argued that investors become overconfident about their private information and underreact to public signals such as analyst forecast revisions when firms have greater information uncertainty and are thus difficult to value. In a similar vein, Hirshleifer (2001) argued that a lack of accurate feedback about a firm's fundamentals leaves room for behavioural biases. Thus, any misvaluation effects should be strongest among companies with high uncertainty and poor information.

2.3 Data and Methodology

2.3.1 Corporate Fundamentals and Stock Data

We obtained data on corporate fundamentals from the CRSP/Compustat Merged - Fundamentals Annual and Quarterly database for the period January 1981 – December 2017. To allow for comparisons with the studies closely related to ours, we follow Xing (2008), Piotroski & So (2012), and Hou et al. (2015) and excluded observations from financial firms (Standard Industrial Classification codes between 6000 and 6999) in our sample. Moreover, we follow Fama & French (2015) and include only ordinary common shares with the Centre for Research in Security Practices (CRSP) share code 10 (NYSE common shares excluding foreign, ADRs, REITs and Closed-End Funds) or 11 (NYSE/NYSE American common shares excluding foreign, ADRs, REITs, and Closed-End Funds).

Every year, we categorize firms into 25 portfolios based on their book-to-market ratio and firm size to draw conclusions about the average earnings forecast errors for these classes of stocks. This is a standard approach in asset pricing, which reduces the variability in measures such as earnings forecast errors. Additionally, the classification into portfolios allows for comparisons between value and growth stocks as well as between large caps and small caps. The construction and timing of the 25 size and book-to-market portfolios follows Fama & French (1993), which is also applied by Xing (2008), Fama & French (2015), and Hou et al. (2015). The portfolios are constructed at the end of each June as the intersections of five portfolios formed on firm size (by market value of equity, ME) and five portfolios formed on the book-to-market ratio. To construct the book-to-market ratio (BE/ME) in June of year t the book value of equity (BE) is taken at the end of the fiscal year ending in year t-1, and the market value of equity (ME) is taken at the end of December of year t-1. The size breakpoints for year t are the NYSE market equity quintiles at the end of June of year t. The BE/ME breakpoints are also based on NYSE quintiles. The final sample is composed of 52,630 firm-year observations spanning the portfolio formation years 1982-2016.

Following Fama & French (1993) and Xing (2008), we define the book value of equity (BE) as the Compustat book value of common equity (Compustat annual data item 60) plus balance-sheet deferred taxes (data item 74) and investment tax credits (data item 208), minus the book value of preferred stock. Depending on data availability, we use the redemption (data item 56), liquidation (data item 10), or par value (data item 130) of preferred stock. We follow Xing (2008), Piotroski & So (2012), and Hou et al. (2015) and exclude firms with a negative or zero book value of equity which removes 8,395 (0.35%) firm-year observations from our sample.

Among the corporate fundamentals we analyse the role of three investment-based characteristics. Investment-to-Assets (I/A) in portfolio formation year t is defined as the annual change in total assets (Compustat annual item AT) divided by one-fiscal-year lagged total assets (Hou et al. (2015), Fama & French (2015)):

Investment – to – Assets
$$(I/A)_t = \frac{AT_{t-1} - AT_{t-2}}{AT_{t-2}}$$

The investment factor in the four-factor q-model from Hou et al. (2015) is based on sorts of Investment-to-Assets (I/A). The second investment-related measure is Investment Growth (IG). For the portfolio formation year t, it is the growth rate in capital expenditure (Compustat annual item CAPX) from the fiscal year ending in calendar year t-2 to the fiscal year ending in t-1 (Hou et al. (2015), Fama & French (2015)):

Investment Growth
$$(IG)_t = \frac{CAPX_{t-1}}{CAPX_{t-2}} - 1$$

Lastly, Investment-to-Capital (I/K) in year t is taken from Xing (2008) and is defined as capital expenditures (Compustat data item CAPX) divided by the net book value of property, plant, and equipment (data item 8, PPENT) using data from fiscal year ending in t-1:

$$Investment - to - Capital \ (I/K)_t = \frac{CAPX_{t-1}}{PPENT_{t-1}}$$

Table 1 shows simple time-series averages as well as Newey & West (1994) heteroskedasticity and autocorrelation consistent (HAC) standard errors (in parentheses) of the investment measures. In line with Xing (2008), small firms and growth firms have higher Investment Growth rates as well as higher Investment-to-Capital ratios than large companies and value companies. A similar picture can be seen for the Investment-to-Assets ratio across growth and value firms, but the difference vanishes between small and large firms as the book-to-market ratio increases. Table 1 further shows that growth stocks carry a higher volatility in their investment measures. This effect tends to be stronger for small-growth stocks than for large-growth stocks, which supports the argumentation of Zhang (2006) that small-growth stocks have a higher information uncertainty as they have less information available to the market.

Additionally, we use three measures of profitability. The definition of Operating Profitability (OP) follows Fama & French (2015): In the sort for June of year t, it is measured with accounting data for the fiscal year ending in t-1 and is defined as total revenues (data item REVT) minus cost of goods sold (data item COGS); minus selling, general, and administrative expenses (data item XSGA); minus interest expense (data item XINT); all divided by book

	Investment-to-Assets						Investment Growth					Investment-to-Capital				
	Low B/M	2	3	4	High B/M	Low B/M	2	3	4	High B/M	Low B/M	2	3	4	High B/M	
Small	31.72 (2.47)	21.95 (2.1)	16.52 (2.12)	12.34 (2.78)	7.21 (1.73)	92.06 (5.77)	59.04 (5.96)	44.71 (3.55)	33.84 (4.51)	22.90 (3.8)	37.93 (1.23)	32.80 (1.33)	28.04 (0.74)	24.62 (0.94)	21.52 (1.02)	
2	32.14	23.14	15.91	10.68	7.74	71.78	46.44	31.16	21.18	14.37	36.78	29.20	24.97	20.77	18.05	
3	(2.02) 31.64	(2.79) 17.61	(2.78) 13.63	(1.20) 11.65	9.04	(0.33) 55.56	29.80	23.22	(2.04)	(1.92)	(0.93) 33.93	(1.48) 25.29	(0.94) 22.04	(0.99)	(0.77) 17.94	
4	(3.46) 25.10	(2.11) 14.74	(1.85) 12.19	(1.86) 11.49	(1.61) 10.39	(4.35) 40.87	(3.21) 20.55	(4.4) 15.28	(2.03) 14.74	(4.7) 11.14	(1.16) 30.54	(0.72) 23.02	(0.93) 20.24	(0.78) 17.26	(1.11) 14.05	
Big	(4.68) 16.99	(1.19) 13.84	(1.71) 12.78	(1.56) 15.41	(1.09) 13.43	(5.42) 19.06	(2.91) 13.11	(3.04) 14.75	(3.01) 14.19	(2.07) 10.37	(1.95) 26.32	(0.58) 21.68	(0.82) 17.27	(0.93) 15.13	(0.55) 13.60	
0	(1.76)	(2.48)	(4.84)	(2.73)	(2.3)	(2.21)	(2.03)	(4.5)	(4.05)	(2.96)	(0.86)	(0.85)	(0.77)	(0.93)	(1.02)	

Table 1: Summary statistics for investment measures

The table shows simple time-series averages as well as Newey & West (1994) heteroskedasticity and autocorrelation consistent (HAC) standard errors (in parentheses) of the investment measures for the 35 portfolio formation years 1982-2016. All investment-based measures are trimmed every year at the 1% and 99% levels, see figure 1 for the effect of trimming on the investment measures. Investment-to-Assets, I/A, is defined as the annual change in total assets (Compustat annual item AT) divided by one-year lagged total assets. Investment growth (IG) in the portfolio formation year t it is the growth rate in capital expenditure (Compustat annual item CAPX) from the fiscal year ending in calendar year t-2 to the fiscal year ending in t-1. Investment-to-Capital (I/K) is defined as capital expenditures (Compustat data item CAPX) divided by the net book value of property, plant, and equipment (data item 8, PPENT).

value of equity (BE). It requires non-missing data for at least one of the following: cost of goods sold; selling, general and administrative expenses; or interest expense.

$$Operating \ Profitability \ (OP)_t = \frac{REVT_{t-1} - COGS_{t-1} - XSGA_{t-1} - XINT_{t-1}}{BE_{t-1}}$$

The calculation of Gross Profitability (GP) in year t is based on Novy-Marx (2013) and is defined as revenues (REVT) minus cost of goods sold (COGS) scaled by total assets (AT), all measured in fiscal year ending in year t-1:

Gross Profitability
$$(GP)_t = \frac{REVT_{t-1} - COGS_{t-1}}{AT_{t-1}}$$

Hou et al. (2015) measure profitability as Return-on-Equity (ROE), which is income before extraordinary items (Compustat quarterly item IBQ) divided by one-quarter-lagged book equity. The profitability factor in the q-model from Hou et al. (2015) is based on sorts of Return-on-Equity (ROE). We use the annual equivalents of these variables to align the frequency with all other corporate fundamentals. Thus, we measure Return-on-Equity in portfolio formation year t as annual Income Before Extraordinary Items (Compustat annual data item IB) measured in fiscal year ending in t-1 divided by book value of equity measured in fiscal year t-2:

$$Return - on - Equity \ (ROE)_t = \frac{IB_{t-1}}{BE_{t-2}}$$

Following Novy-Marx (2013), all investment- and profitability-based measures are trimmed every year at the 1% and 99% levels to remove the effect of outliers and data errors. Figure 1 depicts the effect of trimming on the investment measures while Figure 2 illustrates the effect for the profitability measures. Table 2 indicates that growth firms have a higher gross profitability compared to value firms across all size quintiles, which confirms the findings of Novy-Marx (2013). Additionally, growth firms have a higher operating profitability as well as a higher Return-on-Equity. The only exception is the small-growth portfolio, which has a very low operating profitability and is the only portfolio with a negative Return-on-Equity, on average. Similar to the investment measures, growth stocks also have a much higher volatility in their profitability measures compared to value stocks, especially the small-growth portfolio, leading to higher information uncertainty.

Table 2: Summary statistics for profitability measures

	Operating Profitability						Gross Profitability					Return-on-Equity					
	Low B/M	2	3	4	High B/M	Low B/M	2	3	4	High B/M	Low B/M	2	3	4	High B/M		
Small	6.53 (10.38)	18.53 (2.09)	18.26 (1.81)	17.32 (1.03)	13.39 (0.68)	41.19 (2.69)	43.71 (1.33)	39.88 (0.96)	35.92 (0.72)	32.19 (0.97)	-6.95 (7.04)	8.71 (1.83)	6.70 (1.41)	5.20 (1)	1.36 (0.97)		
2	25.82 (2.24)	25.60 (0.72)	22.16 (0.58)	20.05 (0.65)	14.80	47.28 (2.32)	(1.32)	37.96 (1.53)	31.41 (0.86)	24.85 (1.07)	6.12 (4.3)	12.34	10.28	7.10	3.81 (0.46)		
3	(2.21) 37.92	(0.12) 28.16 (0.45)	(0.50) 24.58 (0.62)	21.18	16.04	48.40	(1.02) 41.49 (1.46)	34.78	(0.00) 25.52 (0.52)	20.75	16.09	14.26	10.80	7.28	4.19		
4	(2.8) 48.69	(0.45) 30.25	(0.03) 25.58	(0.58) 21.61	(1.01) 16.82	(2) 50.73	(1.40) 39.25	(1.14) 30.72	(0.55) 21.76	(0.79) 17.17	(1.05) 23.71	(0.5) 14.96	(0.05) 10.86	(1.07) 7.46	(1.4) 5.50		
Big	(3.4) 49.57	(0.56) 32.34	(0.58) 26.81	(1.11) 22.63	(0.55) 17.71	(5.9) 52.38	(1.95) 34.08	(1.26) 25.60	(0.72) 19.72	(0.8) 15.11	(0.95) 28.62	(0.55) 16.85	(0.94) 12.53	(1.02) 8.03	(0.4) 6.35		
	(7.6)	(1.09)	(1.24)	(1.41)	(0.83)	(8.77)	(3.8)	(2.37)	(1.66)	(1.19)	(1.44)	(0.71)	(0.96)	(1.62)	(0.82)		

The table shows simple time-series averages as well as Newey & West (1994) heteroskedasticity and autocorrelation consistent (HAC) standard errors (in parentheses) of the profitability measures for the 35 portfolio formation years 1982-2016. All profitability measures are trimmed every year at the 1% and 99% levels, see figure 2 for the effect of trimming on the profitability measures. Operating profitability, OP, in the sort for June of year t is measured with accounting data for the fiscal year ending in year t-1 and is defined as revenues (Compustat annual item REVT) minus cost of goods sold (COGS), minus selling, general, and administrative expenses (XSGA), minus interest expense (XINT) all divided by book value of equity. It requires non-missing data for at least one of the following: cost of goods sold (COGS) scaled by total assets (AT). Return-on-Equity (ROE) is income before extraordinary items (IB) divided by lagged book equity.

Stock data is from the CRSP/Compustat Merged - Security Monthly Database. The monthly excess total returns are calculated as monthly total returns from the CRSP minus the risk-free



The graph shows the distribution of the investment measures for 25 portfolios formed on size and book-to-market for the 35 portfolio formation years 1982–2016. The trimmed versions of all investment measures are trimmed every year at the 1% and 99% levels. The lower and upper hinges correspond to the first and third quartiles (the 25th and 75th percentiles). The upper whisker extends from the hinge to the largest value no further than 1.5 * 1QR from the hinge. DtR is the inter-quartile range, or distance between the first and third quartiles). The lower whisker extends from the hinge to the smallest value at most 1.5 * 1QR from the hinge. DtR beyond the end of the whiskers are called outlying points and are plotted individually. Investment-to-Assets (I/A) is defined as the annual change in total assets. (Compustat annual item T/) divided by one-year lagged total assets. Investment growth (IG) in the portfolio formation year t is the growth rate in capital expenditure (Compustat annual item CAPX) from the fiscal year ending in calendar year -2 to the fiscal year ending in t-1. Investment-to-Capital (I/K) is defined as capital expenditures (Compustat data item CAPX) divided by the net book value of property, plant, and equipment (data item 8, PPENT). The y-axis is limited to -50 and 450.

Figure 1: Effect of trimming on investment measures



VCIICUUE The graph shows the distribution of the profitability measures for 25 portfolios formed on size and book-to-market for the 35 portfolio formation years 1982–2016. The trimmed versions of all profitability measures are trimmed every year at the 1% and 9% levels. The lower and upper hinges correspond to the first and third quartiles (the 25th and 75th percentiles). The upper whisker extends from the hinge to the largest value on further than 1.5 * 10R from the hinge. DRIs the inter-quartile range, or distance between the first and third quartiles). The lower whisker extends from the hinge to the smallest value at most 1.5 * 10R of the hinge. Data beyond the end of the whiskers are called outlying points and are plotted individually. Operating profitability (OP) in the sort for June of year is measured with accounting data for the fiscal year ending in year 1-1 and is defined as revenues (Compustat annual data item REVT) minus cost of goods sold, minus selling, general, and administrative expenses (COGS), minus interest expenses, or interest expense. Gross Profitability (OP) is defined as revenues (REVT) minus cost of goods sold (COGS) scaled by total assets (AT). Return-on-Equity (ROE) is income before extraordinary items (Compustat annual item IB) divided by lagged book equity. The y-axis is limited to -50 and 450.

Figure 2: Effect of trimming on profitability measures

rate, which is downloaded from Kenneth R. French's website.⁵ Similar to Fama & French (1993) and Hou et al. (2015), we calculate value-weighted portfolio excess returns from July of year t to June of t+1, and the portfolios are rebalanced at the end of June t+1. As the last characteristic, we define Portfolio Momentum as past 12-month cumulative total portfolio return but skipping the return for the most recent month for each portfolio. Specifically, Portfolio Momentum in June t is the cumulative portfolio total return from July of year t-1 to May of year t. Skipping the return of the most recent month is standard in the momentum literature to avoid the documented one-month short-term stock reversal effect (see Jegadeesh & Titman (1993), Fama & French (1996), Grinblatt & Moskowitz (2004), Asness, Moskowitz, & Pedersen (2013)).

Table 3 illustrates that value firms have higher monthly excess returns than growth firms for every size quintile except for large firms. This confirms the well-known value effect, i.e. that stocks with high book-to-market ratios have higher average returns than stocks with low book-to-market ratios, which has been identified in many empirical studies (Basu (1977), Fama & French (1992), Xing (2008), Cochrane (2011); amongst others). Furthermore, Table 3 confirms the empirical finding that stocks from small companies earn higher returns than stocks from large firms, on average. This holds for every book-to-market quintile except for growth stocks and confirms the empirical finding that the small-firm effect did not persist for growth firms after it had been first identified by Banz (1981), see Chen & Zhao (2009).

2.3.2 The Measurement of Earnings Forecast Errors

Earnings forecast errors (EFE) have been put forward as one potential measure of a mispricing-based explanation of the value premium in the literature; see Piotroski & So (2012). The advantage of earnings forecast errors is that it is a non-return-based measure. Thus, it allows for a direct analysis of expectation errors caused by institutional investors and analysts instead of deriving them indirectly from short-term stock price changes. One

 $^{^{5}} http://mba.tuck.dartmouth.edu/pages/faculty/ken.french/data_library.html$

		month	ly excess	returns		book-to-market ratio					market capitalisation					
	Low B/M	2	3	4	High B/M	Low B/M	2	3	4	High B/M	Low B/M	2	3	4	High B/M	
Small	0.76	1.02 (0.32)	1.07 (0.33)	1.19 (0.33)	1.21 (0.38)	0.22 (0.02)	0.43 (0.03)	0.62 (0.04)	0.86	1.53	0.21 (0.13)	0.20 (0.14)	0.20 (0.15)	0.19 (0.13)	0.18	
2	0.71	0.93	1.04	0.83	0.85	0.22	0.43	0.62	0.84	1.41	0.58	0.58	0.58	0.57	0.55	
3	(0.29) 0.73	(0.25) 0.95	(0.26) 0.81	(0.26) 0.96	(0.34) 1.17	(0.02) 0.21	(0.03) 0.43	(0.04) 0.61	(0.04) 0.85	(0.08) 1.37	(0.61) 1.31	(0.44) 1.30	(0.46) 1.28	(0.44) 1.29	(0.39) 1.26	
	(0.3)	(0.29)	(0.25)	(0.29)	(0.29)	(0.02)	(0.03)	(0.04)	(0.04)	(0.05)	(1.07)	(0.9)	(0.99)	(0.9)	(1.04)	
4	0.83 (0.28)	0.88 (0.22)	0.86 (0.27)	0.87 (0.27)	1.10 (0.27)	0.22 (0.02)	0.42 (0.03)	0.62 (0.04)	0.85 (0.04)	1.36 (0.07)	3.28 (3.69)	3.21 (4 11)	3.09	3.01 (2.54)	3.16 (14.17)	
Big	0.82	(0.22) 0.76	(0.21) 0.75	(0.21) 0.75	0.67	(0.02) 0.21	(0.05) 0.42	0.62	(0.04) 0.85	(0.01) 1.26	(3.05) 78.25	80.17	49.28	(2.04) 42.81	35.50	
	(0.23)	(0.22)	(0.2)	(0.22)	(0.26)	(0.02)	(0.03)	(0.04)	(0.04)	(0.06)	(27.95)	(32.09)	(31.66)	(31.05)	(25.32)	

Table 3: Summary statistics for portfolios

The table shows in the first panel the average monthly excess returns and standard errors (in parentheses) for 25 portfolios formed on size and book-to-market for the period July 1982 - June 2017 (420 months). The second and third panel shows the time-series averages of book-to-market ratios and market capitalisation (in billion of US-Dollars) including standard errors (in parentheses) for the 35 portfolio formation years 1982-2016. The portfolios are constructed at the end of each June as the intersections of five portfolios formed on firm size (market value of equity, ME) and five portfolios formed on the book-to-market ratio (BE/ME). To construct the book-to-market ratio in June of year t the book value of equity is taken at the end of the fiscal year ending in year t-1 and the market value of equity is taken at the end of December of t-1. The size breakpoints for year t are the NYSE market equity quintiles at the end of June of t.

restriction is that analyst forecasts are not available for all firms, and the sample will be biased towards larger, more profitable firms (Lang & Lundholm, 1996). In our sample, of 122950 firm-year observations with valid corporate fundamental data, 52630 observations (42.81%) also have earnings forecast errors data.

In line with the timing of the portfolio formation, we measure earnings forecast errors every year in June. Following Piotroski & So (2012), we define earnings forecast errors (EFE) in year t for an individual company as the firms' actual trailing 12-month earnings per share measured in June t+1, minus consensus 12-month expected earnings per share measured in June t, scaled by total assets per share in year t:

$$EFE_t = \frac{12m \ earnings \ per \ share_{t+1} - consensus \ 12m \ expected \ earnings \ per \ share_t}{total \ assets \ per \ share_t}$$

We use shares outstanding from the CRSP to calculate total assets per share, which is also used to calculate the market value of equity (ME) in the BE/ME ratio. Thus, for consistency, this measure of shares outstanding is preferred. Similar to the investment and profitability measures, in a next step earnings forecast errors are trimmed every year at the 1% and 99% levels to remove the effect of outliers and data errors. In a final step and also similar to the investment and profitability measures, earnings forecast errors in year t for the 25 size- and book-to-market-sorted portfolios are calculated as the value-weighted average of the earnings forecast errors of all stocks in each portfolio based on the market value of equity (ME) in June of year t for each stock. Research reveals that the accuracy of forecasts deteriorates over longer forecast horizons (Brown & Mohd, 2003; Clement, 1999; Sinha et al., 1997). Taking this into consideration, we focus on forecasts with a one-year horizon.

	Low B/M	2	3	4	High B/M	t-stat (High- Low) B/M
Small	-3.97	-2.15	-1.43	-1.24	-0.94	9.18
	(0.43)	(0.25)	(0.1)	(0.06)	(0.11)	(0)
2	-2.42	-1.20	-0.85	-0.75	-0.73	6.71
	(0.47)	(0.17)	(0.11)	(0.05)	(0.08)	(0)
3	-1.51	-0.71	-0.72	-0.46	-0.37	4.24
	(0.26)	(0.09)	(0.11)	(0.1)	(0.1)	(0)
4	-0.83	-0.47	-0.43	-0.42	-0.52	1.5
	(0.11)	(0.09)	(0.1)	(0.09)	(0.13)	(0.14)
Big	-0.29	-0.17	-0.17	-0.30	-0.19	0.84
	(0.05)	(0.09)	(0.09)	(0.09)	(0.08)	(0.4)

 Table 4: Earnings forecast errors across portfolios

The table shows the time-series averages as well as Newey & West (1994) heteroskedasticity and autocorrelation consistent (HAC) standard errors (in parentheses) of the value-weighted earnings forecast errors for the 25 portfolios formed on size and book-to-market for the 35 portfolio formation years 1982-2016. The last column shows t-statistics and p-values (in parentheses) of testing the equality of earnings forecast errors for the high B/M portfolio and the low B/M portfolio for each size bucket. Earnings forecast errors for an individual company in the sort for June of year t is defined as firms' actual trailing 12 month earnings per share measured in June t+1 minus consensus 12 month expected earnings per share measured in June t scaled by total assets per share in year t. Earnings forecast errors are trimmed every year at the 1% and 99% levels.

Table 4 illustrates that the mean values of earnings forecast errors are negative for all portfolios, meaning that analysts' forecasts are, on average, too high; this confirms the findings of Dechow & Sloan (1997) and Kothari et al. (2016), amongst others. The magnitude of this bias varies by book-to-market ratio and size: Earnings forecast errors are much higher (meaning, more negative) for growth stocks than for value stocks. The last column in Table 4 shows that the difference in earnings forecast errors between value and growth stock portfolios

is statistically significant (at the 5% level) for the smallest three size quintiles but not among large-cap stocks. Earnings forecast errors also increase almost linearly, going from small to large firms across all book-to-market quintiles, meaning that analyst forecasts of earnings are more optimistic for small firms compared to large firms, on average. The small-growth portfolio has, by far, the most negative earnings forecast errors. Dechow & Sloan (1997) also find much higher (meaning, more negative) earnings forecast errors for growth stocks than for value stocks. Piotroski & So (2012) also report analyst forecast errors across growth, middle, and value portfolios with no further distinction between firm size. They also find that analyst forecast errors for value stocks marginally exceed those for growth stocks, but the difference is not statistically significant. However, conditioning on the firm's recent financial strength reveals that growth stocks with weak financials have the largest negative forecast errors while value firms with strong financials have forecast errors that are only marginally negative.

Figures 3 and 4 show simple time series averages of analyst forecast errors for groups of value and growth stock portfolios as well as groups of small and large market capitalisation stock portfolios. Of the 25 size and book-to-market sorted portfolios, the five (10) portfolios with the lowest book-to-market ratio are classified as "Growth Top 20" ("Growth Top 40"). Similarly, the five (10) portfolios with the highest book-to-market ratio are classified as "Value Top 20" ("Value Top 40"). Figure 3 indicates that the earnings forecast errors for value portfolios are always quite stable around -0.5. The only exception is the global financial crisis in 2008, which was totally unexpected to analysts, at least judged by earnings forecast errors. For the growth-oriented portfolios, the earnings forecast errors are always below the measure for value portfolios. In addition to the global financial crisis in 2008, analysts also massively overestimated earnings for growth stocks at the time the dot-com bubble burst in 2000, which led to very negative earnings forecast errors at that time. This effect is especially pronounced for the most growth-oriented portfolios ("Growth Top 20").

In a similar vein, Figure 4 illustrates the average earnings forecast errors across small and



linetype — Growth Top 20 ---- Growth Top 40 --- Value Top 20 -- Value Top 40

The figure shows time series of the average earnings forecast errors across portfolios formed on size and book-to-market for the 35 portfolio formation years 1982-2016. Out of the 25 size and book-to-market sorted portfolios, the five (10) portfolios with the lowest book-to-market ratio are classified as Growth Top 20 (Growth Top 40). Similarly, the five (10) portfolios with the highest book-to-market ratio are classified as Value Top 20 (Value Top 40). Earnings forecast errors in the sort for June of year t for an individual company are defined as firms' actual trailing 12 month earnings per share measured in June t scaled by total assets per share in year t. Earnings forecast errors are trimmed every year at the 1% and 99% levels.

Figure 3: Earnings forecast errors for growth and value portfolios




The figure shows time series of the average earnings forecast errors across portfolios formed on size and book–to–market for the 35 portfolio formation years 1982– 2016. Out of the 25 size and book–to–market sorted portfolios, the five (10) portfolios with the lowest market capitalisation are labelled as Small Top 20 (Small Top 40). Similarly, the five (10) portfolios with the highest market capitalisation are labelled as Big Top 20 (Big Top 40). Earnings forecast errors in the sort for June of yeart for an individual company are defined as firms' actual trailing 12 month earnings per share measured in June +1 minus consensus 12 month expected earnings per share measured in June t scaled by total assets per share in year t. Earnings forecast errors are trimmed every year at the 1% and 99% levels.

Figure 4: Earnings forecast errors for small and big portfolios

large stock portfolios. Of the 25 size and book-to-market sorted portfolios, the five (10) portfolios with the lowest market capitalisation are labelled as "Small Top 20" ("Small Top 40"). Similarly, the five (10) portfolios with the highest market capitalisation are labelled as "Big Top 20" ("Big Top 40"). Analogous to value stocks, Figure 4 illustrates that the earnings forecast errors for large-cap portfolios are always quite stable around -0.5. The only exception is the global financial crisis in 2008, which, again, came totally unexpected to analysts covering large-cap stocks. The earnings forecast errors for small-cap portfolios are always below the measure for large-cap portfolios. In addition to the global financial crisis in 2008, analysts also massively overestimated earnings for small-cap stocks when the dot-com bubble burst. This effect is especially pronounced for portfolios with the smallest market capitalisation stocks ("Small Top 20") and mirrors the findings for the growth portfolios.

2.3.3 Methodology

We estimate panel regression models with earnings forecast errors (EFE) as the dependent variable and corporate fundamentals individually as well as combinations thereof as the explanatory variables. To address potential problems related to omitted variable bias, we include both entity (portfolio) fixed effects as well as time fixed effects. Entity fixed effects control for variables that vary across portfolios but are constant over time within a portfolio. Time fixed effects control for variables that are constant across portfolios but change over time. This could be, for example, changes in the skill set of analysts who provide earnings estimates, changes in the compensation structure for analysts, or changes in regulations affecting all companies and industries. The entity (portfolio) and time fixed effects regression model with one explanatory variable is defined as

$$EFE_{it} = \beta_1 X_{it} + \alpha_i + \lambda_t + u_{it}$$

where EFE_{it} are the earnings forecast error of portfolio *i* in time period *t*, X_{it} is the value of the single regressor for entity *i* in time period *t*, α_i is the entity (portfolio) fixed effect, and λ_t is the time fixed effect. In the case of combinations of corporate fundamentals, the panel regression model extends to

$$EFE_{it} = \beta_1 X_{1,it} + \dots + \beta_k X_{k,it} + \alpha_i + \lambda_t + u_{it}$$

where $X_{1,it}$ is the value of the first regressor for entity *i* in time period *t*, $X_{2,it}$ is the value of the second regressor, and so forth.⁶ The error term u_{it} is assumed to have a conditional mean of zero, given all observations of X for that portfolio.

As the residuals are likely to be correlated across both entity (portfolio) and time, we doublecluster the standard errors at the entity (portfolio) level and the time dimension. This is the recommended procedure from the seminal papers of Petersen (2009) and Thompson (2011) on estimating standard errors in finance panel data and is based on the assumption that marketwide shocks, such as changes in regulations or taxes, will likely induce correlation between firms (and thus portfolios) at a specific point in time, which requires clustering at the time dimension. Furthermore, persistent common shocks, such as business cycle fluctuations, may lead to residuals being correlated between different firms (and thus portfolios) over successive time periods, which warrants clustering at the entity (portfolio) level as well (Thompson, 2011, p. 1). Clustered standard errors are generally valid in the presence of heteroskedasticity, autocorrelation, or both (Stock & Watson, 2015, p. 413). Additionally, double-clustering is most applicable when the number of observations in both dimensions (portfolio and time, in this case) is not too far apart (Thompson, 2011, p. 2). Our data is composed of 25 portfolios and 35 year observations, which makes it well-suited for double-clustering.

In a further analysis, we separately analyse the effect of corporate fundamentals on earnings forecast errors for value and growth stocks separately. Among the 25 portfolios formed

⁶The notation of the panel regression model follows Stock & Watson (2015).

on size and book-to-market, within each size quintile the two portfolios with the lowest book-to-market ratio are classified as growth portfolios. Similarly, within each size quintile the two portfolios with the highest book-to-market ratio are classified as value portfolios. Thus, among the 25 portfolios, 10 are classified as growth, 10 as value, and the middle five portfolios are left out in this analysis.

2.4 Empirical Results

The results across all 25 portfolios formed on size and the book-to-market ratio with earnings forecast errors as the dependent variable are depicted in Table 5.⁷ Models (1)-(3) indicate the effect of each of the three investment-based measures individually on earnings forecast errors. The coefficient for each investment-related measure is negative and statistically significant (p< 0.1 for Investment-to-Assets, p < 0.05 for Investment Growth and p < 0.01 for Investmentto-Capital). This implies that higher corporate investments lead analysts to overestimate next-period earnings, on average, which results in more negative earnings forecast error, *ceteris paribus.* Higher corporate investments seem to be associated with higher earnings growth expectations that do not materialise, at least not in the following year. The results for the investment-related measures change somewhat when we employ all three variables combined in model (4): The coefficients for Investment-to-Assets and Investment Growth decline substantially in magnitude and become statistically insignificant. However, the coefficient for Investment-to-Capital remains highly significant (p < 0.01) and stable (-5.900 when regressed individually versus -5.378 when combined with the other two investment measures). Thus, the Investment-to-Capital ratio proposed by Xing (2008) contains information that is superior to the information content in the other two investment-related measures in predicting earnings forecast errors. These results are in line with the findings of Hughes et al. (2008), who

⁷Due to data availability for CRSP total returns, portfolio momentum is available starting in portfolio formation year 1983 only. Thus, the models that include portfolio momentum as a variable have 25 fewer observations, one for each portfolio.

						\$	-						
						Depen	tent variable						
						earnings	forecast err	ors					
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(9)	(2)	(8)	(6)	(10)	(11)	(12)	(13)
Investment-to-Assets (I/A)	-0.732^{**} (0.371)			-0.203 (0.425)								-0.439 (0.294)	
Investment Growth (IG)		-0.547^{**} (0.216)		-0.208 (0.212)								-0.056 (0.201)	
Investment-to-Capital (I/K)			-5.900^{**} (1.655)	-5.378^{**} (1.394)								-4.936^{***} (1.078)	-5.040^{***} (1.381)
Operating Profitability (OP)					2.601^{**} (1.040)			1.962^{**} (0.818)				1.582^{**} (0.683)	1.681^{***} (0.639)
Gross Profitability (GP)						$ \begin{array}{c} 1.179 \\ (0.827) \end{array} $		$0.332 \\ (0.875)$				$0.399 \\ (0.787)$	
Return-on-Equity (ROE)							2.184^{**} (0.931)	1.108^{**} (0.507)				0.742^{***} (0.232)	0.787^{***} (0.249)
Book-to-Market (log)									1.409^{**} (0.586)			1.243^{***} (0.414)	$1.217^{**}(0.365)$
Market Cap (log)										$\begin{array}{c} 0.037 \\ (0.107) \end{array}$		$\begin{array}{c} 0.115 \\ (0.134) \end{array}$	
Portfolio Momentum (12-2)											$0.196 \\ (0.539)$	-0.046 (0.319)	
F Statistic P-value (F Statistic) Portfolio-Fixed Effects? Time-Fixed Effects? Observations Adjusted R ² Adjusted R ² Residual Std. Error	39.86 0 Yes 875 0.743 0.724 0.006	40.67 0 Yes 875 0.746 0.728 0.006	43.47 0 Yes Yes 875 0.741 0.006	42.23 0 Yes Yes 875 0.742 0.006	43.2 0 Yes Yes 875 0.758 0.740 0.006	39.74 0 Yes 875 0.742 0.723 0.006	$\begin{array}{c} 42.09\\ 0\\ Yes\\ Yes\\ 875\\ 0.753\\ 0.06\end{array}$	42.25 0 Yes 875 0.760 0.742 0.006	42.6 0 Yes 875 0.737 0.006	$\begin{array}{c} 39.43 \\ 0 \\ Yes \\ Yes \\ 875 \\ 0.741 \\ 0.722 \\ 0.006 \end{array}$	39.85 0 Yes 850 0.745 0.726 0.006	$\begin{array}{c} 44.23\\ 0\\ 0\\ Yes\\ 850\\ 0.771\\ 0.006\end{array}$	47.65 0 Yes Yes 875 0.764 0.006
Note:	This corpt monta monta monta in ye endivid with with with with scale scale force force force	table shows t trate fundam in ear in Investm ar t. Investm ar t. Investm agin calenda. I agin	the estimated c in estimated c r share measure ent-to-Assets (r year t-2 to th r year t-2 to th r book value of ata for the fisc mata for the fisc ata for the fisc ata for the fisc ata for the fisc ata for the fisc ata for the	oefficients in p oefficients in p est portfolio foi est portfolio foi after a property, plant an year ending an year ending an year ending an jeviced by an idivided by an idivided by an in-on-Equity ir an well as al it - and portfolia it at the portfolia	anel regressi mation year minus cons year as the amm ding in t-1. , and equipant in year t-1 the book ver interest exp ROE) is inc corporate f oility-based	ions of earni ions of earni se from 1962, se from 1962, and change i and ichange i Investment and is defit and is defit an	ings forecast onth expected the expected of the expected of the expected of the expected of the extraordina extrao	errors for 2 imings forecast de aernings f is (Compust istal expend ital expend ital expand (J/K) is senon-missi w (GP) is de ry items (Cd ry items (Cd ry marke	55 portfolios est errors in at errors in at annual i titures (Con fined as cap fined as cap fined as rev fined as rev fine	s formed on syear t are syear t are tem AT) di tem AT)	*p<(* i size and the defined as z defined as z vided by onn- unal item C_i nual item C_i ilitures (Com the sort for. z selling, ge e of the foll (T) minus c (IB) divided a percent le 9 percent le	D.1; **p>C0.05 e book-to-mais a by total asset by total asset e-year lagged APX) from th apustat data i juue of year t neral, and ad vear of goods s by the lagged by the lagged by the lagged by the lagged by the lagged	****p<0.01 ket ratio on 1 trailing 12 ths per share total assets. e fiscal year e fiscal year e fiscal vear ministrative of COGS) 1 book value on, earnings on, earnings

Table 5: Regression summary for all portfolios

also document a negative coefficient for the two investment-related measures they employ (changes of property, plant and equipment, and other long-term assets in the previous year). Models (5)-(7) illustrate the effect for each of the three profitability-based measures when employed individually. The coefficients are positive for all three measures and significant at the 5% level for Operating Profitability and Return-on-Equity but not for Gross Profitability. When we employ all three profitability-related variables combined in model (8), the coefficients for both Operating Profitability and Return-on-Equity remain highly significant (p < 0.05). However, the magnitude of the coefficient for Return-on-Equity reduces in half, whereas the coefficient for Operating Profitability remains relatively stable at approximately -2. Thus, higher profitability in the form of higher Operating Profitability and Return-on-Equity is and Return-on-Equity leads to improve earnings forecast errors, which can be the result of higher actual earnings in the next period, lower estimated earnings for the next period, or a combination thereof.

Model (9) shows the effect of the natural log of the book-to-market ratio on earnings forecast errors. The positive coefficient, which is significant at the 5% level, implies that a higher book-to-market ratio (i.e., a cheaper valuation) leads to higher earnings forecast errors, which can be the result of either greater actual earnings in the next period, lower estimated earnings for the next period, or a combination thereof. The coefficients for both the log of the market capitalisation and portfolio momentum (12-2 month) are insignificant. The positive relationship between the book-to-market ratio and earnings forecast errors is also reported by So (2013). However, So (2013) and Hughes et al. (2008) reported a significantly positive coefficient for momentum and size. This might be because our results are based on portfolio-level data while So (2013) and Hughes et al. (2008) used firm-level data. When we combine all nine tested corporate fundamentals in model (12) (the "kitchen sink model") Investment-to-Capital and the log of the book-to-market ratio remain highly significant but with a slightly reduced coefficient for Investment-to-Capital compared to when regressed individually. The two significant measures of profitability, Operating Profitability and Returnon-Equity, also remain highly significant in the kitchen sink model, albeit with reduced coefficients compared to when regressed alone. Finally, we include in model (13) only the four significant variables from the kitchen sink model (12) and thus reduce the noise from insignificant corporate fundamentals. A comparison of models (12) and (13) confirms the stability and significance of the coefficients: Investment-to-Capital has a negative effect on earnings forecast errors while Operating Profitability, Return-on-Equity, and the log of the book-to-market ratio have a positive effect.

Table 6 illustrates the regression summary for the 10 value portfolios, and Table 7 carries the regression results for the 10 growth portfolios as defined in Section 2.3.2. Starting with the three investment-related measures, the coefficients for all three measures are negative across the growth portfolios. However, only the coefficient for Investment-to-Capital is significant at the 5% level when regressed individually. When all three investment-based measures are combined in model (4), Investment-to-Capital remains the only significant variable, similar to the results for all 25 portfolios. Looking at the results for the 10 value portfolios, Investmentto-Capital is the only significant variable both when regressed alone (model (3)) as well as when combined with the other investment measures (model (4)). However, the magnitude of the coefficient is only about half the size compared to the results for the growth portfolios. Thus, it seems that corporate investments, especially measured via the Investment-to-Capital ratio, have a stronger effect on earnings forecast errors for growth firms than for value firms. Looking at the three measures of profitability, the results for the growth portfolios largely mirror the results for all 25 portfolios: The coefficient for both Operating Profitability and Return-on-Equity is positive and significant at the 5% level when regressed individually. When all three profitability-related measures are combined in model (8), only Return-on-Equity remains significant at the 5% level, albeit with a substantially lower coefficient. The coefficient for Gross Profitability, while also positive, is insignificant.

However, the results for the value portfolios reveal a different picture. When regressed

individually, only Return-on-Equity is significant (at the 5% level). Surprisingly, the coefficient for Gross Profitability turns negative but is statistically insignificant. Interestingly, when all three investment-related measures are combined, the coefficient for Return-on-Equity becomes even more significant (p < 0.01), and the negative coefficient for Gross Profitability becomes significant as well (at the 10% level).

Looking at the last group of corporate fundamentals, while the book-to-market ratio is significant across all 25 portfolios, it is insignificant for the two sub-groups containing growth as well as value portfolios. The log of the market capitalisation is significantly positively related to earnings forecast errors only for growth portfolios. Portfolio momentum is not significant for value and growth portfolios as it was for all 25 portfolios. When combining all tested variables in the kitchen-sink model (12), the results are slightly different for growth and value portfolios: For growth stocks, most of the corporate fundamentals that are significant when regressed individually remain significant (Operating Profitability, Return-on-Equity, and market capitalisation). The exception is that none of the investmentrelated variables (Investment Growth and Investment-to-Capital) remain significant. For value stocks, Investment-to-Capital remains significant with a relatively stable coefficient of approximately -3. Among the three profitability measures, Return-on-Equity remains significant in the kitchen-sink model at the 5% level with a slightly lower magnitude in the coefficient. Interestingly, market capitalisation becomes weakly significant for value stocks when combined with other corporate fundamentals, but the coefficient is only half the size of that for growth stocks. Neither the book-to-market ratio nor portfolio momentum seem to be important in predicting earnings forecast errors for value stocks.

Lastly, when we combine only the four variables that are significant across all 25 portfolios in model (13) - namely Investment-to-Capital, Operating Profitability, Return-on-Equity, and the book-to-market ratio - the results for growth and value stocks become more aligned again. Both groups of stocks have a significantly negative coefficient for Investment-to-Capital with a

			Table 0:	negressi	DII SUIII	mary ic	T TU VA	iue port.	SOIIOS				
						De_{l}	pendent vari	able:					
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	earnii (6)	ngs forecast (7)	errors (8)	(6)	(10)	(11)	(12)	(13)
Investment-to-Assets (I/A)	-0.080 (0.414)			$\begin{array}{c} 0.105 \\ (0.408) \end{array}$								$\begin{array}{c} 0.020 \\ (0.357) \end{array}$	
Investment Growth (IG)		-0.289 (0.187)		-0.182 (0.211)								-0.136 (0.209)	
Investment-to-Capital (I/K)			-3.061^{***} (1.180)	-2.852^{**} (1.135)								$^{-2.779**}_{(1.091)}$	-3.312^{***} (1.131)
Operating Profitability (OP)					0.449 (0.821)			$1.055 \\ (0.880)$				$0.614 \\ (1.151)$	$0.761 \\ (0.931)$
Gross Profitability (GP)						-0.940 (0.597)		-1.479^{**} (0.724)				-0.514 (0.920)	
Return-on-Equity (ROE)							0.629^{**} (0.264)	0.583^{***} (0.207)				0.403^{**} (0.184)	0.727
Book-to-Market (log)									0.697 (0.546)			0.913^{*} (0.549)	$0.541 \\ (0.579)$
Market Cap (log)										$\begin{array}{c} 0.138\\ (0.118) \end{array}$		$\begin{array}{c} 0.186^{*} \\ (0.102) \end{array}$	
Portfolio Momentum (12-2)											0.223 (0.224)	$\begin{array}{c} 0.136 \\ (0.227) \end{array}$	
F Statistic p-value (F Statistic) Portfolio-Fixed Effects? Time-Fixed Effects? Observations Adjusted R ²	14.7 0 Yes Yes 350 0.633	14.93 0 Yes Yes 350 0.637	15.74 0 Yes Yes 350 0.650	15.04 0 Yes Yes 350 0.649	14.72 0 Yes Yes 350 0.634	14.83 0 Yes 350 0.636	14.78 0 Yes 350 0.635	14.29 0 Yes 350 0.637	14.9 0 Yes Yes 350 0.637	14.8 0 Yes Yes 350 0.635	15.67 0 Yes Yes 340 0.650	14.38 0 Yes 340 0.668	14.98 0 Yes Yes 350 0.653
Note:	This tab and the as a firm scaled by by one-y by one-y the CA (Compus sort for solling, g the follor minus co minus co divided 1 divided 1 percent 1	le shows thu le shows thu le shows thu s' actual tra- tra asset ear lagged PXJ from th PXJ from th that atta ita June of yea everal agged sit of goods by the lagged by the lagged by the lagged sevels. Stano	e estimated coe ekter ratio on co aling 12 montl s per share in total assets. Ir not assets. Ir not effical vear er effical vear er a dinistrative sold (COGS) s sold (COGS) s sold dook value er didition, earnin dard errors (in	fficients in pa theorate funds in earnings pe year t. Invest year t. Invest vestment gro iding in calen idied by the n expenses, mi expenses, mi expenses, mi expenses, mi expenses in parentheses)	nel regressi mentals for mentals for ment-to-As with (IG) in dar year t-2 et book valt ting data for mus interest interest and admin a and admin a seets (AT mings forecent are and admin are double-	ons of earni ons of earni sets (1/A) i sets (1/A) i sets (1/A) i the portfor the fiscal evenes all istrative ex- isterrors i investment investment	ngs forecast triolio forma- ine $t+1$ min a defined as a live formation al year ending try, plant, a year ending year ending penses, or in penses, or in penses, or in penses, or in the portfol	errors for th ticin years fro the annual c n year t is th g in year t-1. In year t-1. The book val- the book val- the book val- tororate f a bility-based io and time c	e 10 value F en 10 value F 112 month e hange in to hange in to he growth r estment-to- t (data item and is defin and is de	ortfolios of 6. Earning 2. Earning 2. Earning 2. Earning 2. Earning 2. Capital (1/ 1. PEENT) 1. require 1. trequire 1. trequire 1. trequire 1. trequire 1. trequire 2. traordinar 2. tra	* $p<0$. it of the 25 j s forecast entruings per slip computat <i>i</i> computat <i>i</i> computat <i>i</i> computat <i>i</i> computat <i>i</i> tal expendit tal expendit tal effice operating <i>i</i> muse minus (opp) <i>is</i> define (GP) <i>is</i> define (GP) <i>is</i> define ted by marl	1; **p<0.05 oortfolios for ors in year to are measuru mual item ures (Comput ares (Comput ares (Comput ares (Comput ares (Comput area areasuru ost of good g data for at a ar event ann area a revent ar the 1 per at the 1 per	*** p<0.01 med on size di n June t AT) divided AT) divided tata annual xpenditures (OP) in the sold, minus least one of us (REVT) tal item IB) al item IB)

nortfolios for 10 value 120 5 noise Tahla 6. Ro

		T		1016631830	minine i	31 J 101	10 810W		COLLOI				
						Depe	ndent variab	le:					
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	earning (6)	gs forecast e: (7)	rrors (8)	(6)	(10)	(11)	(12)	(13)
Investment-to-Assets (I/A)	-1.159 (0.800)			-0.262 (1.050)								-0.837 (0.804)	
Investment Growth (IG)		-0.563^{*} (0.325)		-0.229 (0.297)								-0.096 (0.235)	
Investment-to-Capital (I/K)			-5.987^{**} (2.414)	-4.994^{***} (1.830)								-3.195^{*} (1.835)	-4.403^{**} (2.105)
Operating Profitability (OP)					1.931^{**} (0.878)			1.275^{*} (0.742)				1.079^{**} (0.449)	1.072^{***} (0.389)
Gross Profitability (GP)						$0.684 \\ (1.439)$		$\begin{array}{c} 0.103 \\ (1.493) \end{array}$				0.238 (1.413)	
Return-on-Equity (ROE)							1.978^{**} (0.793)	1.146^{**} (0.539)				0.885^{***} (0.250)	0.971^{***} (0.283)
Book-to-Market (log)									0.623 (0.943)			0.553 (0.607)	0.478 (0.675)
Market Cap (log)										0.448^{**} (0.204)		0.392^{*} (0.218)	
Portfolio Momentum (12-2)											$0.242 \\ (0.907)$	-0.280 (0.431)	
F Statistic p-value (F Statistic)	27.48 0	27.86 0	28.63 0 V	27.35 0 V	$29.04 \\ 0 \\ 0$	27.18 0	28.88 0 V=2	27.98 0	$27.31 \\ 0 \\ V_{22}$	27.71 0	27.32 0 V	25.47 0 V	28.23 0
Time-Fixed Effects?	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Observations Adjusted R ²	$350 \\ 0.770$	$350 \\ 0.772$	350 0.777	350 0.776	$350 \\ 0.779$	350 0.767	350 0.779	$350 \\ 0.781$	350 0.768	$350 \\ 0.771$	340 0.770	340 0.786	$350 \\ 0.786$
Note:	This tabl and the l as a firm scaled by by one-y the CAL (Compus sort for sort for sort for the follor minus co minus co divided l eact por	e shows the or cook-to-mark) s' actual trans- total assets ar lagged to PX) from the PX from the tat data iter June of year eneral, and a eneral, and a from the from the tat data iter from the from the from the from the tat data iter from the from t	stimated coef ing 12 monti per share in tral assets. In fiscal year en r GAPX) divity t is measured dministrative goods sold, se old (COGS) s old (COGS) s filtion, earning littion, earning urd errors (in	ficients in pan ficients in pan i earnings per year t. Investr vestment grow ded by the ne with account expenses, min expenses, min expenses in figeneral for equity. Ear garentheses i	el regression mentals for t share measit nent-to-Asse turb (IG) in t tar year t-2 t t bok value ing data for uns interest e assets (AT) assets (AT) ors and all i ors and all i ver double-cl	s of earning the 35 portion tred in Jun ts (I/A) is the portfoli the portfoli the fiscal y the f	s forecast er olio formatic defined as ti defined as ti year ending year ending livided by th erar ending rear end	rors for the on years fro- on years fro- to consensus the annual cl in +1. Inwu in year t-1. Inwu in year t-1. Inwu in year t-1. Invo and inmutation the book value rest expense DE) is incom DE) incom DE) is incom DE) is incom DE) incom D	10 growth 1 10 growth 1 12 month e hange in toi hange in toi hange in toi hata item t (data item and is defin and is defin	ortfolios o 6. Earning, c. Earning, c. Earning, c. Earning, tale in capi ate in capi tale in (I/) 1 PENT) 1 require ta as revei 1 require traordinary traordinary traordinary traordinary traordinary traordinary	*p<0. *p<0. the 25 and the 25 and	1; **p<0.05 portfolios for ors in year the mare measure mures (Compu ures (Com	*** $p<0.01$ med on size are defined at in June t AT) divided AT) divided trata annual xpenditures (OP) in the sold, minus sold, minus tes (REVT) al item IB) al item IB) tai then IB) thion within

Table 7: Regression summary for 10 growth portfolios

slightly higher magnitude for growth stocks. Both value and growth stocks also have a positive relationship between Operating Profitability and earnings forecast errors, but the coefficient is significant only for growth stocks (p < 0.01). Return-on-Equity is significant for both group of stocks, with a positive coefficient of approximately 1. Lastly, the book-to-market ratio has an insignificant coefficient of only approximately 0.5 for both value and growth stocks, as opposed to a significant coefficient of approximately 1.2 for all 25 portfolios. Overall, the adjusted R^2 measures for growth portfolios range between 0.77 and 0.79 for all 13 tested models while they range between 0.63 and 0.67 for the value portfolios. The adjusted R^2 measure for all 25 portfolios combined lies between 0.72 and 0.77. Thus, the tested corporate fundamentals explain a much higher variance in earnings forecast errors for growth stocks compared to value stocks.

2.5 Chapter Conclusion

In this paper, we examine how firm characteristics contribute to the empirical finding that analyst earnings forecasts are overly optimistic. We focus on firm characteristics that underlie popular risk-factor models with a focus on investment and profitability measures, as they are the main drivers of the cross-section of expected returns (Hou et al., 2017).

Overall, our results emphasise the role of information uncertainty when estimating the value of a firm. According to Zhang (2006) information uncertainty can potentially stem from two sources: volatility of a firm's underlying fundamentals and poor information. Based on this, he argues that high-uncertainty stocks are likely to be growth stocks. Furthermore, since small firms have less information available to the market, he uses firm size as one proxy for information uncertainty. In line with that, we find that growth stocks, and to a lesser extent, small-cap stocks have a higher volatility in their investment and profitability measures along with more volatile returns. Additionally, we demonstrate that small-growth stocks have the most negative and most volatile earnings forecast errors. We also demonstrate that measures of corporate investments are negatively related to future earnings forecast errors. This implies that higher investments (specifically measured via Investment-to-Capital) lead to either lower actual earnings in the next period, higher estimated earnings for the next period, or a combination of the two. Higher profitability, measured as Operating Profitability and Return-on-Equity, has the opposite effect and leads to improved earnings forecast errors. The book-to-market ratio also has a significant positive effect on earnings forecast errors, which implies that a higher book-to-market ratio (i.e., a cheaper valuation) is related to improved earnings forecast errors, which can be the result of either higher actual earnings in the next period or lower estimated earnings for the next period. When separately comparing the results for portfolios of value and growth stocks, the direction of the relationship is largely the same for both type of stocks. However, the magnitude of the coefficients is more pronounced for growth stocks, and the tested corporate fundamentals explain a much higher variance in earnings forecast errors for growth stocks compared to value stocks. Again, this emphasises the greater role of information uncertainty for growth stocks.

This study contributes to the finance literature in several ways. First, to our best knowledge, this is the first study that directly links the properties of earnings forecast errors to corporate fundamentals underlying the risk factors in the most important models explaining the cross-section of stock returns. Second, our findings provide further evidence on the role of information uncertainty, potentially caused by volatility in a firm's underlying fundamentals and poor information, in evaluating a the company's value in light of new information. Finally, the presented evidence also provides new insights into the underlying cause of the value effect. Our results suggest that mispricing in the form of earnings forecast errors should be taken into account when analysing the value effect.

Future research might expand the set of company characteristics. We focused on nine characteristics that underlie popular risk-factor models. Studies such as those by Green et al. (2017) provide a comprehensive overview of the characteristics that provide independent information about U.S. stock returns. Follow-up studies can analyse to what extent these characteristics also provide additional explanatory power for earnings forecast errors. Furthermore, earnings forecast errors are measured at an annual frequency in our study, which limits the number of observations in our sample substantially. Follow-up studies might examine earnings forecast errors over various forecast horizons (other than 12 months) and at a higher frequency. The limitation is that mispricing, in the form of earnings forecast errors, needs some time to materialize in order to be measurable.

3 Earnings Forecast Errors and Risk-Factor Models⁸

3.1 Chapter Introduction

There is substantial evidence that stock market anomalies, in part, reflect forms of mispricing and that stocks share similar components of mispricing. This point is highlighted, for example, by Hirshleifer & Jiang (2010), who use an equity and debt financing-based misvaluation factor, and Kozak et al. (2018), who argue that sentiment-investor demand may result in substantial mispricing. As noted by Stambaugh & Yuan (2017), factor models can be useful to examine whether expected returns reflect some sort of risk or mispricing. The factors may capture systematic risk where investors demand a risk premium as compensation for bearing that risk. Likewise, factors can capture sources of mispricing such as investor sentiment or uncertainty regarding earnings. In this paper we examine how uncertainty about those earnings forecast errors have been put forward as a mispricing-based explanation of the value premium (Piotroski & So (2012)) and have the advantage of being a non-returnbased measure. Therefore, this allows for a direct analysis of expectation errors caused by institutional investors and analysts.

Our study is motivated by three results from the empirical finance literature. First, studies such as those by Hou et al. (2017) and Fama & French (2016) have demonstrated that popular risk factor models - the Fama & French (2015) five-factor model, the Carhart (1997) four-factor model, and the Hou et al. (2015) q-factor model - largely summarise the crosssection of average stock returns. Second, Hirshleifer & Jiang (2010), Stambaugh & Yuan (2017), and others have found that many return-anomaly studies reveal that some form of mispricing is at least partially responsible for the reported anomaly returns. Based on this, Stambaugh & Yuan (2017) have found that their four-factor model with two mispricing factors

⁸unpublished working paper

accommodates a large set of return anomalies even better than the aforementioned four- and five-factor models. Third, and relatedly, Piotroski & So (2012) provide a mispricing-based explanation of the well-documented outperformance of value stocks over growth stocks (known as the value premium). They document that the value/glamour returns and *ex post* revisions to market expectations such as earnings forecast errors are predictably concentrated among firms with *ex ante* biased market expectations. This study combines these three ideas and tests, first, the extent to which earnings forecast errors as a specific proxy for mispricing are a priced factor when added to well-documented risk-factor models. Second, we examine whether the presence of earnings forecast errors affects the estimated risk premia of existing risk factors. Here, we also test whether earnings forecast errors capture different aspects of mispricing other than the two comprehensive mispricing factors applied in the Stambaugh & Yuan (2017) four-factor model. Third, we assess whether augmenting popular risk-factor models with earnings forecast errors as an additional factor raises their already very high explanatory power for stock returns.

Every year, we assign stocks into 25 portfolios based on their book-to-market ratio and firm size. Using data for the 34 portfolio formation years 1982–2015, we find in time series regressions consistent results across the four tested models. When significant, the coefficient for earnings forecast errors is always strongly positive, which is the case for most of the portfolios carrying larger companies. This implies that less mispricing in the form of less negative earnings forecast errors corresponds to higher contemporaneous returns. Additionally, the coefficient for earnings forecast errors is, on average, five times higher for value stocks compared to growth stocks. Adding earnings forecast errors as a proxy for mispricing lowers the estimated betas of the market excess return and the value risk factor (HML) for value stocks in all tested models. Therefore, some of the perceived general stock market risk and the value premium for value stocks might instead be uncertainty regarding earnings as measured by earnings forecast errors. Conversely, adding earnings forecast errors has the effect of raising the estimated profitability risk premium (RMW). Additionally, we find that in the Stambaugh & Yuan (2017) four-factor model with two mispricing factors, earnings forecast errors pick up some of the negative risk premium for growth stocks for the mispricing factor "MGMT", which captures mispricing related to the six anomaly variables that a firm's management can affect rather directly. More importantly, the coefficient for earnings forecast errors is significant for 18 of the 25 portfolios when added to the Stambaugh & Yuan (2017) four-factor model. It is thus the most significant mispricing factor, by far, among the three included. This indicates that earnings forecasts errors are, on the one hand, related to existing mispricing factors in the literature but, on the other hand, also capture with uncertainty regarding earnings a distinctively different mispricing aspect. Overall, adding earnings forecast errors significantly raises the portion of variability explained in the returns of the 25 size- and book-to-market-sorted portfolios as measured by the adjusted R^2 in all four tested models. This effect is more pronounced for portfolios of large-cap and value stocks where the more complex model, including earnings forecast errors, is significantly better at explaining portfolio returns as documented in related *F-tests*.

This study contributes to the finance literature in several ways. First, to our best knowledge, this is the first study that tests the explanatory power of earnings forecast errors for the cross-section of average portfolio returns in the presence of popular risk factors. This paper provides evidence supporting the hypothesis that both risk factors and mispricing in the form of earnings forecast errors are significant drivers in the cross-section of stock returns. The fact that earnings forecast errors carry a positive premium suggests that less mispricing in the form of less negative earnings forecast errors is rewarded with higher contemporaneous returns. We find that this effect is more pronounced for large-cap stocks. Second, the evidence presented here sheds new light on the role of earnings forecast errors in the mispricing literature. In prior literature, mispricing is often modelled based on accounting- and performance-related variables (Stambaugh & Yuan (2017)) or corporate finance-based variables (Hirshleifer &

Jiang (2010)). We demonstrate that earnings forecasts errors capture with uncertainty regarding earnings a different dimension of mispricing.

The remainder of this paper is organised as follows: The next section discusses the related literature, while Section 3.3 describes the sample data, the measurement of earnings forecast errors, and the methodology. Section 3.4 provides the empirical results of our estimated time series regressions, and Section 3.5 concludes.

3.2 Literature Review

One of the first studies that analysed the predictive power of analyst forecasts for crosssectional returns was by Frankel & Lee (1998). They analysed the predictability of future analyst forecast errors to identify potential mispricing. They demonstrated that cross-sectional errors in three-year-ahead $I/B/E/S^9$ consensus earnings forecasts are predictable based on firm characteristics, including the book-to-price ratio, sales growth, and analysts' long-term growth forecasts. Combining these variables in a prediction model, Frankel & Lee (1998) found that the predicted error in long-term forecasts has, in turn, predictive power for cross-sectional returns incremental to an analyst-based residual income model plus comapany size and market beta.

Hughes et al. (2008) investigated the relationship between predictable market returns and predictable analyst forecast errors. They also found that analyst forecast errors are predictable and that the predictable component of abnormal returns is significantly related to subsequent forecast errors. However, trading strategies that sort firms by predicted forecast errors do not produce abnormal returns. Thus, the authors concluded that investors do not overweight analyst forecasts and that market prices efficiently reflect the predictable component of analyst forecast errors. In a related study, So (2013) reported conflicting results: He used

 $^{^{9}}$ I/B/E/S, the Institutional Brokers' Estimate System, is a database from Refinitiv. It is an historical earnings estimate database containing analyst estimates for more than 20 forecast measures - including earnings per share, revenue, price targets, EBITDA and pre-tax profits - covering both U.S. and international companies.

firm characteristics to predict future earnings and found that the difference between these characteristic forecasts and analyst earnings estimates had significant predictive power for both analyst forecast errors and forward returns. Specifically, he found that companies where the characteristic forecast exceeded the analyst forecast tended to have realised earnings coming in higher than the consensus analyst forecast (and vice versa). Subsequently, analysts slowly revised their earnings forecasts in the direction of the characteristic forecasts. Based on this, So (2013) concluded that investors' overreliance on analyst forecasts is likely to cause valuation errors that lead to mispricing. In a further analysis, So (2013) confirmed the findings of Hughes et al. (2008), which predicted that forecast errors are not a robust predictor of future returns in cross-sectional tests. In a related study, Dechow & Sloan (1997) assessed the ability of naive investor expectation models to explain the returns to contrarian investment strategies. They found that stock prices naively reflected overly optimistic analyst forecasts of long-term earnings growth, which can explain more than half of the returns to contrarian investment strategies.

Da & Warachka (2009) analysed the systematic risk attributable to fluctuations in expected cashflows. Specifically, their cashflow risk measure was based on analyst forecast revisions and was measured as co-movement between changes in portfolio-level expected cashflow and changes in the market's expected cashflow (the so-called "earnings beta"). They found that these earnings betas were higher for value stocks, small stocks, and past long-term losers compared to growth stocks, large stocks, and past long-term winners. Overall, the measured earnings betas explained more than 55% of the contemporaneous cross-sectional return variation across book-to-market, size, and long-term reversal portfolios. Additionally, the estimated risk premium of cashflow risk was positive, highlighting the importance of analyst forecast revisions.

A study by Piotroski & So (2012) was motivated by the ongoing debate about whether the outperformance of value stocks over growth stocks represents compensation for risk or is a form of mispricing and highlights the role of expectation errors in that context. Specifically, they argued that expectations embedded in different valuation multiples of value and growth stocks need to be analysed in relation to the strength of a company's fundamentals: Firms with high or low pricing multiples are mispriced only if their stock prices are not warranted given the strength of the firms' fundamentals (Piotroski & So (2012), p. 2869). As part of their analysis, they used two non-return-based measures (consensus forecast errors and revisions in analysts' earnings forecast) to derive expectation errors and expectation adjustments directly from analyst forecasts. Conditioned on a firms' recent financial strength,¹⁰ Piotroski & So (2012) showed that the outperformance of value stocks over growth stocks and *ex post* revisions to market expectations. Based on this, they cast considerable doubt on a risk-based explanation of the value premium.

The literature on risk-factor models begins with the Capital Asset Pricing Model (CAPM) of Sharpe (1964) and Lintner (1965), which includes only a single market factor. However, over time, more and more violations of the CAPM have been identified. Motivated by these violations, Fama & French (1993) expanded the CAPM to a three-factor model that captures violations related to firm size and value-versus-growth anomalies. In the same year, Jegadeesh & Titman (1993) discovered the momentum effect, which refers to the phenomenon that stocks with high (low) past recent returns are forecasted to have high (low) future returns. The momentum effect is one of the most robust anomalies reported in the asset pricing literature, and Carhart (1997) included it in his four-factor model, along with the market, size, and value factor of Fama & French (1993).

Given the rapid rise in reported return anomalies over the following years, it became clear

¹⁰Piotroski & So (2012) measured the aggregate current strength in firm fundamentals based on nine variables related to profitability, changes in financial leverage and liquidity, and changes in operational efficiency. The nine variables are four profitability-related variables (return-on-assets, cashflow from operations scaled by total assets, change in net income, and accruals scaled by total assets); three variables related to changes in financial leverage & liquidity (change in the ratio of long-term debt to total assets, change in the ratio of current assets to current liabilities, and common equity issuance); and two operating efficiency-related variables (change in gross margin and change in the asset turnover ratio).

that additional factors are needed that are better able to capture the documented anomalies. Two factors among many proposed in the literature received significant attention: Based on an investment-based pricing model, Hou et al. (2015) proposed a four-factor model (the q-factor model) covering the known market and size factor plus two new factors based on investment and profitability. Motivated by the dividend discount valuation model, Fama & French (2015) also added related but different versions of the investment and profitability factors to their three-factor model (Fama & French (1993)), thus creating a five-factor model. In a follow-up study, Fama & French (2016) demonstrated the ability of their five-factor model to substantially shrink the list of anomalies, in part because the factor exposures of many anomalies reveal that they are largely the same phenomenon. Hou et al. (2017) tested in their follow-up study the ability of the most prominent factor models in explaining 216 reported significant anomalies between 1967 and 2014. The tested models include the Capital Asset Pricing Model (CAPM) of Sharpe (1964) and Lintner (1965); the Fama & French (1993) three-factor model; the Carhart (1997) four-factor model; the Pástor & Stambaugh (2003) four-factor model, which includes a liquidity factor; the Fama & French (2015) five-factor model; and their own Hou et al. (2015) q-factor model. They find that the q-factor model performs best in explaining anomalies related to momentum and profitability, while the Fama & French (2015) five-factor model outperforms slightly in explaining value-versus-growth anomalies. Overall, they concluded that corporate fundamentals such as investment and profitability, but not liquidity, are the main drivers of the cross-section of expected returns. Stambaugh & Yuan (2017) found that many return-anomaly studies reveal that some sort of mispricing is at least partially responsible for the reported anomaly returns. Based on this, Stambaugh & Yuan (2017) took a different approach in constructing anomaly factors: Instead of having each factor related to one specific anomaly, they constructed two factors based on a stock's average rank with respect to 11 mispricing anomalies that were analysed by Stambaugh, Yu, & Yuan (2012); Stambaugh, Yu, & Yuan (2014); and Stambaugh, Yu, & Yuan (2015).¹¹ Interestingly, none of the 11 mispricing anomalies were related to analyst forecasts and analyst forecast errors. When combining the two mispricing factors along with the market and a size factor to a four-factor model, they found that the model was better able to explain a large set of anomalies than both the Hou et al. (2015) q-factor model and the Fama & French (2015) five-factor model. Additionally, the model of Stambaugh & Yuan (2017) was reported to be superior in relation to the ability to explain each other's factor returns.

3.3 Data and Methodology

3.3.1 Risk Factors

The sample data comes from multiple sources. Monthly returns for the six risk factors of market excess return (MKT-RF), size (SMB), value (HML), profitability (RMW), investment (CMW), and momentum (MOM) are from Kenneth R. French's website.¹² The market factor is the excess return on the market calculated as the value-weighted return of all CRSP firms incorporated in the United States and listed on the NYSE, AMEX, or NASDAQ that have a CRSP share code of 10 (NYSE common excluding foreign, ADRs, REIT, and closed-end funds) or 11 (NYSE/NYSE American common excluding foreign, ADRs, REIT, closed-end funds) at the beginning of month t, valid shares and price data at the beginning of t, and valid return data for t minus the one-month Treasury bill rate, which is from Ibbotson Associates. For the construction of the size (SMB), value (HML), profitability (RMW), and investment (CMW) factors, Fama & French (2015) use the six value-weighted portfolios formed on size and the book-to-market ratio, the six value-weighted portfolios formed on size and operating

¹¹Stambaugh & Yuan (2017) average the ranking within two clusters whose long-short returns have the highest correlations. The first cluster of anomalies is composed of net stock issues, composite equity issues, accruals, net operating assets, asset growth, and investment to assets. These anomaly variables can be rather directly influenced by the company's management, thus, Stambaugh & Yuan (2017) label this factor "Management (MGMT)". The second cluster includes distress, O-score, momentum, gross profitability, and return on assets. Since these variables are more performance-related, the factor is labelled "Performance (PERF)".

¹²http://mba.tuck.dartmouth.edu/pages/faculty/ken.french/Data_Library/f-f_5_factors_2x3.html

profitability, and the six value-weighted portfolios formed on size and investment (18 portfolios in total). These portfolios are constructed by sorting stocks in a region into two size and three respective book-to-market (B/M), operating profitability (OP), and investment (INV) groups.¹³ In a next step, Fama & French (2015) define the size factor SMB (Small Minus Big) as the average return on the nine small stock portfolios minus the average return on the nine big stock portfolios:

$$SMB_{B/M} = \frac{1}{3}(Small \ Value + Small \ Neutral + Small \ Growth) - \frac{1}{3}(Big \ Value + Big \ Neutral + Big \ Growth)$$

$$\begin{split} SMB_{OP} = &\frac{1}{3}(Small\ Robust + Small\ Neutral + Small\ Weak) - \\ &\frac{1}{3}(Big\ Robust + Big\ Neutral + Big\ Weak) \end{split}$$

$$SMB_{INV} = \frac{1}{3}(Small\ Conservative + Small\ Neutral + Small\ Aggressive) - \frac{1}{3}(Big\ Conservative + Big\ Neutral + Big\ Aggressive)$$

$$SMB = \frac{1}{3}(SMB_{B/M} + SMB_{OP} + SMB_{INV})$$

The value factor HML (High Minus Low) is the average return on the two value portfolios minus the average return on the two growth portfolios:

$$HML = \frac{1}{2}(Small \ Value + Big \ Value) - \frac{1}{2}(Small \ Growth + Big \ Growth)$$

¹³For more details on the measurement of the variables, the breakpoints, and the stock universe, see https://mba.tuck.dartmouth.edu/pages/faculty/ken.french/Data_Library/six_portfolios.html, https://mba.tuck.dartmouth.edu/pages/faculty/ken.french/Data_Library/six_portfolios_me_op.html, https://mba.tuck.dartmouth.edu/pages/faculty/ken.french/Data_Library/six_portfolios_me_inv.html.

The profitability factor RMW (Robust Minus Weak) is the average return on the two robust operating profitability portfolios minus the average return on the two weak operating profitability portfolios:

$$RMW = \frac{1}{2}(Small \ Robust + Big \ Robust) - \frac{1}{2}(Small \ Weak + Big \ Weak)$$

The investment factor CMA (Conservative Minus Aggressive) is the average return on the two conservative investment portfolios minus the average return on the two aggressive investment portfolios:

$$CMA = \frac{1}{2}(Small\ Conservative + Big\ Conservative) - \frac{1}{2}(Small\ Aggressive + Big\ Aggressive)$$

A description of the construction of the momentum factor (Mom; WML), which is also briefly described in Fama & French (2012) p. 460, is taken from Kenneth French's website:¹⁴

We use six value-weight portfolios formed on size and prior (2-12 [month]) returns to construct Mom. The portfolios, which are formed monthly, are the intersections of two portfolios formed on size (market equity, ME) and three portfolios formed on prior (2-12) return. The monthly size breakpoint is the median NYSE market equity. The monthly prior (2-12) return breakpoints are the 30th and 70th NYSE percentiles. Mom is the average return on the two high prior return portfolios minus the average return on the two low prior return portfolios:

$$Mom = \frac{1}{2}(Small \ High + Big \ High) - \frac{1}{2}(Small \ Low + Big \ Low)$$

 $^{^{14} \}rm https://mba.tuck.dartmouth.edu/pages/faculty/ken.french/Data_Library/det_mom_factor.html$

Risk Factor	Ν	Mean	Std. Dev.	Min	Max	ADF	ADF p-value	ADF lag
MKT-RF	34	0.09	0.17	-0.26	0.54	-4.34	0.002	0
SMB	34	0.01	0.09	-0.15	0.23	-3.58	0.012	0
HML	34	0.04	0.15	-0.24	0.6	-6.85	0	1
RMW	34	0.05	0.11	-0.23	0.41	-6.24	0	1
CMA	34	0.04	0.09	-0.07	0.36	-4.49	0.001	1
MOM	34	0.07	0.18	-0.45	0.53	-7.77	0	0
SMBm	34	0.03	0.09	-0.13	0.25	-3.62	0.011	0
MGMT	34	0.08	0.13	-0.17	0.57	-4.79	0.001	0
PERF	34	0.09	0.19	-0.17	0.82	-4.96	0	1

Table 8: Descriptive statistics for risk factors

This table shows descriptive statistics for the risk factors for the 34 portfolio formation years from 1982-2015. Risk factor returns are alligned with portfolio returns and calculated from July of year t to June of t+1. The market factor MKT-RF is the value-weighted excess return on the market minus the onemonth Treasury bill rate. The size and value factors use independent sorts of stocks into two size groups and three book-to-market groups. The size factor, SMB, is the average of the three small stock portfolio returns minus the average of the three big stock portfolio returns. The value factor HML is the average of the two high B/M portfolio returns minus the average of the two low B/M portfolio returns. The profitability factor RMW is the average return on the two robust operating profitability portfolios minus the average return on the two weak operating profitability portfolios and the investment factor CMA is the average return on the two conservative investment portfolios minus the average return on the two aggressive investment portfolios. The momentum factor is the average return of the two high prior return portfolios minus the average return of the two low prior return portfolios. Data on these risk factors is from Kenneth R. French's website. Data for the two mispricing factors MGMT and PERF and the size factor of Stambaugh (SMBm) is from Robert F. Stambaugh's website. The two mispricing factors are contructed by averaging rankings within two clusters. The first cluster of anomalies includes variables that a firm's management can rather affect directly and are thus labelled as Management (MGMT). The second set of anomalies are more performance-related and thus denoted Performance (PERF). SMBm is the size factor of Stambaugh and Yuan (2017) where they include only stocks that are not used in forming either of the mispricing factors. ADF denote the test statistic, p-value and AIC estimator of the lag length from applying the Augmented Dickey-Fuller test on each risk factor time series. The ADF critical value is -3.43 for the 1 per cent confidence level.

Monthly data for the two mispricing factors are from Robert F. Stambaugh's website.¹⁵ Stambaugh & Yuan (2017) constructed the two mispricing factors by averaging rankings within two clusters among a set of 11 anomalies exhibiting the greatest return co-movement.¹⁶ The first cluster of anomalies included variables that the management of a firm can affect rather directly and were thus labelled as "Management (MGMT)". The second set of anomalies were more performance-related and can be less directly controlled by management. Thus, they were denoted as "Performance (PERF)". The final step in constructing the mispricing factors involved applying a 2x3 sorting procedure that mirrored the approach used by Fama & French (2015) and Hou et al. (2015).¹⁷ Additionally, Stambaugh & Yuan (2017) used their

¹⁵http://finance.wharton.upenn.edu/~stambaug/

¹⁶Stambaugh & Yuan (2017) measure similarity by two methods, using either time-series correlations of anomaly returns or average cross-sectional correlations of anomaly rankings. Both methods produce the same two clusters of anomalies; see Stambaugh & Yuan (2017), p. 1277.

¹⁷For more details on the included anomalies and the construction of the mispricing factors, see Stambaugh & Yuan (2017), pp. 1275-1279.

own version of the size factor: They included only stocks that are not used in forming either of the two mispricing factors and are thus less prone to over- and under-pricing. The resulting size factor yielded a size-premium of 46 basis points per month over the 1967-2013 period, almost double the size of the 25 basis points for the SMB factor in the Fama & French (1993) three-factor model. Table 8 confirms that the mean return for the size factor of Stambaugh & Yuan (2017) (SMBm) is also much higher than for the size factor of Fama & French (1993) (SMB) in our sample.

We also evaluate the stationarity of the annual risk factor time series using the augmented Dickey-Fuller (ADF) test with a constant, as all time series have a positive mean (see Table 8). According to Stock & Watson (2015), studies of the ADF statistic suggest that it is better to use the Akaike information criterion (AIC) instead of the Bayes information criterion (BIC) to estimate the lag length for the ADF statistic. The *t*-values from this test are reported in Table 8 along with the AIC estimator of the lag length. With a critical value of -3.43 at the 1% confidence level, a unit root in all risk factor time series is rejected. Figure 5 has a plot of the annual risk factor time series.

3.3.2 Stock Data

Data on corporate fundamentals is from the CRSP/Compustat merged fundamentals annual and quarterly database. Similar to Xing (2008), Piotroski & So (2012), and Hou et al. (2015), we exclude observations from financial firms (Standard Industrial Classification codes between 6000 and 6999) in our sample. Additionally, we follow Fama & French (2015) and include only ordinary common shares with a CRSP share code 10 (NYSE common excluding foreign, ADRs, REIT, closed-end funds) or 11 (NYSE/NYSE American common excluding foreign, ADRs, REIT, closed-end funds).

Following Fama & French (1993) and Xing (2008), we define the book value of equity (BE) as the Compustat book value of common equity (Compustat annual data item 60) plus



This figure shows the time series of annual returns for risk factors for the 34 portfolio formation years from 1982–2015. Risk factor returns are alligned with portfolio returns and calculated from July of year t to June of t+1. The market factor MKT–RF is the value–weighted excess return on the market minus the one-month Treasury bill rate. The size and value factors use independent sorts of stocks into two size groups and three book-to-market groups. The size factor, SMB, is the average of the two high B/M portfolio returns minus the average of the two low B/M portfolio returns. The value factor RMW is the average return on the two closes return on the investment factor CMA is the average of the two high B/M portfolio returns minus the average of the two low B/M portfolio returns. The profitability factor RMW is the average return on the two closes return on the two caservative investment portfolios minus the average return on the two agersive investment portfolios. The momentum factor is the average return of the two high prior return portfolios minus the average return of the two low prior return portfolios. Data on these risk factors is from Kenneth R. French's website. Data for the two mispricing factors MGMT and PERF and the size factor of Stambaugh (SMBm) is from Robert F. Stambaugh's website. The two mispricing and returs adverage rate (MGMT). The second set of anomalies are more performance–related and thus denoted Performance (PERF). SMBm is the size factor of Stambaugh & Yuan (2017) where they include only stocks that are not used in forming either of the mispricing.

Figure 5: Time series of annual returns for risk factors

balance-sheet deferred taxes (data item 74) and investment tax credits (data item 208), minus the book value of preferred stock. Depending on data availability, we use the redemption (data item 56), liquidation (data item 10), or par value (data item 130) of preferred stock. We follow Xing (2008), Piotroski & So (2012), and Hou et al. (2015) and exclude firms with a negative or zero book value of equity. We categorise firms every year into 25 portfolios based on their book-to-market ratio and firm size. This is a standard approach in asset pricing, which reduces the variability in measures such as earnings forecast errors. Additionally, the classification into portfolios allows for comparisons between value and growth stocks as well as between large caps and small caps. The construction and timing of the 25 size and book-to-market portfolios follows Fama & French (1993), which is also applied by Xing (2008), Fama & French (2015), and Hou et al. (2015). The portfolios are constructed at the end of each June as the intersection of five portfolios formed on firm size (market value of equity, ME) and five portfolios formed on the book-to-market ratio. To construct that ratio, in June of year t, the book value of equity is taken at the end of the fiscal year ending in year t-1, and the market value of equity is taken at the end of December of t-1. The size breakpoints for year t are the NYSE market equity quintiles at the end of June of t. The BE/ME breakpoints are also based on NYSE quintiles. Since the data for the two mispricing factors from Stambaugh & Yuan (2017) is available until December 2016, the final sample spans the portfolio formation years 1982-2015 and is composed of 50904 firm-year observations.

Stock data is from the CRSP/Compustat merged security monthly database. Monthly excess total returns are calculated as monthly total returns from CRSP minus the total return of the one-month Treasury bill rate, which is downloaded from Kenneth R. French's website.¹⁸ Similar to Fama & French (1993) and Hou et al. (2015), we calculate value-weighted excess portfolio returns from July of year t to June of t+1, and the portfolios are rebalanced at the end of June t+1.

 $^{^{18} \}rm http://mba.tuck.dartmouth.edu/pages/faculty/ken.french/data_library.html$

3.3.3 The Measurement of Earnings Forecast Errors

Earnings forecast errors have been put forward as one potential measure of a mispricing-based explanation of the value premium in the literature; see Piotroski & So (2012). The advantage of earnings forecast errors (EFE) is that it is a non-return-based measure. Thus, it allows for a direct analysis of expectation errors caused by institutional investors and analysts instead of deriving them indirectly from short-term stock price changes. One restriction is that analyst forecasts are not available for all firms, and the sample will be biased to larger, more profitable firms (Lang & Lundholm, 1996). In our sample, of 122950 firm-year observations with valid corporate fundamental data, 52630 observations (42.81%) also have earnings forecast errors data.

In line with the timing of the portfolio formation, we measure earnings forecast errors every year in June. Following Piotroski & So (2012), we define earnings forecast errors (EFE) in year t for an individual company as the firms' actual trailing 12-month earnings per share measured in June t+1, minus consensus 12-month expected earnings per share measured in June t, scaled by total assets per share in year t:

$$EFE_t = \frac{12m \ earnings \ per \ share_{t+1} - consensus \ 12m \ expected \ earnings \ per \ share_t}{total \ assets \ per \ share_t}$$

We use shares outstanding from CRSP to calculate total assets per share, which is also used to calculate the market value of equity (ME) in the BE/ME ratio. Thus, for consistency, this measure of shares outstanding is preferred. In a next step, earnings forecast errors are trimmed every year at the 1% and 99% levels to remove the effect of outliers and data errors. In a final step, earnings forecast errors in year t for the 25 size- and book-to-market-sorted portfolios are calculated as the value-weighted average of the earnings forecast errors of all stocks in each portfolio based on the market value of equity (ME) in June of year t for each stock. Research reveals that the accuracy of forecasts deteriorates over longer forecast horizons (Brown & Mohd, 2003; Clement, 1999; Sinha et al., 1997). Taking this into consideration, we focus on forecasts with a one-year horizon.

Table 9 presents descriptive statistics for the annual excess returns and earnings forecast errors for the 25 size and book-to-market portfolios.¹⁹ It illustrates that value firms have higher annual excess returns than growth firms for every size quintile, except for large firms. This confirms the well-known value effect, i.e. that stocks with high book-to-market ratios have higher average returns than stocks with low book-to-market ratios, which has been identified in many empirical studies (Basu (1977), Fama & French (1992), Xing (2008), Cochrane (2011); amongst others). Moreover, Table 9 confirms the empirical finding that stocks from small companies earn, on average, higher returns than stocks from large firms. This holds for every book-to-market quintile, except for growth stocks, and confirms the empirical finding that the small firm effect did not persist for growth firms after it was first identified by Banz (1981), see Chen & Zhao (2009).

The right panel in Table 9 shows that the mean earnings forecast errors are negative for all portfolios, meaning that analysts' forecasts are, on average, too high, which confirms the findings in prior literature (Dechow & Sloan (1997), Kothari et al. (2016); amongst others). The magnitude of this bias varies by book-to-market ratio and size: Earnings forecast errors are much higher (meaning, more negative) for growth stocks than for value stocks for every size quintile.²⁰ Earnings forecast errors improve almost linearly, going from small to large firms across all book-to-market quintiles, meaning that analyst forecasts on earnings are, on average, more optimistic for small firms compared to large firms. The small-growth portfolio (portfolio 11) has the most negative earnings forecast errors, by far. Dechow & Sloan (1997)

¹⁹The first number for the 25 size and book-to-market portfolios represents the size portfolio: 1x is the small market capitalisation portfolio, 5x is the large market capitalisation portfolio. The second number represents the book-to-market portfolio: x1 is the low book-to-market (growth) portfolio, and x5 is the high low book-to-market (value) portfolio. Thus, portfolio 11 is the small-growth portfolio, and portfolio 55 is the large-value portfolio.

 $^{^{20}}$ The last column in Table 4 in Chapter 2.3.2 indicates that the difference in monthly earnings forecast errors between value and growth stocks is statistically significant (at the 5% level) for the smallest three size quintiles but not among large-cap stocks.

also found much higher (i.e., more negative) analyst forecast errors for growth stocks than for value stocks. Piotroski & So (2012) reported analyst forecast errors across growth-, middle-, and value portfolios with no further distinction between firm size. They also found that analyst forecast errors for value stocks marginally exceed those for growth stocks, but the difference is not statistically significant. However, conditioning on the firm's recent financial strength reveals that growth stocks with weak financials produce the largest negative forecast errors, while value firms with strong financials have forecast errors that are only marginally negative.

Similar to the annual risk factor time series, we also evaluate the stationarity of the annual portfolio time series (returns and earnings forecast errors) using the augmented Dickey-Fuller (ADF) test with a constant, since all of the time series have a non-zero mean (see Table 9). The *t*-statistics from this test are reported in Table 9 along with the AIC estimator of the lag length. With a critical value of -3.43 at the 1% confidence level (5% confidence: -2.86; 10% confidence: -2.57), a unit root in the annual excess return time series for all 25 size and book-to-market portfolios is rejected. A unit root is also rejected for all earnings forecast errors time series at the 1% confidence level except for one portfolio (21), where it is rejected at the 10% level.

3.3.4 Methodology

We estimate multiple regression models with portfolio returns as the dependent variable and combinations of risk factors coupled with earnings forecast errors (EFE) as the explanatory variables. We estimate each combination of risk factors based on popular risk-factor models with and without earnings forecast errors (EFE) to allow for comparisons of the additional effect of adding earnings forecast errors (EFE) to the regression model.

A regular ordinary least squares (OLS) regression has the disadvantage of not considering heterogeneity across groups (portfolios, in our case) or time. However, our data structure is

		annual	portfolio exce	ess returns (ret)			earr	nings forecast e	rrors (EFE)		
Portfolio	mean (ret)	Std. Dev.(ret)	ADF (ret)	ADF p-value (ret)	ADF lag (ret)	mean (EFE)	Std. Dev.(EFE)	ADF (EFE)	ADF p-value (EFE)	ADF lag (EFE)	
11	7.85	27.90	-5.43	0.000	1	-4.03	1.81	-3.48	0.015	0	
12	11.25	23.96	-5.26	0.000	0	-2.18	1.01	-3.65	0.010	0	
13	12.74	24.46	-5.77	0.000	0	-1.43	0.68	-5.54	0.000	0	
14	14.63	25.14	-5.29	0.000	1	-1.26	0.66	-5.98	0.000	0	
15	14.95	24.54	-5.26	0.000	1	-0.95	0.68	-5.16	0.000	0	
21	7.40	23.02	-5.40	0.000	1	-2.44	1.40	-2.82	0.066	0	
22	10.70	19.62	-5.44	0.000	0	-1.19	0.83	-4.20	0.002	0	
23	12.58	21.73	-5.51	0.000	1	-0.86	0.67	-5.28	0.000	0	
24	9.93	19.28	-5.49	0.000	1	-0.76	0.60	-5.12	0.000	1	
25	10.48	23.88	-5.65	0.000	1	-0.75	0.57	-5.83	0.000	0	
31	8.07	22.72	-5.93	0.000	1	-1.55	1.46	-4.53	0.001	0	
32	11.43	20.99	-5.14	0.000	1	-0.72	0.67	-5.49	0.000	0	
33	9.48	19.58	-5.09	0.000	1	-0.74	0.63	-4.80	0.001	0	
34	11.82	19.09	-5.49	0.000	1	-0.48	0.64	-5.43	0.000	0	
35	14.21	18.30	-5.31	0.000	1	-0.38	0.62	-5.28	0.000	0	
41	9.57	19.41	-6.40	0.000	1	-0.82	0.83	-5.08	0.000	1	
42	10.32	17.24	-5.69	0.000	1	-0.47	0.61	-5.33	0.000	0	
43	9.94	17.45	-5.60	0.000	0	-0.44	0.62	-5.83	0.000	0	
44	10.78	19.15	-5.41	0.000	1	-0.44	0.62	-5.73	0.000	0	
45	14.27	21.49	-6.01	0.000	1	-0.53	0.95	-4.98	0.000	1	
51	10.26	18.80	-4.19	0.003	1	-0.29	0.56	-5.48	0.000	1	
52	9.29	17.24	-4.42	0.001	1	-0.18	0.79	-5.93	0.000	0	
53	9.14	14.92	-5.18	0.000	0	-0.17	0.66	-6.47	0.000	0	
54	9.61	17.51	-5.44	0.000	1	-0.31	0.53	-4.41	0.001	0	
55	8.86	20.51	-5.68	0.000	0	-0.20	0.43	-4.58	0.001	0	

Table 9: Descriptive statistics for portfolios

This table shows annual summary statistics for the 25 portfolios formed on size and book-to-market for the 34 portfolio formation years from 1982-2015. The first number for the portfolios represents the size portfolio: 1x is the small market capitalisation portfolio, 5x is the large market capitalisation portfolio. The second number represents the book-to-market (growth) portfolio and x5 is the high low book-to-market (value) portfolio. Thus, portfolio 11 is the small-growth portfolio and portfolio is the large-value portfolio. The value-weighted excess portfolio returns are calculated from July of year t to June of t+1, and the portfolios are rebalanced at the end of June t+1. Value-weighted portfolio earnings forecast errors in the sort for June of year t are defined as firms' actual trailing 12 month earnings per share measured in June t scaled by total assets per share in year t. Earnings forecast errors are trimmed every year at the 1% and 99% levels. ADF denote the test statistic, p-value and AIC estimator of the lag length from applying the Augmented Dickey-Fuller test on each risk factor time series. The ADF critical value is -3.43 for the 1 per cent confidence level.

composed of the same risk factor time series for each portfolio, with earnings forecast errors being the only explanatory variable that differs across portfolio and time. Thus, fixed effects are limited in our data set. Additionally, we would like to allow for comparisons between our findings and the results in studies closest to ours, such as Piotroski & So (2012), Fama & French (2015), Hou et al. (2015), and Stambaugh & Yuan (2017), which all estimate regular OLS regressions.

The multiple regression model for the Fama & French (2015) five-factor model including earnings forecast errors is defined as

$$R_{it} - RF_t = \alpha_i + \beta_i MKT - RF_t + s_i SMB_t + h_i HML_t + r_i RMW_t + c_i CMA_t + e_i EFE_{it} + u_{it}$$

where $R_{it} - RF_t$ is the excess return of portfolio *i* over the risk-free rate in time period *t*, α_i is the intercept of portfolio *i*, $MKT - RF_t$ is the market excess return in time period *t*, SMB_t is the return on a diversified portfolio of small stocks minus the return on a diversified portfolio of big stocks (the size factor, SMB) in time period t, HML_t is the difference between the returns on diversified portfolios of high and low book-to-market stocks (the value factor, HML) in time period t, RMW_t is the difference between the returns on diversified portfolios of stocks with robust and weak profitability (the profitability factor, RMW) in time period t, CMA_t is the difference between the returns on diversified portfolios of the stocks of low and high investment firms (the investment factor, CMA) in time period t, EFE_{it} is the earnings forecast error of portfolio i in time period t, and u_{it} is the error term that is assumed to have a conditional mean of zero.

The Carhart (1997) four-factor model including earnings forecast errors is defined as

$$R_{it} - RF_t = \alpha_i + \beta_i MKT - RF_t + s_i SMB_t + h_i HML_t + w_i WML_t + e_i EFE_{it} + u_{it}$$

where WML_t is the return on a diversified portfolio of past winners minus the return on a diversified portfolio of past losers in time period t. The Hou et al. (2015) q-factor model including earnings forecast errors is defined as

$$R_{it} - RF_t = \alpha_i + \beta_i MKT - RF_t + h_i SMB_t + r_i RMW_t + c_i CMA_t + e_i EFE_{it} + u_{it}$$

Lastly, in a robustness test, we analyse the effect of adding earnings forecast errors to the Stambaugh & Yuan (2017) four-factor model, which includes two mispricing factors in addition to the market and size factor. It is defined as

$$R_{it} - RF_t = \alpha_i + \beta_i MKT - RF_t + sm_i SMBm_t + m_i MGMT_t + p_i PERF_t + e_i EFE_{it} + u_{it}$$

where $SMBm_t$ is the size factor of Stambaugh & Yuan (2017) in time period t, $MGMT_t$ is the first mispricing factor related to variables that a firm's management can affect rather directly, and $PERF_t$ is the second mispricing factor related to a set of more performance-related anomalies. Test statistics are calculated using Newey & West (1987) standard errors with four lags to account for potential heteroskedasticity and autocorrelation in the standard errors.

3.4 Empirical Results

3.4.1 Time Series Regressions

Figures 6-8 illustrate the estimated regression coefficients for the Fama & French (2015) five-factor model, the Carhart (1997) four-factor model, and the Hou et al. (2015) q-factor model. Only a selected number of portfolios is presented to ensure better readability. Furthermore, the predictors are mean-centered and scaled by one standard deviation. Tables 19 to 26 in the appendix present the full regression summary statistics for the three tested models, both in their original composition without earnings forecast errors as well as with earnings forecast errors as an additional explanatory variable.

Adding earnings forecast errors to the three models has little effect on the intercept from the time series regression, which represents the unexplained portion of excess returns. The average mean absolute intercept rises slightly, from 0.02 to 0.03, but remains insignificant for most of the 25 portfolios in each of the tested models. Figures 6-8 illustrate that the intercept tends to be higher for value stocks compared to growth stocks, irrespective of whether earnings forecast errors are added.

The estimated coefficient for the market excess return (MKT-RF) is reduced by 0.03, on average, across the three tested risk-factor models when earnings forecast errors are added to the equation. Segregating this effect between value and growth stocks further indicates that the estimated market betas for value stocks fall by 0.05, on average, while they remain stable for growth stocks in all three tested models when earnings forecast errors are added. Thus, some of the perceived general stock market risk for value stocks might instead be uncertainty around earnings as measured by earnings forecast errors.

Looking at the exposures to the value risk factor (HML), their average estimated betas are



The figure shows regression coefficients of the Fama and French (2015) five–factor model plus earnings forecast errors (EFE) in explaining annual excess returns on a selection of 25 size– and book–to–market sorted portfolios. Due to space limitations the results for only a limited number of portfolios are shown. The Fama and French (2015) five–factor model is comprised of the market excess return (MKT–RF), the size factor (SMB), the value factor (HML), the profitability factor (RMW), and the investment factor (CMA). Value–weighted portfolio earnings forecast errors in the sort for June of year t are defined as firms' actual trailing 12 month earnings per share measured in June t+1 minus consensus 12 month expected earnings per share measured in June tscaled by total assets per share in year t. Earnings forecast errors are trimmed every year at the 1% and 99% levels. All predictors are mean–centered and scaled by one standard deviation. The width of the confidence interval is 95% with heteroskedasticity–robust (HC1) standard errors as Newey and West (1987) standard errors are not available here.

Figure 6: Regressions of Fama-French five-factor model and earnings forecast errors



The figure shows regression coefficients of the Carhart (1997) four–factor model plus earnings forecast errors (EFE) in explaining annual excess returns on a selection of 25 size– and book–to–market sorted portfolios. Due to space limitations the results for only a limited number of portfolios are shown. The Carhart (1997) four–factor model is comprised of the market excess return (MKT–RF), the size factor (SMB), the value factor (HML), and the momentum (MOM) factor. Value–weighted portfolio earnings forecast errors in the sort for June of year t are defined as firms' actual trailing 12 month earnings per share measured in June t+1 minus consensus 12 month expected earnings per share measured in June t scaled by total assets per share in year t. Earnings forecast errors are trimmed every year at the 1% and 99% levels. All predictors are mean–centered and scaled by one standard deviation. The width of the confidence interval is 95% with heteroskedasticity–robust (HC1) standard errors as Newey and West (1987) standard errors are not available here.

Figure 7: Regressions of Carhart four-factor model and earnings forecast errors



The figure shows regression coefficients of the Hou q-factor model plus earnings forecast errors (EFE) in explaining annual excess returns on a selection of 25 size- and book-to-market sorted portfolios. Due to space limitations the results for only a limited number of portfolios are shown. The Hou q-factor model is comprised of the market excess return (MKT–RF), the size factor (SMB), the profitability factor (RMW), and the investment factor (CMA). Value-weighted portfolio earnings forecast errors in the sort for June of year t are defined as firms' actual trailing 12 month earnings per share measured in June t+1 minus consensus 12 month expected earnings per share measured in June t scaled by total assets per share in year t. Earnings forecast errors are trimmed every year at the 1% and 99% levels. All predictors are mean-centered and scaled by one standard deviation. The width of the confidence interval is 95% with heteroskedasticity-robust (HC1) standard errors as Newey and West (1987) standard errors are not available here.

Figure 8: Regressions of Hou q-factor model and earnings forecast errors
stable at approximately -0.38 for growth stocks irrespective of whether earnings forecast errors are added to the equation. Conversely, the estimated HML betas for value stocks are substantially reduced by 0.06, on average, in the presence of earnings forecast errors, both in the Fama & French (2015) five-factor model and the Carhart (1997) four-factor model. Thus, some of the perceived value risk premium might instead be uncertainty regarding earnings as measured by earnings forecast errors.

The exposures to the profitability factor (RMW) tend to be negative for growth portfolios and approximately zero to mildly positive for value portfolios. The RMW coefficient rises, on average, by 0.06 across all portfolios and becomes statistically significant for two more portfolios in both the Fama & French (2015) five-factor model and the Hou et al. (2015) q-factor model when earnings forecast errors are added.

The estimated sensitivities to the investment factor (CMA) varies substantially by risk-factor model: The average estimated betas are mostly insignificant and do not change much in the presence of earnings forecast errors for the Fama & French (2015) five-factor model. However, in the Hou et al. (2015) q-factor model, the average investment betas for the value portfolios (which are predominantly also statistically significant) are substantially lower by 0.11, on average, after the addition of earnings forecast errors as an additional variable. On the other hand, the exposures to the size (SMB) and momentum (WML) factors remain largely unaffected by the addition of earnings forecast errors.

The bottoms of Tables 20, 22, and 24 in the appendix present the coefficients and corresponding standard errors for the earnings forecast errors variable. The coefficient is positive for most of the portfolios and strongly positive when statistically significant, which is the case for 11 respectively 12 portfolios, depending on the model. This implies that less mispricing in the form of less negative earnings forecast errors corresponds to higher contemporaneous returns. A comparison of the results across small- and large-cap portfolios as well as growth and value portfolios reveals that the estimated coefficient for earnings

forecast errors is close to zero and is statistically insignificant for all portfolios in the lowest two size quintiles (portfolios starting with 1 and 2). The only exception is the small-value portfolio (15), which has a significantly positive EFE coefficient in all three tested models. The estimated coefficient for earnings forecast errors is significant for most of the portfolios of larger companies (portfolios starting with 3 and 4), large-cap (portfolios starting with 5), and more value-oriented portfolios (portfolios ending with 4 and 5). This is somewhat surprising, as prior studies, such as Stambaugh & Yuan (2017), found that small-cap stocks, especially, tend to be vulnerable to mispricing. Additionally, the statistical significance of the estimated earnings forecast error coefficient tends to be evenly spread among growth and value portfolios. However, looking at the magnitude, the average coefficient for value portfolios is about five times larger than for growth portfolios.

Table 10 has the adjusted R^{2} measure for the estimated regressions without earnings forecast errors (first panel) and with earnings forecast errors included (second panel). The adjusted R^{2} lies between 0.68 and 0.93 for the three models without earnings forecast errors and 0.71 and 0.93 with earnings forecast errors included. The only exception is the large-cap value portfolio, which has a substantially lower adjusted R^{2} . This confirms the high explanatory power of the three models already documented in prior literature, such as Hou et al. (2017). Comparing the upper two panels illustrates that adding earnings forecast errors as additional variable to the models does not raise the percentage of variation explained for small-cap stocks, but it does so quite substantially for larger-cap stocks, where it raises the adjusted R^{2} measure by 2%, on average, on top of the already high values. This is in line with our finding that the coefficient for the earnings forecast errors variable is mainly significant among large-cap portfolios. A comparison of the adjusted R^{2} measure for value and growth stocks reveals that adding earnings forecast errors raises the model fit slightly more for value stocks than for growth stocks.

		Fama-	French 5 fa	actor			Car	hart 4 fact	or			Н	ou q-factor		
	Low B/M	2	3	4	High B/M	Low B/M	2	3	4	High B/M	Low B/M	2	3	4	High B/M
					ad	ljusted R^2	without eas	rnings fore	cast errors						
Small	0.91	0.87	0.88	0.88	0.90	0.89	0.85	0.88	0.89	0.89	0.90	0.87	0.88	0.88	0.88
2	0.82	0.88	0.89	0.91	0.80	0.83	0.89	0.89	0.89	0.80	0.82	0.88	0.90	0.88	0.77
3	0.87	0.93	0.87	0.82	0.73	0.87	0.93	0.88	0.82	0.74	0.83	0.93	0.85	0.79	0.70
4	0.85	0.86	0.81	0.79	0.75	0.84	0.85	0.82	0.78	0.73	0.84	0.86	0.81	0.76	0.68
Big	0.91	0.90	0.84	0.75	0.47	0.90	0.85	0.84	0.70	0.43	0.85	0.90	0.85	0.74	0.34
						$adjusted R^{s}$	² with earn	ings foreco	st errors						
Small	0.91	0.87	0.88	0.87	0.92	0.88	0.85	0.88	0.88	0.90	0.89	0.87	0.87	0.88	0.91
2	0.82	0.88	0.90	0.91	0.80	0.82	0.89	0.89	0.89	0.80	0.81	0.89	0.90	0.88	0.77
3	0.89	0.93	0.89	0.86	0.81	0.89	0.93	0.88	0.84	0.81	0.84	0.93	0.87	0.85	0.79
4	0.89	0.89	0.86	0.81	0.75	0.89	0.86	0.85	0.79	0.74	0.86	0.88	0.85	0.80	0.71
Big	0.91	0.90	0.87	0.81	0.46	0.90	0.84	0.85	0.73	0.44	0.84	0.90	0.87	0.81	0.35
							F-stat	istic							
Small	0.18	0.90	0.33	0.61	18.10	0.38	0.15	0.68	0.26	7.44	0.24	1.43	0.03	0.58	19.35
2	1.30	3.05	1.39	0.88	1.42	0.87	1.97	0.52	0.14	1.28	1.30	3.64	1.26	1.87	2.78
3	8.23	3.39	6.96	30.01	40.76	12.19	1.37	5.72	15.37	30.96	4.83	3.80	7.59	22.69	40.92
4	11.50	41.21	8.98	10.01	4.02	25.29	4.07	8.65	5.63	5.11	5.99	17.72	9.75	12.84	14.49
Big	0.15	2.95	35.48	13.04	0.48	2.48	0.45	20.17	14.41	1.00	0.17	2.20	28.28	10.58	0.86
						1	p-value (F-	statistic)							
Small	0.68	0.35	0.57	0.44	0.00	0.54	0.70	0.42	0.61	0.01	0.63	0.24	0.86	0.45	0.00
2	0.26	0.09	0.25	0.36	0.24	0.36	0.17	0.48	0.71	0.27	0.26	0.07	0.27	0.18	0.11
3	0.01	0.08	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.25	0.02	0.00	0.00	0.04	0.06	0.01	0.00	0.00
4	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.06	0.00	0.05	0.01	0.02	0.03	0.02	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Big	0.70	0.10	0.00	0.00	0.49	0.13	0.51	0.00	0.00	0.33	0.69	0.15	0.00	0.00	0.36

Table 10: Regression statistics

This table shows in the first two panels the adjusted \mathbb{R}^2 measure of time series regressions of annual portfolio excess returns for 25 portfolios formed on size and the book-to-market ratio on risk-factor models for the 34 portfolio formation years from 1982-2015. Panels three and four show the F-statistic and corresponding p-value of F-tests comparing models with and without earnings forecast errors. The Fama-French 5 factor model is comprised of the market excess return RM-RF, the size factor SMB, the value factor HML, the profitability factor RMW and the investment factor CMA. The Carhart 4 factor model is comprised of the market excess return RM-RF, the size factor SMB, the value factor RMW and the investment factor WML. The Hou q-factor model is comprised of the market excess return RM-RF, the size factor SMB, the profitability factor RMW and the investment factor CMA. The Grapher terrors in year t are defined as firms' actual trailing 12 month earnings per share measured in June t+1 minus consensus 12 month expected earnings per share measured in June t scaled by total assets per share in year t. Test-statistics are calculated using Newey and West (1987) standard errors with four lags.

The lower two panels report the *F*-statistics and corresponding *p*-values for *F*-tests to determine whether the more complex model including earnings forecast errors is significantly better in explaining portfolio returns compared to the original model without earnings forecast errors. The results almost perfectly match the results for the estimated regressions: For regressions with a statistically significant earnings forecast errors coefficient, the *F*-test signals that the more complex model including earnings forecast errors is significantly better in explaining portfolio returns. Overall, the *F*-test favours the more complex model for 11 of the 25 portfolios in the Fama & French (2015) five-factor model setting and for 12 portfolios in both the Carhart (1997) four-factor model and the Hou et al. (2015) *q*-factor model, based on a *p*-value of less than 0.05.

This section reveals that the addition of earnings forecast errors as a proxy for mispricing to the popular Fama & French (2015) five-factor model, the Carhart (1997) four-factor model, and the Hou et al. (2015) q-factor model lowers the estimated betas of both the market excess return and the value risk factor (HML). Conversely, adding earnings forecast errors has the effect of raising the estimated profitability risk premium (RMW). When significant, the coefficient for earnings forecast errors is strongly positive. This implies that less mispricing in the form of less negative earnings forecast errors corresponds to higher contemporaneous returns. The addition of earnings forecast errors raises the portion of variability explained in the returns of the 25 size- and book-to-market sorted portfolios, as measured by the adjusted R^2 , and is the preferred model for almost half of the tested portfolios. This effect is more pronounced for portfolios of large-cap and value stocks.

3.4.2 Robustness: Regressions with Stambaugh Mispricing Factors

In a next step we analyse how earnings forecast errors as a proxy for mispricing interact with other mispricing factors identified in prior literature. Specifically, we analyse the effect of adding earnings forecast errors to the four-factor model of Stambaugh & Yuan (2017), which includes two mispricing factors in addition to the market and size factor. We focus on the model of Stambaugh & Yuan (2017), as the authors find that this model is superior to both the Hou et al. (2015) q-factor model and the Fama & French (2015) five-factor model in explaining a large set of stock market anomalies.

Figure 9 illustrates the estimated regression coefficients for the Stambaugh & Yuan (2017) four-factor model. Similar to the other models, only a selected number of portfolios is presented for better readability. Additionally, the predictors are mean-centered and scaled by one standard deviation. Table 25 in the appendix presents the estimated regressions for the Stambaugh & Yuan (2017) four-factor model standing alone, and Table 26 presents them with earnings forecast errors as an additional explanatory variable.

Similar to the other three models, the estimated coefficient for the market excess return (MKT-RF) is reduced by 0.04, on average, when earnings forecast errors are added to the Stambaugh & Yuan (2017) four-factor model. Figure 9 shows that this drop is concentrated



The figure shows regression coefficients of the Stambaugh and Yuan four–factor model plus earnings forecast errors (EFE) in explaining annual excess returns on a selection of 25 size– and book–to–market sorted portfolios. Due to space limitations the results for only a limited number of portfolios are shown. The Stambaugh and Yuan four–factor model is comprised of the market excess return (RM–RF), the size factor of Stambaugh (SMBm), the mispricing factor related to variables that a firm's management can rather affect directly (MGMT) and the performance–related mispricing factor (PERF). Value–weighted portfolio earnings forecast errors in the sort for June of year t are defined as firms' actual trailing 12 month earnings per share measured in June t+1 minus consensus 12 month expected earnings per share measured in June t scaled by total assets per share in year t. Earnings forecast errors are trimmed every year at the 1% and 99% levels. All predictors are mean–centered and scaled by 1 standard deviation. The width of the confidence interval is 95% with heteroskedasticity–robust (HC1) standard errors as Newey and West (1987) standard errors are not available here.

Figure 9: Regressions of Stambaugh and Yuan four-factor model and earnings forecast errors

among value stocks: The estimated market betas for value stocks fall by 0.07, on average, while they remain stable for growth stocks. This provides further evidence that part of the perceived general stock market risk for value stocks might instead be uncertainty around earnings as measured by earnings forecast errors. Also mirroring the results of the other three tested models, adding earnings forecast errors has little effect on the magnitude of the size factor coefficients in the Stambaugh & Yuan (2017) model.

The first mispricing factor, "MGMT", captures mispricing related to six anomaly variables that a firm's management can affect rather directly. The significant coefficients for MGMT are found mostly among growth and value portfolios, with the difference that growth portfolios have a negative MGMT coefficient while value portfolios have a positive exposure to the factor. Adding earnings forecast errors to the four-factor model of Stambaugh & Yuan (2017) reduces the negative MGMT coefficient for growth stocks by 0.06, on average, while they remain stable for value-oriented portfolios. The second mispricing factor, "PERF", is composed of five anomaly variables that are mainly related to performance measures. With annual return data in our analysis, the coefficient of PERF is significant only for five portfolios. Adding earnings forecast errors to the model has little effect on the PERF coefficients: They hardly change and remain mostly insignificant.

Most importantly, when earnings forecast errors are added to the Stambaugh & Yuan (2017) four-factor model, the coefficients for earnings forecast errors are significant for 18 of the 25 portfolios. It is thus the most significant mispricing factor, by far, among the three (EFE, MGMT, and PERF) included. Similar to the results for the Fama & French (2015) five-factor model, the Carhart (1997) four-factor model, and the Hou et al. (2015) q-factor model, the coefficient for earnings forecast errors is always strongly positive when significant. This implies that less mispricing in the form of less negative earnings forecast errors corresponds to higher contemporaneous returns. Also mirroring the results for the other three models, value portfolios carry the highest and most significant earnings forecast errors coefficients

when added to the Stambaugh & Yuan (2017) four-factor model. This indicates that earnings forecast errors capture a distinctly different form of mispricing, namely, uncertainty regarding earnings.

	Low	2	3	4	High
	B/M				B/M
a	diusted R^2	without ear	rninas fore	cast errors	
Small	0.85	0.82	0.84	0.85	0.78
2	0.84	0.85	0.85	0.76	0.66
3	0.86	0.91	0.78	0.66	0.64
4	0.84	0.84	0.78	0.68	0.56
Big	0.87	0.87	0.85	0.64	0.35
	adjusted R	2 with earn	ings foreca	st errors	
Small	0.84	0.81	0.86	0.87	0.85
2	0.84	0.87	0.88	0.76	0.70
3	0.87	0.92	0.82	0.78	0.77
4	0.87	0.87	0.85	0.72	0.61
Big	0.87	0.87	0.86	0.73	0.37
		F-stat	istic		
Small	0.41	0.07	9.40	15.93	18.85
2	2.26	13.48	8.26	1.86	15.92
3	5.88	31.69	21.69	45.51	78.19
4	15.25	11.69	24.33	20.47	29.61
Big	0.98	0.71	7.44	16.24	1.04
		p-value (F-	statistic)		
Small	0.52	0.79	0.00	0.00	0.00
2	0.14	0.00	0.01	0.18	0.00
3	0.02	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
4	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Big	0.33	0.41	0.01	0.00	0.32

Table 11: Regression statistics for Stambaugh four-factor model

This table shows in the first two panels the adjusted R^2 measure of time series regressions of annual portfolio excess returns for 25 portfolios formed on size and the book-to-market ratio on risk-factor models for the 34 portfolio formation years from 1982-2015. Panels three and four show the F-statistic and corresponding p-value of Ftests comparing models with and without earnings forecast errors. The Stambaugh four-factor model is comprised of the market excess return (RM-RF), the size factor (SMBm) and two mispricing factors (MGMT and PERF). Value-weighted portfolio earnings forecast errors in year t are defined as firms' actual trailing 12 month earnings per share measured in June t+1 minus consensus 12 month expected earnings per share measured in June t scaled by total assets per share in year t. Test-statistics are calculated using Newey and West (1987) standard errors with four lags.

Lastly, Table 11 presents the adjusted R^2 measure for the estimated regressions for the Stambaugh & Yuan (2017) four-factor model without earnings forecast errors (first panel) and with earnings forecast errors included (second panel). The addition of earnings forecast errors leads to a rise in the adjusted R^2 for all portfolios, except one, by 0.04, on average. The strongest effect is among value portfolios, where the adjusted R^2 rises substantially by 0.06, on average. The lower two panels report the *F*-statistics and corresponding *p*-values for *F*-tests that assess whether the more complex model including earnings forecast errors is significantly better in explaining portfolio returns compared to the original models without earnings forecast errors. It confirms that the more complex model including earnings forecast errors has a higher explanatory power for the returns for 18 portfolios that are exactly the 18 portfolios having a significant coefficient for the earnings forecast error variable.

3.5 Chapter Conclusion

Existing research, such as that by Stambaugh & Yuan (2017), indicates that factor models can be useful to examine whether expected returns reflect some sort of risk or mispricing. Factors may capture systematic risk where investors demand a risk premium as compensation for bearing that risk, or factors can capture sources of mispricing, such as investor sentiment or uncertainty regarding earnings. In this paper we examine how uncertainty about these earnings as proxied by earnings forecast errors contribute to the mispricing phenomenon. We focus on the Fama & French (2015) five-factor model, the Carhart (1997) four-factor model, and the Hou et al. (2015) q-factor model, as they largely summarise the cross-section of average stock returns. Furthermore, we add earnings forecast errors to the four-factor model of Stambaugh & Yuan (2017), which includes two mispricing factors, as the authors find that some form of mispricing is at least partially responsible for the many reported return anomalies.

We reveal that, when significant, the coefficient for earnings forecast errors is always strongly positive, which is mostly the case for large-cap portfolios. This implies that less mispricing in the form of less negative earnings forecast errors corresponds to higher contemporaneous returns. Additionally, the coefficient for earnings forecast errors is, on average, five times higher for value stocks compared to growth stocks. Adding earnings forecast errors to existing risk-factor models lowers the estimated betas of the market excess return and the value risk factor for value stocks in all tested models. Thus, some of the perceived general stock market risk and the value premium might instead be uncertainty regarding earnings as measured by earnings forecast errors. Moreover, when added to the Stambaugh & Yuan (2017) four-factor model, earnings forecast errors are the most significant mispricing factor, by far, among the three included. This demonstrates that they capture a distinctively different mispricing aspect not captured by the other two mispricing factors, namely, uncertainty regarding earnings. Overall, adding earnings forecast errors to existing risk-factor models significantly raises the portion of variability explained in the returns of the 25 size- and book-to-market sorted portfolios as measured by the adjusted R^2 measure for all four tested models. This effect is

more pronounced for large-cap and value stocks, where the more complex model including earnings forecast errors is significantly better in explaining portfolio returns. These empirical results highlight the importance of understanding the driving forces behind earnings forecast errors and their broad empirical power in the cross-section of stock returns.

One limitation of our study is that earnings forecast errors, and thus all other variables as well, are measured at an annual frequency, which limits the number of observations in our sample substantially. The studies closest to ours such as Fama & French (2015), Hou et al. (2015), and Stambaugh & Yuan (2017) estimate regression models at a monthly frequency. This needs to be taken into account when comparing these studies with our study. Follow-up studies might examine earnings forecast errors over various forecast horizons (other than 12 months) and at a higher frequency. The limitation is that mispricing, in the form of earnings forecast errors, needs some time to materialize in order to be measurable. Furthermore, future research might expand on the set of mispricing factors to examine their interaction with earnings forecast errors as well.

4 Risk of Momentum: An International Comparison²¹

4.1 Chapter Introduction

Momentum strategies usually buy past winners and sell past losers, which implies a bet on past returns predicting future returns in the cross-section. The academic literature reveals that the success of momentum strategies is not limited to U.S. stocks, where it was first identified by Jegadeesh & Titman (1993), but is a widespread phenomenon across major asset classes, regions, and periods. However, investors pay a high price for the strong momentum returns, as they are highly negatively skewed and suffer from infrequent but severe drawdowns. For example, the winners-minus-losers (WML) strategy from Fama and French lost 91.59% within two months in 1932 and returned -73.43% within three months in 2009 (Barroso & Santa-Clara, 2015, p. 112).

Studies such as those by Barroso & Santa-Clara (2015) and Daniel & Moskowitz (2016) also show that the risk of momentum varies substantially over time and is highly predictable in the United States. Based on *ex ante* volatility forecasts for momentum, a dynamically weighting of the momentum factor WML leads to a doubling of the Sharpe ratio compared to the regular momentum strategy in both studies. Additionally, Barroso & Santa-Clara (2015) find that a dynamic weighting of the momentum factor based on an autoregressive (AR) variance forecast largely eliminates the crash risk of momentum.

In this paper we build on the findings of Barroso & Santa-Clara (2015) and examine whether the predictability of the risk of momentum can be generalised to all developed market equity regions, i.e. the United States, Europe, Japan, and the Asia Pacific ex Japan region. Further, we apply the AR forecast of Barroso & Santa-Clara (2015) for the variance of momentum to all five Fama and French factors and test whether the predictability of risk is a pervasive phenomenon across all five risk factors. Lastly, we investigate the potential impact of the

²¹unpublished working paper

publication of the Barroso & Santa-Clara (2015) study on the predictability of risk and the success of the risk-managed momentum strategy.

Using daily and monthly returns for the six risk factors from Kenneth R. French's website, we find that the risk of momentum is not only predictable in the United States but generally in all other developed market equity regions, in other words, Europe, Japan, and the Asia Pacific ex Japan region. We further demonstrate that the high autocorrelation of momentum risk is limited not only to the first lag but is statistically significant for up to approximately 10 lags based on monthly data. Importantly, we reveal that the predictability of the variance is not unique to the momentum strategy but is a common characteristic that applies to all five Fama and French factors, i.e. the market excess return (RMRF), size (SMB), value (HML), profitability (RMW) and investment (CMA) factor. We find that the risk of the investment factor, which is not included in the analysis of Barroso & Santa-Clara (2015), and that of the value factor demonstrate an ever higher persistence than momentum, on average, across the four regions. Furthermore, the persistence in risk varies substantially by region: The AR(1) coefficients across all six factors average approximately 0.66 in both the U.S. and Europe, 0.55 in Japan, and only 0.48 in the Asia Pacific ex Japan region.

We further demonstrate that a risk-managed investment strategy based on an AR(1) volatility forecast and a volatility target approach substantially improves the risk-return profile of the momentum strategy, mainly by improving the skewness and kurtosis and thus reducing its crash risk. Our result is consistent with that of Barroso & Santa-Clara (2015), who arrive at similar results for the lengthy sample period 1927-2011. We find that the risk-managed momentum strategy remains highly successful relative to the plain momentum strategy, even after it was proposed by Barroso & Santa-Clara (2015). However, we find that the same strategy fails to improve the risk and return measures for the other factors despite the high predictability of their risk. Lastly, when we decompose the risk of momentum, we find that the vast majority of the risk is strategy-specific and not driven by the variance of the broad stock market. This confirms the results of Barroso & Santa-Clara (2015) and might explain the strong success of the risk-managed strategy of momentum.

Importantly, the time series of the variance of momentum and its residuals from AR(1) first-order AR models are highly autocorrelated. Thus, as opposed to Barroso & Santa-Clara (2015), our empirical results are based on heteroskedasticity- and autocorrelation-consistent (HAC) standard errors to circumvent this issue.

The layout of the paper is as follows: Section 4.2 summarises the related literature, and Section 4.3 describes the sample data, the measurement of momentum, and the methodology. Section 4.4 presents the empirical results, and Section 4.5 concludes.

4.2 Literature Review

Momentum was first identified by Jegadeesh & Titman (1993), who found that, among U.S. stocks, previous winners outperform previous losers by as much as much 1.49% per month. These strong returns were a puzzle, as the abnormal strong returns of momentum could not be explained by the three Fama & French (1993) risk factors of market excess return (RMRF), size (SMB), and value (HML), in addition to their negative correlation to the market and value factor. In the following years, it became apparent that momentum is not just a U.S. stock market anomaly: Rouwenhorst (1998) and Rouwenhorst (1999) found evidence of momentum in international equity markets; Asness, Liew, & Stevens (1997) discovered momentum in stock market country indices; Moskowitz & Grinblatt (1999) documented momentum in industry stock portfolios; Okunev & White (2003) and Menkhoff, Sarno, Schmeling, & Schrimpf (2012) found evidence of momentum in currency markets; Erb & Harvey (2006) discovered momentum in commodity markets; and Asness et al. (2013) documented momentum across major asset classes.

However, investors paid a high price, as the strong returns of momentum strategies were highly negatively skewed and suffered from infrequent but severe drawdowns: The winnersminus-losers (WML) strategy from Fama and French lost 91.59% within two months in 1932 and returned -73.43% within three months in 2009 (Barroso & Santa-Clara (2015), p. 112). Thus, many studies have focussed on the risk properties of momentum strategies: Grundy & Martin (2001) found that the two largest momentum crashes occurred after a broad stock market drawdown. They demonstrated that the equity momentum strategy has time-varying stock market betas. After a market drawdown, the winner stocks in the momentum portfolio tend to be low-beta stocks, while the past loser stocks tend to be high-beta stocks. Therefore, the overall winners-minus-losers strategy has a negative stock market beta during a stock market recovery. Grundy & Martin (2001) argued that managing these time-varying market betas will help avoid future large momentum crashes.

Daniel & Moskowitz (2016) revealed that momentum crashes are forecastable, to some extent: They found that, in bear markets and especially when market volatility is high, past loser stocks carry a low downside market beta but a very high upside market beta. This optionality is not fully reflected in their prices, resulting in the expected returns of past loser stocks becoming very high. Subsequently, the strong momentum returns are partly reversed during these times. Under the objective of maximising the in-sample Sharpe ratio, Daniel & Moskowitz (2016) used equity bear market indicators and *ex ante* volatility forecasts to estimate the mean return and volatility of the momentum time series for the next month. Based on these estimates, a dynamically weighting of the momentum factor WML leads to a doubling of the Sharpe ratio compared to the plain momentum strategy. A range of explanations, such as compensation for crash risk or volatility risk, or the three Fama & French (1993) factors, cannot fully explain their results.

In a similar direction, Wang & Xu (2015) found that the volatility of the broad stock market has significant predictive power for the momentum strategy, where the predictive power of the market volatility is concentrated among the past loser stocks. The default risk, especially during volatile bear markets, helps to explain part but not all of the predictive power of the market volatility.

While Grundy & Martin (2001), Wang & Xu (2015), and Daniel & Moskowitz (2016) analysed the time-varying systematic risk of momentum, Barroso & Santa-Clara (2015) focussed on momentum-specific risk and proposed a different method to manage the downside risk. They found that the risk of momentum, based on realized variances of daily returns, is highly predictable. An autoregressive (AR) model on monthly variances yields an out-of-sample R-square of 57.82% (in-sample: 49.10%). This R-square is almost 20% higher than a similar AR(1) model for the variance of the market risk factor, which, in turn, has already been documented to be highly predictable; see, for example, Engle & Bollerslev (1986) and Schwert (1989). In a next step, Barroso & Santa-Clara (2015) computed a monthly AR forecast for the variance of momentum to scale the weight to the momentum factor WML based on the variance forecast and a constant volatility target. This risk-managed investment strategy substantially increased the Sharpe ratio of momentum. Probably even more important to most investors, the risk-managed strategy reduced the higher-order risks substantially: The high excess kurtosis was markedly reduced and the very negative skewness improved substantially and, in some samples, even turned positive.

4.3 Data and Methodology

Our sample data is composed of risk factor returns for the four regions United States, Europe, Japan, and Asia Pacific ex Japan.²² The returns for all regions are calculated in U.S. dollars and include dividends and capital gains. The daily and monthly returns for the five risk factors market excess return (RMRF), size (SMB), value (HML), profitability (RMW), investment (CMW), plus the momentum (WML) factor are from Kenneth R. French's website for all regions.²³ Based on the data availability for developed market factors outside the United

²²Europe is composed of Austria, Belgium, Switzerland, Germany, Denmark, Spain, Finland, France, Great Britain, Greece, Ireland, Italy, Netherlands, Norway, Portugal, and Sweden. The Asia Pacific region excluding Japan is composed of Australia, Hong Kong, New Zealand, and Singapore.

²³http://mba.tuck.dartmouth.edu/pages/faculty/ken.french/Data_Library/

States, the sample is limited to the period from December 1990 until April 2020 (353 months). For the United States, the market factor (RMRF) is the excess return on the market, calculated as the value-weighted return of all of the CRSP firms incorporated in the U.S. and listed on the NYSE, AMEX, or NASDAQ that have a CRSP share code of 10 (NYSE common excluding foreign, ADRs, REIT, closed-end funds) or 11 (NYSE/NYSE American common excluding foreign, ADRs, REIT, closed-end funds) at the beginning of month t, valid shares and price data at the beginning of t, and valid return data for t minus the one-month U.S. Treasury bill rate, which is from Ibbotson Associates. For Europe, Japan, and Asia Pacific ex Japan, the market factor (RMRF) is the return on a region's value-weighted market portfolio minus the one-month U.S. Treasury bill rate.

For the construction of the size (SMB), value (HML), profitability (RMW), and investment (CMW) factors, Fama & French (2015) use the six value-weighted portfolios formed on size and operating profitability, and the six value-weighted portfolios formed on size and operating in total). These portfolios are constructed by sorting stocks in a region into two size and three respective book-to-market (B/M), operating profitability (OP), and investment (INV) groups.²⁴ In a next step, Fama & French (2015) define the size factor SMB (Small Minus Big) as the average return on the nine small stock portfolios minus the average return on the nine small stock portfolios minus the average return on the nine big stock portfolios:

²⁴For more details on the measurement of the variables, the breakpoints, and the stock universe, see https://mba.tuck.dartmouth.edu/pages/faculty/ken.french/Data_Library/six_portfolios.html, https://mba.tuck.dartmouth.edu/pages/faculty/ken.french/Data_Library/six_portfolios_me_op.html, https://mba.tuck.dartmouth.ed

$$SMB_{B/M} = \frac{1}{3}(Small \ Value + Small \ Neutral + Small \ Growth) - \frac{1}{3}(Big \ Value + Big \ Neutral + Big \ Growth)$$

$$SMB_{OP} = \frac{1}{3}(Small \ Robust + Small \ Neutral + Small \ Weak) - \frac{1}{3}(Big \ Robust + Big \ Neutral + Big \ Weak)$$

$$SMB_{INV} = \frac{1}{3}(Small\ Conservative + Small\ Neutral + Small\ Aggressive) - \frac{1}{3}(Big\ Conservative + Big\ Neutral + Big\ Aggressive)$$

$$SMB = \frac{1}{3}(SMB_{B/M} + SMB_{OP} + SMB_{INV})$$

The value factor HML (High Minus Low) is the average return on the two value portfolios minus the average return on the two growth portfolios:

$$HML = \frac{1}{2}(Small \ Value + Big \ Value) - \frac{1}{2}(Small \ Growth + Big \ Growth)$$

The profitability factor RMW (Robust Minus Weak) is the average return on the two robust operating profitability portfolios minus the average return on the two weak operating profitability portfolios:

$$RMW = \frac{1}{2}(Small \ Robust + Big \ Robust) - \frac{1}{2}(Small \ Weak + Big \ Weak)$$

The investment factor CMA (Conservative Minus Aggressive) is the average return on the two

conservative investment portfolios minus the average return on the two aggressive investment portfolios:

$$CMA = \frac{1}{2}(Small\ Conservative + Big\ Conservative) - \frac{1}{2}(Small\ Aggressive + Big\ Aggressive)$$

A description of the construction of the momentum factor (Mom; WML), which is also briefly described in Fama & French (2012) p. 460, is taken from Kenneth French's website:²⁵

We use six value-weight portfolios formed on size and prior (2-12 [month]) returns to construct Mom. The portfolios, which are formed monthly, are the intersections of two portfolios formed on size (market equity, ME) and three portfolios formed on prior (2-12) return. The monthly size breakpoint is the median NYSE market equity. The monthly prior (2-12) return breakpoints are the 30th and 70th NYSE percentiles. Mom is the average return on the two high prior return portfolios minus the average return on the two low prior return portfolios:

$$Mom = \frac{1}{2}(Small \; High + Big \; High) - \frac{1}{2}(Small \; Low + Big \; Low)$$

Table 12 presents the summary statistics based on monthly returns for the six risk factors for all regions. Besides the market risk factor (RMRF), the momentum factor (WML) has the highest annualised mean average excess return in the U.S., Europe, and the Asia Pacific ex Japan region, but also the highest standard deviation. Additionally, the distribution of monthly momentum returns is leptokurtic (i.e., it has more outliers compared to a normal distribution) and is highly negatively skewed, meaning, it has more extreme negative returns. This is further underpinned by the fact that momentum has the worst monthly returns among

 $^{^{25}} https://mba.tuck.dartmouth.edu/pages/faculty/ken.french/Data_Library/det_mom_factor.html$

all factors in all regions (see also Daniel & Moskowitz (2016)). In Japan, we confirm the well-documented empirical failure of the momentum strategy for stock selection in Japan (see, e.g., Asness (2011)).

	Mean Ret.	t-stat (Mean Ret.)	min. Ret.	max. Ret.	Std. Dev.	Kurtosis	Skewness	Sharpe
US								
RMRF	8.96	3.13	-17.23	13.65	14.92	1.48	-0.68	0.60
SMB	1.83	0.93	-14.91	18.32	10.57	4.72	0.42	0.17
HML	1.08	0.54	-14.12	12.87	10.76	2.96	-0.03	0.10
RMW	4.05	2.41	-18.34	13.33	8.97	11.05	-0.41	0.45
CMA	2.00	1.51	-6.86	9.56	7.13	2.39	0.61	0.28
WML	5.64	1.81	-34.39	18.36	16.53	10.78	-1.44	0.34
Europe								
RMRF	5.76	1.81	-22.03	13.67	16.79	1.74	-0.62	0.34
SMB	0.61	0.44	-7.41	8.81	7.45	0.99	-0.05	0.08
HML	2.81	1.76	-10.96	11.15	8.53	3.46	0.05	0.33
RMW	4.84	4.74	-4.84	6.08	5.43	0.80	-0.27	0.89
CMA	1.55	1.34	-7.33	8.75	6.24	3.72	0.40	0.25
WML	11.65	4.48	-26.10	13.65	13.43	7.84	-1.23	0.87
Japan								
RMRF	0.85	0.24	-16.22	16.87	18.77	0.62	0.20	0.05
SMB	1.23	0.60	-11.53	13.10	11.00	1.96	0.10	0.11
HML	3.15	1.69	-14.25	10.05	10.01	2.15	-0.20	0.31
RMW	1.59	1.16	-8.09	8.79	7.36	2.01	0.00	0.22
CMA	0.43	0.28	-12.99	7.54	8.19	4.33	-0.77	0.05
WML	1.01	0.37	-19.83	14.95	15.00	2.97	-0.46	0.07
Asia Paci	ific ex Japar	1						
RMRF	8.26	2.14	-26.00	20.52	20.23	2.60	-0.42	0.41
SMB	-1.93	-1.07	-11.43	13.30	9.91	2.83	0.44	-0.20
HML	6.96	3.56	-8.91	23.70	10.30	10.67	1.45	0.68
RMW	3.57	2.06	-12.20	11.14	9.25	3.06	-0.17	0.39
CMA	3.74	2.42	-7.65	8.45	8.27	1.88	0.06	0.45
WML	10.35	3.62	-36.77	10.88	14.84	19.87	-2.93	0.70

Table 12: Descriptive statistics for risk factors

This table compares the performance statistics of the momentum factor (WML, winners minus losers) with the Fama and French risk factors market (RMRF), size (SMB), value (HML), profitability (RMW) and investment (CMA). All statistics are computed with monthly returns. Reported are the mean average excess return (annualized) and t-statistics, the minimum and maximum one-month return in the sample period, the (annualized) standard deviation, excess kurtosis, skewness and the annualized Sharpe ratio. The sample period is from 1990:11 to 2020:04 (354 months).

Some studies suggest that one reason for the high excess kurtosis in investment strategies could be time-varying risk (see, e.g., Engle (1982), Bollerslev (1987)). Based on this we analyse the properties and the predictability of the risk in momentum strategies and compare this to the five Fama and French factors. Specifically, we follow Barroso & Santa-Clara (2015) and calculate the monthly realised variance RV of factor i in month t as the sum of squared daily returns in the previous 21 trading days in each month

$$RV_{i,t} = \sum_{j=1}^{21} r_{i,d_t-j}^2$$

where r are the daily returns of factor i and $d_t - j$ is the time series of the dates of the last 21 trading days in each month. Table 13 illustrates summary statistics of the variances of the Fama and French risk factors for the United States, Europe, Japan, and Asia Pacific ex Japan. We find that, besides the market factor, the variance of the momentum factor (WML) is the highest and also the most volatile among all factors in all regions. This contrasts somewhat with the results of Barroso & Santa-Clara (2015), who found that the risk of momentum was the most volatile among their set of tested factors (RMRF, SMB, HML, and WML), albeit over a longer sample period, 1927-2011. The Breusch-Godfrey (BG) test for serial correlated errors indicates that autocorrelation in the errors is present in AR(1) models for the variances of the value (HML), profitability (RMW), investment (CMA), and momentum (WML) factors in all four regions.

Figure 10 presents the realised monthly variance of the momentum strategy in the four regions as well as their autocorrelations. The variances vary substantially over time, ranging, for example, in the United States from a minimum of 0.27 to a maximum of 236.3. Additionally, the variance of the momentum strategy is highly autocorrelated for up to 10 legs in the United States and Europe and to a slightly lesser extent also in Japan. In the Asia Pacific ex Japan region, the autocorrelation coefficient falls substantially after the first lag but remains weakly significant for up to 10 lags as well.

To test the predictability of the risk in momentum strategies and other risk factors, we estimate the following first-order autoregressive model where we regress the non-overlapping variance on its own lagged value plus a constant:

$RV_{i,t}$:	$= \alpha +$	$\beta RV_{i,t-1}$	$+\varepsilon_t$
		1	

	Mean	Std. Dev.	BG statistic	BG p-value
US				
RMRF	27.23	56.14	6.18	0.80
SMB	7.07	8.94	8.32	0.60
HML	7.98	14.58	65.84	0.00
RMW	4.31	7.79	48.70	0.00
CMA	3.53	5.74	126.65	0.00
WML	15.74	30.17	56.50	0.00
Europe				
RMRF	26.98	45.79	9.72	0.47
SMB	7.27	10.91	17.41	0.07
HML	3.97	6.19	30.76	0.00
RMW	1.70	2.34	18.16	0.05
CMA	2.20	3.31	34.80	0.00
WML	10.99	19.75	24.81	0.01
Japan				
RMRF	38.83	46.31	10.04	0.44
SMB	9.06	9.72	6.63	0.76
HML	5.98	8.02	50.64	0.00
RMW	3.91	5.45	62.41	0.00
CMA	3.95	6.26	57.05	0.00
WML	13.52	25.47	22.19	0.01
Asia Paci	ific ex J	apan		
RMRF	23.54	45.24	12.71	0.24
SMB	6.89	10.44	13.43	0.20
HML	6.12	6.81	28.38	0.00
RMW	5.43	6.44	42.88	0.00
CMA	5.05	6.80	33.06	0.00
WML	11.84	21.37	32.07	0.00

Table 13: Descriptive statistics for variances of risk factors

This table compares descriptive statistics of the monthly variances of momentum (WML, winners minus losers) with the monthly variances of the Fama and French risk factors market (RMRF), size (SMB), value (HML), profitability (RMW) and investment (CMA). Realized variances are defined as the sum of squared daily returns in the previous 21 trading days. Reported are the mean and standard deviation of the monthly variances as well as the test statistic and p-value for the Breusch-Godfrey (BG) error autocorrelation test in AR(1) models on the monthly factor variances with up to 10 lags in the errors. The sample period is from 1990:11 to 2020:04 (354 months).

As Table 13 and Figure 10 illustrate, the time series of the variance of momentum strategies and its residuals from the AR(1) model are highly autocorrelated. While autocorrelation in the errors does not produce biased coefficient estimates, it produces incorrect standard errors



This figure shows the monthly time series of realized variances for the momentum strategy (left) as well as the their autocorrelations for up to 25 lags (right) with the broken lines indicating the 95 percent confidence interval in the four regions US, Europe, Japan and Asia Pacific ex Japan. Realized variances are defined as the sum of squared daily returns in the previous 21 trading days. The sample period is from 1990:12 to 2020:04 (353 months). Daily returns for the momentum strategies are from Kenneth French' website.

Figure 10: Variance of momentum and its autocorrelation

and thus causes misleading inference. Heteroskedasticity- and autocorrelation-consistent (HAC) estimators of the variance-covariance matrix circumvent this issue and thus we use HAC-consistent standard errors in our empirical results.

4.4 Empirical Results

4.4.1 First-Order Autoregressive Models

Table 14 presents the results of AR(1) models of the realised variances of WML (momentum), RMRF (market), SMB (size), HML (value), RMW (profitability) and CMW (investments). The table illustrates the coefficients as well as the *t*-statistics of the first lag based on HACconsistent standard errors. What is striking is that the coefficients are highly significant (p-value < 1%) for all six factors in all four regions. Thus, the predictability of the variance is not unique to the momentum strategy but rather a common characteristic to all risk factors. Barroso & Santa-Clara (2015) found that the risk of momentum is the most persistent, with a monthly AR(1) coefficient of 0.77 for the United States in the sample period July 1963 until December 2011. This is 0.19 higher than for the market factor and also higher than for the size factor (0.33) and the value factor (0.73). In our shorter, more recent sample from December 1990 until April 2020, we find that the risk of momentum is also very persistent: The AR(1) coefficient for momentum is, on average, 0.62 among the four regions and varies between 0.40 in Asia Pacific ex Japan, 0.61 in Japan, 0.70 in the U.S. and 0.78 in Europe. However, the risk of momentum in our sample is not the most persistent as opposed to Barroso & Santa-Clara (2015): We find that the risk of the investment factor (CMA), which is not included in the analysis of Barroso & Santa-Clara (2015), has an even higher AR(1)coefficient of 0.69, on average, across the four regions. For the value factor (HML) in the U.S., we estimate an AR(1) coefficient of 0.74, which almost perfectly matches the 0.73 estimate of Barroso & Santa-Clara (2015) even if the two sample periods differ substantially. In the other three regions, the AR(1) coefficient of the risk of the value factor also reveals a high

pan	V CMA WI	** 2.09*** 7.0	- t) (c1- t) (- * *	(0.59***	(6.02)	0.4	(3.	0.34 0.	0.34 0.	
ific ex Ja	RMV	* 3.08* /5.67	10.0				÷	_	0.44^{*}	(5.18)					0.19	0.19	0.40
Asia Paci	HML	· 2.60**	(07·0)				0.58^{**}	(5.72)							0.33	0.33	010
	SMB	3.65*** /6.44)	(111.0)		0.47***	(9.14)									0.22	0.22	0 1 0
	RMRF	14.13*** (6 20)	0.40***	(6.48)											0.16	0.16	
	WML	5.32*** /6.20\	(er.n)										0.61^{***}	(12.08)	0.37	0.37	
	CMA	1.49*** (5.76)	(01.0)								0.62^{***}	(15.11)			0.39	0.39	0 1 0
an	RMW	1.82***	(00.0)						0.54^{***}	(6.39)					0.29	0.28	
Jap	HMIL	2.23*** (4.20)	(07.1)				0.63^{***}	(7.42)							0.40	0.39	
	SMB	4.34*** (6.49)	(71.0)		0.52^{***}	(5.59)									0.27	0.27	
	RMRF	23.16*** (0.82)	0.40***	(5.22)											0.16	0.16	
	WML	2.59*** (2.74)	(11.0)										0.78***	(8.29)	0.59	0.58	
	CMA	0.38***	(00.0)								0.83^{***}	(11.34)			0.69	0.69	
ope	RMW	0.96***	(00.1)						0.44^{***}	(3.45)					0.19	0.19	
Eur	HML	1.48***	(00.1)				0.64^{***}	(6.93)							0.40	0.39	
	SMB	2.22*** (5.99)	(977.0)		0.70^{***}	(9.66)									0.49	0.48	
	RMRF	12.62*** (A 84)	0.54***	(5.01)											0.29	0.29	
	WML	4.96***	(01.1)										0.70^{***}	(8.78)	0.47	0.47	
	CMA	1.06***	(71.1)								0.70^{***}	(8.64)			0.49	0.49	
IS	RMW	1.12**	(06.7)						0.75^{***}	(6.38)					0.55	0.55	
C	HML	2.22** / 2.96)	(07.0)				0.74^{***}	(10.29)							0.51	0.51	
	SMB	2.73*** (A.66)	(00.1)		0.62^{***}	(6.55)									0.37	0.37	
	RMRF	14.03**	0.49**	(3.14)											0.24	0.24	0.4.0
		(Intercept)	RMRF		SMB		HMIL		RMW		CMA		WML		\mathbb{R}^2	Adj. R ²	

variance
Ъ
realize
one-month
ч
Ó
\sim
Ξ́-
AR(
14:
ble

persistence of approximately 0.60.

The persistence of the risk of the market excess return (RMRF) in the U.S. seems to have declined over time: Barroso & Santa-Clara (2015) reported an AR(1) coefficient of 0.60 for the long sample period from 1927 until 2011 and 0.58 for the shorter period between 1963 and 2011. In our more recent sample from 1990 to 2020, we find an AR(1) coefficient of only 0.49. Additionally, the portion of variation explained of the market risk as measured by the adjusted R^2 declines from 36% for the long sample period from 1927 until 2011 in Barroso & Santa-Clara (2015) to 24% in our sample starting 1990.

Interestingly, the AR(1) coefficients and fraction of variation explained varies substantially by region: The AR(1) coefficients across all six strategies average approximately 0.66 in both the United States and Europe, 0.55 in Japan, and only 0.48 in the Asia Pacific ex Japan region. This is mirrored by the portion of variation explained by the first autocorrelation factor: The adjusted R^2 measure averages approximately 44% in the U.S. and Europe, 31% in Japan, and only 23% for the Asia Pacific ex Japan region. Looking across factors, the average AR(1) coefficient for most factors is in a relatively narrow range: The investment factor (CMA) has the highest AR(1) coefficient, on average, across the four regions (0.69), followed by the value factor HML (0.65) and the momentum factor (0.62). The market risk is the least predictable based on this measure, but the AR(1) coefficient still averages 0.46 across the four regions. This pattern is further confirmed by the adjusted R^2 measure, where the risk in the investment factor (CMA) has the highest fraction of variation explained (48%, on average) followed by the value factor (41%, on average, across all regions). For the momentum factor, we can confirm the findings of Barroso & Santa-Clara (2015) that approximately half of the risk in the momentum strategy is predictable in the U.S. (adjusted R^2 : 47%) and also in Europe (adjusted R^2 : 58%). However, in Japan, where the momentum strategy does not produce statistically significant returns, the risk of the strategy is largely not predictable by the AR(1) coefficient.

4.4.2 Decomposition of Momentum Risk

4.4.2.1 Market Variance and Momentum Variance In a next step, we analyse what is driving the high autocorrelation of the risk in momentum strategies. A well-documented finding in the momentum literature is that momentum strategies have time-varying market betas (see, e.g., Grundy & Martin (2001), Moskowitz, Ooi, & Pedersen (2012)). Thus, in a logical next step, Moskowitz et al. (2012) attempted to use market betas to hedge the risk in momentum strategies, which failed in real time. As Barroso & Santa-Clara (2015) indicated, this is because time-varying market betas are not the main source of the high predictability of momentum risk.

Thus, in a first step to decompose the risk of momentum strategies, we use the "market model" as labelled by Barroso & Santa-Clara (2015) and split the risk of momentum in market risk and (momentum) specific risk:²⁶

$$RV_{WML,t} = \alpha + \beta RV_{RMRF,t} + \varepsilon_t$$

Table 15 indicates that the market variance, indeed, has a positive effect on the momentum variance with a statistically significant coefficient in the U.S., Europe, and Japan of approximately 0.25. However, the market component βRV_{RMRF} accounts for only 21% of the variance in the total risk of momentum in the U.S. (38% in Europe, 21% in Japan, and 15% in the Asia Pacific ex Japan region). Thus, the vast majority of the risk of momentum is strategy-specific.

4.4.2.2 Predictability of Risk Components To further analyse the nature of the risk of momentum, we further decompose the risk and analyse the predictability of the various components. Table 16 presents the results of AR(1) regressions on each component of risk,

²⁶Barroso & Santa-Clara (2015) estimated this model without intercept and the square of the market beta and the square of the momentum specific term ε_t while we include the intercept term and use the market beta and momentum specific term without squaring it.

Table 1	Table 15: Market Variance and Momentum Variance											
	US	Europe	Japan	Asia Pacific ex Japan								
(Intercept)	9.06***	3.79^{**}	3.62^{**}	7.53***								
	(3.86)	(3.16)	(2.92)	(3.66)								
RV(RMRF)	0.24^{*}	0.27^{***}	0.25^{***}	0.18								
· · ·	(2.47)	(5.70)	(7.41)	(1.88)								
\mathbb{R}^2	0.21	0.38	0.21	0.15								
Adj. \mathbb{R}^2	0.21	0.38	0.21	0.15								
Num. obs.	354	354	354	354								

Num. obs. 354 354 354 354 354This table shows non-overlapping regressions of the realized variance of momentum (WML) on the realized variance of the market excess return (RMRF). Realized variances are defined as the sum of squared daily returns in the previous 21 trading days. The sample period is from 1990:12 to 2020:04 (353 months). Daily returns for the momentum factor and the market excess return are from Kenneth French' website. T-statistics are shown in parentheses, which are calculated using heteroskedasticity- and autocorrelation-consistent (HAC) standard errors. Coefficients with p < 0.05 are shown

in **bold**. ***p < 0.001, **p < 0.01, *p < 0.05

which indicates that the various components do not have the same degree of predictability. We include the AR(1) regressions for the variance of momentum (WML; columns 1-4) and the variance of the market (RMRF; columns 5-8), which are already depicted in Table 14 again for a better comparison with the other components. Barroso & Santa-Clara (2015) finds that β^2 , estimated as a simple linear regression of momentum (WML) returns on market (RMRF) returns, is the least predictable component of momentum risk with an in-sample R^2 of only 5%.²⁷ We confirm the low predictability of β^2 in the U.S. with an R^2 of only 12% (column 13) and in the other regions as well. However, we find that β - in other words, the estimated non-squared beta on market excess returns - is highly predictable: The AR(1) coefficient is highly significant in all four regions, ranging from 0.67 (Asia Pacific ex Japan) to 0.81 (Europe), and the R^2 ranges from 45% to 65%. The last component is the momentum-specific risk, which is defined as the residual ε from regressions of the realised variance of momentum (WML) on the realised variance of the market excess return (RMRF); see Table 15. Barroso & Santa-Clara (2015) found that the square of the residual ε^2 is the most predictable component

 $^{^{27}}$ Barroso & Santa-Clara (2015) estimated the squared beta from a simple linear regression of 126 daily returns of WML on the market factor (RMRF) based on six-month, non-overlapping periods. Because of our shorter sample, we estimate the monthly beta and squared beta from a linear regression of 21 daily returns of the WML factor on the RMRF (market) factor.

of momentum variance, with an in-sample R^2 of 52%. We also find that the residual ε is highly predictable with a significantly positive AR(1) coefficient in all four regions, ranging from 0.33 to 0.58. However, the R^2 is only 25% in the United States and 32% in both Europe and Japan in our more recent sample.

4.4.3 Risk-Managed Momentum Strategy

In a next step, we test whether the high predictability of momentum risk can be used to improve the higher-order risks of momentum, especially the high excess kurtosis and the negative skewness (see Table 12). Based on the same motivation, Barroso & Santa-Clara (2015) computed a monthly forecast for the variance of momentum to scale the weight to the momentum factor WML based on the variance forecast and a constant volatility target. We largely follow Barroso & Santa-Clara (2015) and calculate the monthly variance forecast for momentum based on the last 126 daily returns (six months) of the WML factor at each month-end as:

$$\hat{\sigma}_{WML,t}^2 = 21 \sum_{j=1}^{126} r_{WML,d_t-j}^2 / 126$$

where r_{WML,d_t-j}^2 are the daily squared returns of the momentum factor WML and $d_t - j$ is the time series of the dates of the last 126 daily returns at each month-end. With that, we seek to test two items: First, Barroso & Santa-Clara (2015) tested the risk-managed momentum strategy only for four selected developed markets (France, Germany, Japan, and the UK) besides the United States. We analyse whether the results of Barroso & Santa-Clara (2015) can be generalised to all developed market equity regions: the U.S., Europe, Japan, and the Asia Pacific region excluding Japan. Second, as a robustness check, we test whether the risk-managed momentum strategy of Barroso & Santa-Clara (2015) is still successful after the publication of their study in late 2014, as the strategy is easy to implement for asset managers and thus simple to exploit. To make our results comparable to the findings of Barroso & Santa-Clara (2015), we also set the annualised target volatility to 12%, which is

error term	Europe Japan Asia Pac. ex Japan	0.06 0.05 -0.01	(0.08) (0.06) (-0.01)									0.58^{***} 0.56^{***} 0.33^{**}	(4.03) (7.62) (2.96)	0.32 0.32 0.11	0.32 0.31 0.11	353 353 353	ns in the previous 21 trading days.
	Ω	0.11	(0.08)									0.50^{**}	(3.13)	0.25	0.24	353	daily retur
(RF)	Asia Pac. ex Japan	0.13***	(5.40)							0.19	(1.83)			0.03	0.03	353	$_{3}$ defined as the sum of squared ϵ
$eta^2(RM)$	Japan	0.06***	(6.47)							0.47^{***}	(6.29)			0.22	0.22	353	ariances an
ł	Europe	0.06***	(4.65)							0.60^{***}	(8.24)			0.36	0.36	353). Realized v
	US	0.14^{***}	(5.33)							0.35^{***}	(3.52)			0.12	0.12	353	urn (RMRF
F)	Asia Pac. ex Japan	0.02	(1.11)					0.67***	(12.64)					0.45	0.45	353	viance of the market excess ret.
ta(RMR)	Japan	-0.01	-0.88)					.75***	(22.95)					0.56	0.56	353	e realized va
be	lurope	-0.01	-1.19) (.81*** (26.13)					0.65	0.65	353	ond row is th
	US E	. 10.0	0.51) (-					78*** 0) (66.1)					09.0	09.C	353	olio. The sec
(Asia Pac. ex Japan	14.13^{***}	(6.22) (0			0.40^{***}	(6.48)	0	(2					0.16	0.16	353	WML (winners minus losers) portf
ar(RMRF	Japan	23.16***	(9.83)			0.40^{***}	(5.22)							0.16	0.16	353	riance of the
1	Europe	12.62***	(4.84)			0.54^{***}	(5.01)							0.29	0.29	353	he realized va
	US	4.03**	(3.09)			0.49^{**}	(3.14)							0.24	0.24	353	first row is t
('	Asia Pac. ex Japan	7.09***	(4.81)	0.40^{***}	(3.82)									0.16	0.16	353	h, non-overlapping periods. The
var(WML	Japan	5.32***	(6.39)	0.61^{***}	(12.08)									0.37	0.37	353	for one-mont
1	Europe	2.59***	(3.74)	0.78***	(8.29)									0.59	0.58	353	regressions
	ns i	4.96***	(4.15)	0.70***	(8.78)									0.47	0.47	353	sults of AR(1)
		(Intercept)		RV(WML)		RV(RMRF)		beta(RMRF)		$beta^2(RMRF)$		error term		\mathbb{R}^2	Adj. R ²	Num. obs.	Each row shows the re

Table 16: Decomposition of the risk of momentum

lower than the average standard deviation of WML of 15% across the four regions in our sample (see Table 12). The risk-managed momentum return $r_{WML^*,t}$ in month t is calculated as:

$$r_{WML^*,t} = \frac{\sigma_{target}}{\hat{\sigma}_t} r_{WML,t}$$

where σ_{target} is the annualised volatility target, $\hat{\sigma}_t$ is the monthly volatility forecast for WML, and $r_{WML,t}$ is the return for the regular momentum strategy in month t.

Table 17 presents the summary statistics for the risk-managed momentum strategies and Figure 11 the corresponding cumulative return plots, both for the full sample period (1990:06-2020:04) and after the publication of the Barroso & Santa-Clara (2015) study (2014:11-2020:04). Compared to the regular momentum strategy, the risk-managed strategy has a higher return in all four regions over the full sample period as well as after the publication of the Barroso & Santa-Clara (2015) study. This comes with a roughly similar standard deviation. Thus, the Sharpe ratio improves substantially, for example, in Europe from 0.90 for the regular momentum strategy to 1.64 for the risk-managed momentum strategy over the full sample period. In line with Barroso & Santa-Clara (2015), one of the most important improvements is at the higher-order risks: The risk-managed strategy removes the high negative skewness and high excess kurtosis of momentum in the U.S., Europe, and the Asia Pacific ex Japan region. Additionally, the worst monthly returns (column "min. Ret.") are substantially improved in all regions except for Japan. Thus, the crash risk of momentum is significantly reduced.

Figure 12 illustrates the weights of the risk-managed momentum strategy to the WML factor in all four regions. The risk-managed strategies all have the lowest weight to WML in the early 2000s, related to the dot-com bubble, and in 2008 and 2009, related to the global financial crisis. Both were periods when the momentum strategy suffered large drawdowns during strong market recoveries. The dashed lines indicate the average weight to WML, which is above 1 in all four regions. This contrasts with Barroso & Santa-Clara (2015), who reported an average weight to WML of 0.90 in the U.S., albeit over the much longer sample period of 1927:03-2011:12.

	Mean Ret.	t-stat (Mean Ret.)	min. Ret.	max. Ret.	Std. Dev.	Kurtosis	Skewness	Sharpe			
US (1990	:06 - 2020:04	4)									
WML	6.35	2.00	-34.39	18.36	16.56	10.99	-1.48	0.38			
WML^*	12.97	4.17	-20.54	18.04	15.79	2.24	0.09	0.82			
US (2014	:11 - 2020:04	4)									
WML	4.36	0.74	-8.68	10.33	13.48	0.02	0.14	0.32			
WML*	6.79	1.09	-9.89	11.19	14.16	0.22	0.19	0.48			
Europe (1	1990:06 - 20	20:04)									
WML	12.08	4.58	-26.10	13.65	13.46	7.94	-1.24	0.90			
WML^*	25.12	7.96	-9.54	19.42	15.28	0.48	0.02	1.64			
Europe (2014:11- 2020:04)											
WML	11.21	2.77	-4.40	8.49	9.04	0.61	0.55	1.24			
WML*	17.94	2.98	-7.85	11.42	13.07	0.02	0.23	1.37			
Japan (19	990:06 - 202	0:04)									
WML	1.61	0.58	-19.83	14.95	14.79	2.94	-0.37	0.11			
WML^*	3.99	1.33	-20.50	14.59	15.80	2.67	-0.61	0.25			
Japan (20	014:11 - 202	0:04)									
WML	-1.68	-0.39	-8.50	8.44	10.18	1.52	-0.53	-0.16			
WML^*	-0.15	-0.03	-7.87	9.27	12.34	0.10	-0.23	-0.01			
Asia Paci	fic ex Japan	n (1990:06 - 2020:04	4)								
WML	10.15	3.49	-36.77	10.88	14.94	19.69	-2.92	0.68			
WML^*	19.61	6.51	-19.30	13.94	14.89	1.58	-0.38	1.32			
Asia Paci	fic ex Japan	n (2014:11 - 2020:04	4)								
WML	12.13	2.84	-5.44	6.45	9.49	-0.49	-0.02	1.28			
WML^*	23.57	3.20	-7.23	12.61	15.66	-0.18	0.29	1.51			

Table 17: Descriptive statistics for risk-managed momentum strategy

This table compares the performance statistics of the risk-managed momentum strategy in the four regions US, Europe, Japan and Asia Pacific ex Japan over the full sample period (1990:06 - 2020:04) and after the study from Barroso and Santa-Clara (2015) has been published (2014:11 - 2020:04). The risk-managed momentum strategy uses the monthly realized variance forecast based on the previous 126 trading days (six months) and a target volatility of 12 per cent p.a. to scale the exposure to the momentum factor WML. Monthly realized variances are defined as the sum of squared daily returns in the previous 126 trading days, divided by 126 and then multiplied by 21 to get a monthly variance forecast. Daily and monthly returns for the momentum strategies are from Kenneth French' website.

4.4.4 Risk-Managed Fama and French Factor Strategies

Based on the success of the risk-managed approach for the momentum strategy we also calculate a similar target volatility strategy for the five Fama and French factors. The calculation of the monthly variance forecast for each factor follows the calculation for momentum. Based on the last 126 daily returns (six months) of the respective factor at each



This figure plots the cumulative return of the standard (straight line) and risk-managed (dashed) momentum strategy WML (winners-minus-losers) in the four regions US, Europe, Japan and Asia Pacific ex Japan. The risk-managed momentum strategy uses the monthly realized variance based on the previous 126 trading days (six months) and a target volatility of 12 per cent p.a. to scale the exposure to the momentum factor WML. Monthly realized variances are defined as the sum of squared daily returns in the previous 126 trading days, divided by 126 and then multiplied by 21 to get a monthly variance forecast. The plots on the left-hand side show the cumulative return for the full sample period from 1990:06 to 2020:04 (347 months). The plots on the right-hand side show the cumulative returns for the recent sample period from 2014:11 to 2020:04 (66 months) after the study from Barroso and Santa-Clara (2015) has been published. Daily and monthly returns for the momentum strategies are from Kenneth French' website.

Figure 11: Risk-managed momentum (WML) strategy



This figure plots the weights of the risk-managed momentum strategy to the momentum factor WML (straight line) and the average weight over the full sample (dashed line) in the four regions US, Europe, Japan and Asia Pacific ex Japan. The risk-managed momentum strategy uses the monthly realized variance based on the previous 126 trading days (six months) and a target volatility of 12 per cent p.a. to scale the exposure to the momentum factor WML. Monthly realized variances are defined as the sum of squared daily returns in the previous 126 trading days (gix months) and gays, divided by 126 and then multiplied by 21 to get a monthly variance forecast. The sample period is from 1990:06 to 2020:04 (347 months). Daily and monthly returns for the momentum strategies are from Kenneth French' website.

Figure 12: Weights of the risk-managed momentum strategy

month-end it is defined as:

$$\hat{\sigma}_{FF,t}^2 = 21 \sum_{j=1}^{126} r_{FF,d_t-j}^2 / 126$$

where r_{FF}^2 are the daily returns of the respective Fama and French factor and $d_t - j$ is the time series of the dates of the last 126 daily returns at each month-end. For the market factor (RMRF), we set the target volatility to 15% p. a., as the market factor has a higher volatility than momentum in most regions. For the size (SMB), value (HML), profitability (RMW), and investment (CMA) factors, we set the annualised target volatility to 9%, which is the average volatility of these factors across the four regions (see Table 12).

Table 18 presents the summary statistics for the risk-managed investment strategies (denoted with a "*") for the Fama and French factors, again since June 1990 and after the publication of Barroso & Santa-Clara (2015) in November 2014, while Figures 13-17 illustrate the corresponding plots of the cumulative wealth.

Overall, we find that a similar risk-managed strategy fails to consistently improve the risk and return measures for the Fama and French factors despite the high predictability of their risk. The strongest results are for the profitability factor (RMW) and here especially in Europe and the U.S., where the risk-managed approach substantially improves the mean return. However, this comes with a markedly higher standard deviation and, thus, the Sharpe ratio does not improve. The risk-managed strategy also substantially improves the return and Sharpe ratio of the market factor (RMRF) in all regions except Japan until the strong and sudden market correction in March 2020 related to the coronavirus pandemic, where the market risk was clearly underestimated. For the value factor (HML), the risk-managed approach improves the return over the full sample but fails to improve the weak returns of the value factor in recent years. For the size factor (SMB) and the investment factor (CMA), the risk-managed strategy does not add much value relative to the plain factor strategy.

	Mean Ret.	t-stat (Mean Ret.)	min. Ret.	max. Ret.	Std. Dev.	Kurtosis	Skewness	Sharpe
US (1990:0	06 - 2020:04)							
RMRF	8.15	2.83	-17.23	13.65	14.95	1.48	-0.66	0.55
RMRF*	9.41	3.37	-19.14	13.76	14.41	1.63	-0.73	0.65
SMB	1.42	0.72	-14.91	18.32	10.61	4.77	0.44	0.13
SMB^*	1.11	0.55	-9.80	13.19	10.91	1.24	0.26	0.10
HML	1.36	0.67	-14.12	12.87	10.83	2.92	-0.05	0.13
HML*	2.11	0.96	-12.98	10.93	11.70	1.03	0.18	0.18
RMW	3.87	2.26	-18.34	13.33	9.04	10.91	-0.39	0.43
RMW^*	5.23	2.44	-17.92	10.22	11.26	3.16	-0.49	0.46
CMA	2.53	1.90	-6.86	9.56	7.07	2.48	0.65	0.36
CMA^*	2.83	1.46	-7.81	9.89	10.27	-0.05	0.22	0.28
US (2014:	11 - 2020:04)							
RMRF	9.06	1.36	-13.39	13.65	14.96	2.17	-0.51	0.61
RMRF*	8.70	1.20	-14.81	12.22	16.31	1.88	-1.00	0.53
SMB	-3.60	-0.92	-8.45	6.81	9.30	0.53	-0.07	-0.39
SMB^*	-4.51	-0.99	-9.80	9.22	10.94	1.15	0.05	-0.41
HML	-8.47	-1.89	-14.12	8.29	10.92	4.77	-0.61	-0.78
HML^*	-8.63	-1.83	-12.98	9.83	11.53	2.99	-0.08	-0.75
RMW	2.06	1.01	-2.89	3.29	4.75	-0.26	-0.07	0.43
RMW^*	3.38	0.94	-4.96	6.42	8.28	-0.12	0.04	0.41
CMA	-2.99	-1.28	-3.33	3.70	5.54	-0.04	0.55	-0.54
CMA^*	-5.65	-1.36	-6.02	6.92	10.00	0.07	0.39	-0.57
Europe (1	990:06 - 2020	0:04)						
RMRF	5.88	1.83	-22.03	13.67	16.85	1.75	-0.63	0.35
$RMRF^*$	7.10	2.34	-18.14	11.43	15.82	0.87	-0.51	0.45
SMB	0.83	0.60	-7.41	8.81	7.43	1.05	-0.05	0.11
SMB^*	0.46	0.29	-9.08	9.82	8.48	1.12	0.02	0.05
HML	2.84	1.75	-10.96	11.15	8.61	3.34	0.05	0.33
HML*	4.45	1.96	-15.40	9.14	11.96	1.72	-0.47	0.37
RMW	4.69	4.52	-4.84	6.08	5.47	0.76	-0.25	0.86
RMW^*	12.73	5.49	-8.48	9.88	11.79	0.08	0.09	1.08
CMA	1.61	1.37	-7.33	8.75	6.27	3.73	0.40	0.26
CMA^*	0.51	0.25	-9.87	10.32	11.02	0.72	-0.08	0.05
Europe (2	014:11- 2020:	:04)						
RMRF	1.56	0.24	-15.44	6.70	14.85	1.44	-0.86	0.11
RMRF*	1.77	0.23	-18.14	11.43	17.99	1.77	-0.90	0.10
SMB	2.68	1.06	-5.09	4.74	5.84	0.93	-0.09	0.46
SMB*	2.00	0.54	-9.08	4.80	8.66	1.57	-0.67	0.23

Table 18: Descriptive statistics for risk-managed factor strategies

HML	-6.86	-2.02	-10.96	6.36	8.24	5.12	-0.91	-0.83
HML*	-10.54	-2.19	-14.58	7.31	11.87	3.61	-0.99	-0.89
RMW	4.75	2.20	-3.85	3.25	4.97	0.22	-0.32	0.96
RMW*	12.66	2.59	-5.94	8.21	10.84	-0.23	0.06	1.17
CMA	-3.51	-1.94	-4.09	2.95	4.32	1.20	-0.01	-0.81
CMA^*	-8.45	-2.07	-7.82	6.27	9.99	0.50	-0.06	-0.85
Japan (1990	:06 - 2020:04)							
RMRF	0.96	0.28	-16.22	16.87	18.60	0.60	0.22	0.05
$RMRF^*$	0.06	0.02	-12.76	14.50	14.38	0.95	-0.04	0.00
SMB	1.36	0.68	-11.53	13.10	10.68	1.98	0.05	0.13
SMB^*	0.95	0.52	-9.39	9.99	9.81	0.92	-0.15	0.10
HML	3.23	1.70	-14.25	10.05	10.08	2.10	-0.20	0.32
HML*	3.84	1.78	-11.01	11.08	11.41	0.65	-0.12	0.34
RMW	1.46	1.07	-8.09	8.79	7.30	2.08	0.06	0.20
RMW*	1.67	0.85	-10.14	11.37	10.50	1.14	0.13	0.16
CMA	0.46	0.30	-12.99	7.54	8.25	4.27	-0.77	0.06
CMA^*	1.72	0.79	-14.23	8.18	11.64	1.73	-0.66	0.15
Japan (2014	:11 - 2020:04)							
RMRF	5.25	0.95	-10.09	9.26	12.72	0.92	-0.65	0.41
$RMRF^*$	3.19	0.57	-12.76	7.26	13.03	2.55	-1.25	0.24
SMB	2.81	0.97	-4.99	3.95	6.73	0.38	-0.59	0.42
SMB^*	3.07	0.81	-8.72	4.37	8.75	1.35	-0.91	0.35
HML	-4.33	-1.03	-6.99	6.44	10.03	-0.22	0.18	-0.43
HML^*	-4.61	-1.05	-6.29	5.86	10.50	-0.66	0.07	-0.44
RMW	3.62	1.65	-2.89	3.59	5.05	-0.46	0.10	0.72
RMW^*	6.54	1.53	-4.79	8.33	9.71	-0.15	0.26	0.67
CMA	-2.88	-1.21	-6.11	3.07	5.64	1.45	-0.71	-0.51
CMA^*	-3.59	-0.78	-9.31	6.98	10.97	0.52	-0.56	-0.33
Asia Pacific	ex Japan (199	0:06 - 2020:04)						
RMRF	7.91	2.02	-26.00	20.52	20.34	2.58	-0.42	0.39
$RMRF^*$	8.51	2.17	-25.49	23.78	20.33	2.43	-0.50	0.42
SMB	-1.63	-0.88	-11.43	13.30	9.97	2.80	0.42	-0.16
SMB^*	-2.11	-1.01	-12.31	14.47	11.30	1.96	0.21	-0.19
HML	7.06	3.55	-8.91	23.70	10.38	10.49	1.43	0.68
HML*	8.60	4.08	-8.26	19.52	10.91	4.04	0.76	0.79
RMW	3.52	2.00	-12.20	11.14	9.31	3.03	-0.16	0.38
RMW^*	3.66	1.84	-11.25	9.52	10.55	1.55	-0.47	0.35
CMA	3.73	2.37	-7.65	8.45	8.33	1.82	0.06	0.45
CMA^*	4.89	2.60	-8.04	8.64	9.91	0.11	-0.06	0.49
Asia Pacific	ex Japan (2014	4:11 - 2020:04)						
RMRF	-0.68	-0.10	-19.06	11.13	16.52	3.46	-0.92	-0.04
$RMRF^*$	-3.06	-0.34	-25.49	9.56	21.10	3.59	-1.31	-0.15

SMB	-4.15	-1.14	-6.10	10.24	8.69	6.02	1.53	-0.48
SMB^*	-7.30	-1.47	-8.82	14.47	12.07	5.55	1.37	-0.60
HML	2.10	0.68	-5.85	4.36	7.20	-0.04	-0.55	0.29
HML*	3.89	0.88	-6.71	7.00	10.24	-0.38	-0.35	0.38
RMW	4.55	1.53	-6.26	6.46	6.81	2.64	-0.33	0.67
RMW*	6.97	1.70	-7.70	7.69	9.35	1.36	-0.37	0.75
CMA	0.74	0.39	-3.58	2.74	4.41	0.48	-0.24	0.17
CMA^*	1.71	0.43	-7.14	5.96	9.15	0.20	-0.04	0.19

This table compares the performance statistics of the risk-managed factor strategies in the four regions US, Europe, Japan and Asia Pacific ex Japan over the full sample period (1990:06 - 2020:04) and after the study from Barroso and Santa-Clara (2015) has been published (2014:11 - 2020:04). The risk-managed factor strategies use the monthly realized variance based on the previous 126 trading days (six months) and a target volatility to scale the exposure to the respective factor. The target volatility is set to 15 per cent p.a. for the market factor (RMRF) and nine per cent p.a. for the size (SMB), value (HML), profitability (RMW) and investment (CMA) factor. Monthly realized variances are defined as the sum of squared daily returns in the previous 126 trading days, divided by 126 and then multiplied by 21 to get a monthly variance forecast. Daily and monthly returns for the risk factors are from Kenneth French' website.


This figure plots the cumulative return of the standard (straight line) and risk-managed (dashed) market strategy RMRF in the four regions US, Europe, Japan and Asia Pacific ex Japan. The risk-managed market strategy uses the monthly realized variance based on the previous 126 trading days (six months) and a target volatility of 12 per cent p.a. to scale the exposure to the market factor RMRF. Monthly realized variances are defined as the sum of squared daily returns in the previous 126 trading days, divided by 126 and then multiplied by 21 to get a monthly variance forecast. The plots on the left-hand side show the cumulative return for the full sample period from 1990:06 to 2020:04 (347 months). The plots on the right-hand side show the cumulative return for the recent sample period from 2014:11 to 2020:04 (66 months) after the study from Barroso and Santa-Clara (2015) has been published. Daily and monthly returns for the market factor are from Kenneth French' website.

Figure 13: Risk-managed market (RMRF) strategy



This figure plots the cumulative return of the standard (straight line) and risk-managed (dashed) size strategy SMB in the four regions US, Europe, Japan and Asia Pacific ex Japan. The risk-managed size strategy uses the monthly realized variance based on the previous 126 trading days (six months) and a target volatility of nine per cent p.a. to scale the exposure to the size factor SMB. Monthly realized variances are defined as the sum of squared daily returns in the previous 126 trading days, divided by 126 and then multiplied by 21 to get a monthly variance forecast. The plots on the left-hand side show the cumulative return for the full sample period from 1990:06 to 2020:04 (347 months). The plots on the right-hand side show the cumulative return for the recent sample period from 2014:11 to 2020:04 (66 months) after the study from Barroso and Santa–Clara (2015) has been published. Daily and monthly returns for the size factor are from Kenneth French' website.

Figure 14: Risk-managed size (SMB) strategy



This figure plots the cumulative return of the standard (straight line) and risk-managed (dashed) value strategy HML in the four regions US, Europe, Japan and Asia Pacific ex Japan. The risk-managed value strategy uses the monthly realized variance based on the previous 126 trading days (six months) and a target volatility of nine per cent p.a. to scale the exposure to the value factor HML. Monthly realized variances are defined as the sum of squared daily returns in the previous 126 trading days, divided by 126 and then multiplied by 21 to get a monthly variance forecast. The plots on the left-hand side show the cumulative return for the full sample period from 1990:06 to 2020:04 (347 months). The plots on the right-hand side show the cumulative returns for the value factor are from Kenneth French' website.

Figure 15: Risk-managed value (HML) strategy



This figure plots the cumulative return of the standard (straight line) and risk-managed (dashed) profitability strategy RMW (winners-minus-losers) in the four regions US, Europe, Japan and Asia Pacific ex Japan. The risk-managed profitability strategy uses the monthly realized variance based on the previous 126 trading days (six months) and a target volatility of nine per cent p.a. to scale the exposure to the profitability factor RMW. Monthly realized variances are defined as the sum of squared daily returns in the previous 126 trading days, divided by 126 and then multiplied by 21 to get a monthly variance forecast. The plots on the left-hand side show the cumulative return for the full sample period from 1990:06 to 2020:04 (347 months). The plots on the right-hand side show the cumulative return for the recent sample period from 2014:11 to 2020:04 (66 months) after the study from Barroso and Santa–Clara (2015) has been published. Daily and monthly returns for the profitability strategies are from Kenneth French' website.

Figure 16: Risk-managed profitability (RMW) strategy



This figure plots the cumulative return of the standard (straight line) and risk-managed (dashed) investment strategy CMA in the four regions US, Europe, Japan and Asia Pacific ex Japan. The risk-managed investment strategy uses the monthly realized variance based on the previous 126 trading days (six months) and a target volatility of 12e per cent p.a. to scale the exposure to the investment factor CMA. Monthly realized variances are defined as the sum of squared daily returns in the previous 126 trading days, divided by 126 and then multiplied by 21 to get a monthly variance forecast. The plots on the left-hand side show the cumulative return for the full sample period from 1990:06 to 2020:04 (347 months). The plots on the right-hand side show the cumulative return for the recent sample period from 2014:11 to 2020:04 (66 months) after the study from Barroso and Santa–Clara (2015) has been published. Daily and monthly returns for the investment factor are from Kenneth French' website.

Figure 17: Risk-managed investment (CMA) strategy

4.5 Chapter Conclusion

Existing research, such as that by Barroso & Santa-Clara (2015), reveals that the distribution of equity momentum returns is highly negatively skewed with large drawdowns. However, it also demonstrates that the risk of momentum is highly predictable in the United States. In this paper we reveal that the risk of momentum is not only predictable in the U.S. but also in all other developed market equity regions, in other words Europe, Japan, and the Asia Pacific region excluding Japan. Further, we demonstrate that the predictability of the variance is not unique to the momentum strategy but rather is a common characteristic that applies to all five Fama and French factors, market (RMRF), size (SMB), value (HML), profitability (RMW), and investments (CMA). We find that the risk of the investment factor, which is not included in the analysis of Barroso & Santa-Clara (2015), and the value factor reveal an ever higher persistence than momentum, on average, across the four regions. Additionally, the persistence in risk varies substantially by region: The AR(1) coefficients across all six strategies average approximately 0.66 in both the U.S. and Europe, 0.55 in Japan, and only 0.48 in the Asia Pacific ex Japan region. We further indicate that a risk-managed investment strategy based on an AR(1) volatility forecast and a volatility target approach substantially improves the risk-return profile of the momentum strategy, mainly by improving the skewness and kurtosis and thus reducing its crash risk. However, the same strategy fails to improve the risk-return profile for the other risk factors despite the high predictability of their risk. Decomposing the risk of momentum reveals that the vast majority of the risk is strategy-specific and not driven by the variance of the broad stock market. This might explain the success of the risk-managed strategy for momentum.

Importantly, the time series of the variance of momentum strategies and its residuals from AR(1) first-order AR models are highly autocorrelated. Thus, as opposed to Barroso & Santa-Clara (2015), our empirical results are based on heteroskedasticity- and autocorrelation-consistent (HAC) standard errors to circumvent this issue.

We demonstrate that the high autocorrelation of momentum risk is limited not only to the first lag but is statistically significant for up to approximately 10 lags based on monthly data. Thus, future research might expand the set of autocorrelation coefficients included in the analysis to further improve the variance forecast of momentum. Furthermore, as we have shown in Section 4.4.2.1, the variance of the broad stock market also has some explanatory power for the contemporaneous variance of momentum. To further improve the variance forecast of momentum future research might analyse the relationship between the future variance of momentum and past stock market variance.

5 Conclusion

In Chapter 2 (Blankenburg (2021a)) we examine how firm characteristics contribute to the empirical finding that analyst earnings forecasts are too optimistic. We focus on firm characteristics that underlie popular risk-factor models with a focus on investment and profitability measures, as they are the main drivers of the cross-section of expected returns (Hou et al., 2017).

Overall, our results emphasise the role of information uncertainty when estimating the value of a firm. According to Zhang (2006) information uncertainty can potentially stem from two sources: volatility of a firm's underlying fundamentals and poor information. Based on this, he argues that high-uncertainty stocks are likely to be growth stocks. Moreover, as small firms have less information available to the market, he uses firm size as one proxy for information uncertainty. In line with that, we find that growth stocks and, to a lesser extent, also small-cap stocks have a higher volatility in their investment and profitability measures in addition to more volatile returns. Furthermore, we document that small-growth stocks have the most negative and most volatile earnings forecast errors. Based on panel regressions, we further provide evidence that measures of corporate investments are negatively related to future earnings forecast errors. This implies that higher investments (specifically measured via Investment-to-Capital) lead to either lower actual earnings in the next period, higher estimated earnings for the next period, or a combination of the two. Higher profitability, measured as Operating Profitability and Return-on-Equity, has the opposite effect and leads to improved earnings forecast errors. When comparing the results for portfolios of value and growth stocks, we find that the magnitude of the coefficients for the investment and profitability measures is more pronounced for growth stocks. Additionally, the tested corporate fundamentals explain a much higher variance of the earnings forecast errors of growth stocks compared to value stocks.

To our best knowledge, we contribute to the literature the first study that directly links the

properties of earnings forecast errors to corporate fundamentals underlying the risk-factors in the most important factor models for the cross-section of stock returns. Moreover, our findings provide further evidence on the role of information uncertainty, potentially caused by volatility in a firm's underlying fundamentals and poor information, in evaluating a company's value in light of new information. Thus, the presented evidence also provides new insights into the underlying cause of the value effect. We conclude that mispricing in the form of earnings forecast errors should be taken into account when analysing the value effect.

Existing research, such as that conducted by Stambaugh & Yuan (2017), show that factor models can be useful to examine whether expected returns reflect some sort of risk or mispricing. Factors may capture systematic risk where investors demand a risk premium as compensation for bearing that risk, or factors can capture sources of mispricing, such as investor sentiment or uncertainty related to earnings. In Chapter 3 (Blankenburg (2021b)) we examine how uncertainty around earnings as proxied by earnings forecast errors, which we introduced in Chapter 2, contribute to the mispricing phenomenon. We focus on the Fama & French (2015) five-factor model, the Carhart (1997) four-factor model, and the Hou et al. (2015) q-factor model, as they largely summarise the cross-section of average stock returns. Moreover, we add earnings forecast errors to the four-factor model of Stambaugh & Yuan (2017), which includes two mispricing factors.

We find that, when significant, the coefficient for earnings forecast errors is always strongly positive, which is mostly the case for large-cap portfolios. This implies that less mispricing in the form of less negative earnings forecast errors corresponds to higher contemporaneous returns. Adding earnings forecast errors to existing risk-factor models also lowers the estimated betas of the market excess return and the value risk factor (HML) for value stocks in all tested models. Therefore, our results suggest that some of the perceived general stock market risk and the value premium might instead be uncertainty regarding earnings as measured by earnings forecast errors. Furthermore, when added to the Stambaugh & Yuan (2017) four-factor model, earnings forecast errors are the most significant mispricing factor among the three included, by far. Thus, we contribute evidence that earnings forecast errors capture a distinctively different mispricing aspect not captured by the other two mispricing factors, namely, uncertainty regarding earnings. Overall, adding earnings forecast errors to existing risk-factor models significantly raises the portion of variability explained in the returns of the 25 size- and book-to-market sorted portfolios in all four tested models. Thus, we conclude that the more complex models including earnings forecast errors are significantly better at explaining portfolio returns.

Chapter 4 (Blankenburg (2021c)) looks at the risk of equity momentum strategies. Previous literature, such as that of Barroso & Santa-Clara (2015), documents that the distribution of equity momentum returns is highly negatively skewed with large drawdowns. But they also show that the risk of momentum is highly predictable. However, most papers study this phenomenon only for the U.S. market or selected European countries. Our contribution is that we extend the previous studies to a larger sample and show that the risk of momentum is not only predictable in the U.S. but also in all other developed market equity regions -Europe, Japan, and the Asia Pacific region excluding Japan. Further, we provide evidence that the predictability of the variance is not unique to the momentum strategy but rather a common characteristic that applies to all five Fama and French factors - market excess return (RMRF), size (SMB), value (HML), profitability (RMW) and investments (CMA).

We further contribute that a risk-managed investment strategy based on an AR(1) volatility forecast and a volatility target approach substantially improves the risk-return profile of the momentum strategy in all developed market regions, mainly by improving the skewness and kurtosis and thus reducing its crash risk. The risk-managed strategy remains successful after it was first proposed by Barroso & Santa-Clara (2015). However, we document that the same strategy fails to improve the risk-return profile for the other risk factors despite the high predictability of their risk. Decomposing the risk of momentum shows that the vast majority of the risk is strategy-specific and is not driven by the variance of the broad stock market. Thus, we conclude that this might explain the success of the risk-managed strategy for momentum.

In sum, this dissertation sheds fresh and new light on earnings forecast errors and the risk of momentum. The presented empirical findings highlight the importance of understanding the driving forces behind earnings forecast errors based on their broad empirical power in explaining the cross-section of stock returns. Regarding Chapter 2, the provided results deserve further investigation on a broader set of company characteristics and whether the documented findings can be confirmed outside the United States. Regarding Chapter 3, future research might expand on the set of mispricing factors to examine their interaction with earnings forecast errors and analyse earnings forecast errors over various horizons. Finally, in Chapter 4, we demonstrate that the high autocorrelation of momentum risk is limited not only to the first lag but is statistically significant for up to approximately 10 lags based on monthly data. Therefore, an important avenue for future research is to expand the set of autocorrelation coefficients included in the analysis to further improve the variance forecast.

A Appendix to Chapter 3: Full Regression Details

55	.03	(.03)	.77***	(.12)	20.	(.30)	.76	(.38)	30	(.27)	66	(.56)	.55	.47	34	6.74	rebalanced id mumber T-RF, the
54	03	(.02)	1.00^{***}	(.08)	.04	(.16)	.20	(.20)	.37*	(.15)	.41	(.36)	67.	.75	34	20.83	rtfolios are 1 o. The secor s return MK
53	.00	(.01)	.88	(.05)	11	(60.)	.05	(.15)	$.21^{*}$	(60.)	06	(.24)	.87	.84	34	36.74	, and the po ion portfoli narket exces 5
52	02	(.01)	1.07^{***}	(90.)	27^{*}	(.11)	05	(11)	.45***	(80.)	.05	(.18)	.91	06:	34	60.12	June of $t+1$ ge capitalisa rised of the r 01, *p < 0.0
51	.02	(.01)	1.00^{***}	(.05)	26^{*}	(.11)	47^{***}	(20.)	$.20^{*}$	(.10)	.21	(.11)	.93	.91	34	69.22	y of year t to .5x is the lar nodel is comp. 0.001, **p < 0
45	.01	(.02)	1.07^{***}	(80.)	.22	(.21)	.57***	(.14)	05	(.15)	.58	(.33)	.78	.75	34	20.43	ated from Jul tion portfolio, h five-factor n old. *** $p < 0$
44	01	(.01)	1.02^{***}	(80)	.61***	(.11)	.35*	(.14)	$.29^{*}$	(.13)	06	(.15)	.82	67.	34	25.86	as are calcul cet capitalisa Fama-Frenc o < 0.05 in b
43	.00	(.01)	.90***	(.07)	.68***	(.13)	.21	(.10)	.06	(.14)	.07	(.28)	.84	.81	34	29.76	tfolio returi small mark rtfolio. The tients with <i>j</i>
42	00	(.01)	.98***	(80.)	.44***	(60.)	07	(20.)	.13	(.12)	.25	(.15)	.88	.86	34	40.81	d excess por o: 1x is the ge-Value por eses. Coeffic
41	.04*	(.01)	.84***	(.11)	.67***	(.15)	27*	(.12)	26	(.14)	01	(.15)	.88	.85	34	39.45	lue-weighte size portfoli 5 is the Lar, in parenth
35	.05**	(.02)	.81***	(.11)	.86***	(.14)	.34*	(.15)	.01	(.16)	.07	(.17)	77.	.73	34	18.68	015. The va resents the l portfolio 5 h are showr
34	00	(.01)	.99***	(.12)	.71**	(.21)	.33**	(.10)	.20	(.11)	.18	(.20)	.85	.82	34	30.63	rom 1982-2 ortfolios rep ortfolio and r lags, whic
33	02	(.02)	1.05^{***}	(.05)	.80***	(20.)	.35**	(.10)	.21	(.14)	12	(.15)	68.	.87	34	47.07	ation years 1 co-market po all-Growth p ors with fou
32	00	(.01)	1.15^{***}	(.05)	.90***	(.08)	00.	(.10)	.16	(.10)	01	(.20)	.94	.93	34	87.50	xortfolio form ze and book- 11 is the Sm) standard eri
31	00.	(10.)	.99***	(.11)	.88	(.23)	49^{***}	(.12)	23	(.11)	.28	(.20)	68.	.87	34	46.22	t for the 34] for the 25 s aus, portfolic I West (1987
25	04	(.03)	1.14^{***}	(.13)	.99***	(.14)	.44**	(.14)	.13	(.28)	.36	(.29)	.83	.80	34	27.18	ok-to-marke first number portfolio. Tl g Newey and
24	03**	(.01)	1.06^{***}	(.05)	.74***	(60.)	.37***	(60.)	.37***	(.08)	.02	(.17)	.93	.91	34	71.82	a size and bo of t+1. The arket (Value) doulated usin
23	.01	(.02)	L.04***	(80.)	L.34***	(.14)	.03	(.14)	.22*	(60.)	00	(.31)	.91	68.	34	56.90	ies formed of ar t to June - v book-to-ma atistics are ca
22	.00	(.01)	L.01***]	(90.)	.96	(80.)	.06	(.16)	.13	(.11)	07	(.20)	06.	.88	34	49.46	on 25 portfo m July of ye s the high lov 3MA. Test-sti
21	01	(.01)	0.05***	(20.)	L.05***	(.17)	26	(.21)	.02	(.15)	17	(.31)	.85	.82	34	31.60	ccess returns calculated fro folio and x5 i ment factor C
15	.01	(.01)	1.13***]	(.08)	.32***	(.14)	.32**	(60.)	10	(.17)	.53*	(.22)	.91	-06 -	34	59.66	ain annual e returns and Growth) port ad the invest
14	.02	(.02)	1.11***	(.08)	1.49***	(.12)	06	(.13)	-00	(.17)	$.64^{**}$	(.20)	06.	.88	34	48.34	model to exp vith portfolio k-to-market (actor RMW a
13	.03	(.02)	.97***	(80)	1.61***	(.12)	15	(60.)	28	(.19)	.38*	(.18)	06.	88.	34	49.02	th five-factor are alligned v s the low boo profitability fi
12	.05*	(.02)	.88***	(.08)	1.49^{***}	(.18)	–.23*	(.11)	47*	(.19)	.15	(.18)	.89	.87	34	45.82	e Fàma-Fren. ctor returns ortfolio: x1 i. r HML, the _F
11	00	(10.)	1.08***	(.10)	1.61*** 1	(.15)	36**	(.13)	53**	(.15)	.21	(.16)	.92	.91	34	67.75	ability of the t+1. Risk fa c-to-market p- te value factor
	(Intercept)		MIKT-RF 1		SMB		HML		RMW		CMA		\mathbb{R}^2	Adj. R ²	Num. obs.	F statistic	The table tests the at the end of June represents the book size factor SMB, th

model
ive-factor
ama-French f
for F
statistics
Summary
19:
Table

	2	14	3)	***	2)	90	(T	1	(6)	25	(T.	57	(<u>5</u>)	39	78)	9	9	4	56	
	5	0.	0.)		(.1	0	(.3		(.	 *	(1) (1)		(12 (12 (12) (12) (12) (12) (12) (12) (1	ۍ ۳	2) (7.		4	¢,	⁴ 5.0	of t+1, lisation 1 of the month 0.05 in
	54	0	.00	.96 [.]	30.)	30.	.15	1.	(.17	.47	(.14	ŝ	(.28	* 8.02	(2.2	.84	8.	34	23.7	t to June arge capita i comprise nsensus 12 s with $p <$
	53	.01	(10.)	.87***	(.05)	12	(.08)	02	(.14)	.22*	(80.)	.04	(.18)	3.72**	(.62)	83.	.87	34	37.19	uly of year 5x is the la 5r model is 1 minus co Coefficient
SIC	52	02	(10.)	1.04***	(.05)	28**	(60.)	10	(.10)	.48***	(00.)	60.	(.15)	1.88	(1.10)	.92	6.	34	52.05	ated from J n portfolio, ch five-fact in June t+ arentheses.
erro	51	.02	(.01)	1.00***	(.05)	27*	(.11)	47***	(20.)	:20	(.10)	.20	(.11)	41	(1.06)	.93	.91	34	55.70	ns are calcul capitalisatio e Fama-Frer are measured e shown in p
ecast	45	.03	(.02)	1.02***	(60.)	.32	(.23)	$.50^{**}$	(.17)	.03	(.16)	.49	(.36)	2.99	(1.49)	.80	.75	34	17.65	ortfolio retur small market portfolio. Th rnings per sh ags, which ar
ss for	44	.02	(.01)	.96	(.08)	$.64^{***}$	(.10)	.27	(.15)	$.40^{*}$	(.18)	16	(.15)	5.60^{**}	(1.77)	.85	.81	34	24.71	hted excess p io: 1x is the Large-Value 12 month ea rs with four 1
ning	43	.02	(10.)	.89***	(.04)	.63***	(.13)	.14	(.11)	.18	(.13)	.10	(.24)	6.11^{**}	(2.04)	.88	.86	34	33.80	 value-weig size portfol size is the ual trailing andard erro
d eaı	42	.02	(.01)	.96	(90)	$.42^{***}$	(.11)	14	(20.)	$.24^{*}$	(.10)	.30*	(.13)	5.14^{***}	(.80)	.91	68.	34	43.77	52-2015. The presents the and portfol as firms' act est (1987) st
el an	41	.07***	(.01)	.83***	(70.)	.70***	(.11)	35**	(.12)	08	(.17)	.06	(.12)	5.02^{**}	(1.48)	.91	83.	34	45.42	ears from 198 portfolios re wth portfolios t are defined ewey and W
mode	35	.09***	(.02)	.73***	(90.)	83***	(.12)	.30	(.15)	.23	(.11)	11	(.22)	9.22***	(1.44)	.85	.81	34	24.66	formation y ok-to-market e Small-Gro June of year ated using N
ctor .	34	.03**	(10.)	94^{***}	(.08)	67***	(.18)	.19	(.10)	.34**	(.11)	.18	(.15)	.59***	(1.20)	.88	.86	34	34.00	34 portfolio size and bo folio 11 is th the sort for ' cs are calcul cs are calcul
/e-fa	33	.01	(10)	.05***	(90.)	77***	(60.)	30**	(.10)	$.34^{*}$	(.13)	12	(.13)	4.42* 6	1.68)	.91	68.	34	45.70	arket for the 20 ber for the 20 . Thus, port cast error in Test-statist
ch fiv	32	.01	.01)	12*** 1	.05))1***	.08)	04	.10)	.23	.13)	00.	.18)	2.36	1.28) ()	.94	.93	34	5.40	1 book-to-m le first numl le) portfolio arnings fore r cent levels r
Fene	I	4*	02)	5*** 1.)8)	····	(8)	***T	(1)	10	(2)	ъ*	(9)	2** 2	(16	10	39	4	.58 7	I on size and s of t+1. Th narket (Val) portfolios e t and 99 pe
na-I	6.2	1 .0); ()		()		: ;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;	*	: :	T.		ς.	: 	2.6	2) (.9	5.	~	~	9 46	olios formec ar t to June w book-to-r te-weighted te 1 per cen
r Fai	25	0. –	.04	* 1.10	(.14	1.00	(.14	42	(.15	E.	(.27	35.	(.26	3.6	(3.0)	.84	<u>8</u> .	34	22.8	on 25 portf. 1 July of ye the high lo CMA. Valı y year at th y year at th
s foi	24	02	(.02)	1.05**	(.05)	.74***	(60.)	.35***	(60.)	.39***	(60.)	.02	(.16)	1.24	(1.32)	.93	.91	34	58.80	sss returns e ulated from and x5 is ment factor immed ever
istic	23	.03	(.02)	1.01***	(.10)	1.32^{***}	(.15)	01	(.13)	.27**	(60.)	.02	(.28)	2.42	(2.06)	.91	<u> 66</u>	34	48.32	annual exo rns and calc th) portfolid d the investi arrors are tr
stat	22	.02	(.02)	1.00***	(90.)	.95***	(60.)	.03	(.15)	.18	(.10)	01	(.19)	1.98	(1.13)	06.	<u>8</u> .	34	42.31	s to explain ortfolio retu arket (Grow or RMW an ugs forecast
nary	21	00.	(.01)	1.04^{***}	(20.)	1.07***	(.17)	26	(.20)	.03	(.13)	14	(.31)	.71	(.62)	.85	.82	34	25.70	orecast erro igned with r v book-to-m itability fact tarnii ear t. Earnii
Sumi	15	.07***	(.02)	1.06***	(.06)	1.21^{***}	(.14)	$.19^{*}$	(80)	05	(.17)	$.61^{*}$	(.26)	5.56***	(1.31)	.93	.92	34	61.67	ng earnings sturns are all x1 is the lo ML, the prof er share in y
20:	14	.03	(.03)	1.09***	(.08)	1.48***	(.12)	07	(.13)	07	(.18)	.63**	(.19)	1.23	(1.57)	06.	.87	34	39.17	nodel includ Risk factor rv cet portfolio: alue factor H otal assets p otal assets p
able	13	.05	(.03)	96***	(.07)	.60***	(.12)	18	(.10)	25	(.22)	.39*	(.17)	1.20	(2.07)	06.	<u>8</u> .	34	39.76	five-factor n 5 June t+1. 1 5 MB, the vs 5 SMB, the vs t scaled by t
L	12	.02	(.03)	89***	(20.)	51*** 1	(.20)	21	(.13)	49*	(.20)	.11	(.16)	-1.27	1.33) (.89	.87	34	37.80 .	Fama-French at the end of resents the l te size factor red in June p < 0.05
	11	02	.04)	····· ··· ··· ··· ··· ··· ··· ··· ···) (60.	62*** 1.	.15) (.36*	.13) (53*** -	.14) (.20	.18) (39 -	.93) (.92	.91	34	4.91 5	5 bility of the . is rebalanced : i number rep MKT-RF, th share measu *p < 0.01, *j
		(Intercept) -		MKT-RF 1.		SMB 1.		HMIL -	<u> </u>	RMW	<u> </u>	CMA	<u> </u>	EFE -	Ŭ	\mathbb{R}^2	Adj. R ²	Num. obs.	F statistic 5.	The table tests the a and the portfolios are portfolio. The second market excess return expected earnings per bold. *** $p < 0.001$, *

errors
forecast
earnings
and
model
tor
re-fac
fiv
Fama-French
for
statistics
Summary
20:
Table

55	00.	(.02)	.90***	(.16)	11	(.31)	.38**	(.14)	08	(.24)	.50	.43	34	7.22	arced at the ar represents e size factor
54	00	(10.)	.89***	(.08)	.16	(.17)	$.50^{**}$	(.16)	.02	(.14)	.73	.70	34	19.91	ss are rebals cond numbe IKT-RF, th
53	.01	(.01)	.84***	(.05)	13	(.06)	.12	(.10)	.04	(.08)	.86	.84	34	43.02	he portfolk blio. The sex ss return M
52	00.	(.01)	.98***	(90.)	25***	(90.)	.14	(.12)	.01	(.05)	.87	.85	34	46.56	of t+1, and sation portfo market exce
51	.03**	(.01)	.93***	(.05)	21	(.14)	30^{***}	(80.)	-07	(.04)	.92	06:	34	78.57	ear t to June of large capitalis uprised of the
45	.02	(.02)	1.03***	(80.)	.39	(.20)	.76***	(.10)	01	(90.)	.76	.73	34	23.56	om July of y olio, 5x is the model is cor
44	00	(.01)	.96.	(.08)	.59***	(.13)	$.46^{**}$	(.13)	.06	(.13)	.81	.78	34	30.87	calculated fi sation portf t four-factor 1, *p < 0.05
43	00.	(.01)	.88	(90.)	.69***	(60.)	.27***	(90.)	.05	(.11)	.84	.82	34	38.94	returns are thet capitali The Carhari 1, **p < 0.0
42	.02	(.01)	.93***	(90.)	.52***	(60.)	20.	(.08)	02	(.08)	.87	.85	34	47.64	ss portfolio te small ma portfolio. ' *** $p < 0.00$
41	.02	(.02)	.89***	(.12)	.65***	(.18)	– .37**	(.10)	.02	(90.)	.86	.84	34	45.66	sighted exce blo: 1x is th Large-Value 55 in bold .
35	.05***	(.01)	.80***	(.10)	.88	(.15)	.38***	(.10)	.04	(.07)	77.	.74	34	24.35	The value-we be size portform 0.55 is the with $p < 0.6$
34	.01	(.01)	.92***	(60.)	.75***	(.18)	.49***	(80.)	.08	(90.)	.84	.82	34	37.62	.982-2015. 7 epresents th and portfoli Coefficients
33	01	(10.)	1.04^{***}	(.05)	.79***	(.11)	.36***	(00.)	10	(.08)	.89	88.	34	60.34	years from 7 th portfolios 1 th portfolio arentheses.
32	00.	(.01)	1.11^{***}	(90.)	.89***	(60.)	20.	(.05)	.05	(60.)	.94	.93	34	109.04	io formation ook-to-marke s Small-Grow e shown in p
31	00	(.01)	1.00^{***}	(.10)	$.94^{***}$	(.22)	45***	(.08)	-07	(.05)	89.	.87	34	56.13	the 34 portfol 25 size and be folio 11 is the lags, which a
25	03	(.02)	.07***	(.10)	L.09***	(.17)	$.64^{***}$	(.13)	.05	(60.)	.82	.80	34	33.13	o-market for aber for the Thus, port rs with four
24	02	(.01)	98***	(.04)	74***]	(.08)	53^{***}	(.10)	90.	(90.)	-06 06	68.	34	68.06	and book-te The first nur Le) portfolic andard errc
23	.02	(10.)	.99***	(60.)	1.35^{***}	(.17)	II.	(60.)	00	(20.)	06.	83.	34	67.45	rmed on size une of t+1. 7 -market (Val Vest (1987) si
22	.02	(10.)	1.01^{***}	(90.)	.96	(.08)	.05	(.10)	12	(.08)	.91	68.	34	69.36	5 portfolios for of year t to h low book-to Newey and Y
21	01	(.01)	1.07^{***}	(.10)	1.01^{***}	(.17)	32^{*}	(.12)	04	(.11)	.85	.83	34	40.66	returns on 2 ed from July x5 is the hig x5 ulated using
15	.02*	(10.)	1.10^{***}	(80.)	1.47^{***}	(.13)	.47***	(.05)	01	(90.)	06.	83.	34	66.28	annual excess s and calculat portfolio and tistics are cal
14	.02	(.02)	1.04^{***}	(.06)	1.63^{***}	(.13)	.20*	(.08)	$.21^{*}$	(60.)	06.	83.	34	64.60	el to explain tfolio return et (Growth) ML. Test-sta
13	.02	(.02)	.96***	(20.)	1.69^{***}	(.11)	07	(60.)	.15	(60.)	.90	88.	34	61.97	-factor mode aed with por ook-to-marks im factor W
12	.02	(10)	$.95^{***}$	(60.)	51***	(.17)	33**	(.10)	60.	(60.)	-87	.85	34	48.06	Carhart fou. mus are allig is the low b the moment
11	02	(10)	18***	(80.)	67*** 1	(.17)	50*** -	(.11)	06	(60.)	.90	83.	34	65.23	ability of the isk factor retu portfolio: x1 or HML and
	(Intercept)		MKT-RF 1		SMB 1		- HML		WML		\mathbb{R}^2	Adj. R ²	Num. obs.	F statistic	The table tests the end of June t+1. R the book-to-market SMB, the value fact

model
our-factor
Carhart fo
for (
statistics
Summary
Table 21:

55	.02	(70.) 89.	(.15)	08	(.30)	38**	(.14)	- 00	(.22)	8.40	(8.40)	53.	.44	34	6.29	and the rrtfolio. June t J5
54	.02	(20.) 84***	(.10)	.19	(.17)	.45*	(.17)	00	(.10)	6.60^{***}	(1.74)	17.	.73	34	18.71	une of $t+1$, ttalisation po aarket excess measured in 0.01, *p < 0.0
53	.02*	(.01) .82***	(.05)	10	(.07)	.07	(.11)	02	(.05)	3.60^{***}	(.80)	<u>8</u> .	.85	34	39.53	of year t to J the large cap tised of the r gs per share 001, **p < (
52	.01	(TO.)	(20.)	25***	(90.)	.13	(.12)	.01	(.05)	.53	(67.)	.87	.84	34	36.10	d from July trifolio, 5x is : odel is comp sected earnin Jid . *** $p < 0$
51	.02*	(TOP)	(.05)	24	(.13)	.31***	(90.)	.08*	(.04)	-2.21	(1.40)	.92	.90	34	63.12	are calculats talisation po four-factor m 12 month exp · < 0.05 in b
45	.05	(en-)	(20.)	.48*	(.18)	- ***99	(.13)	04	(20.)	3.59^{*}	(1.59)	.78	.74	34	20.21	tiolio returns 1 market cap The Carhart is consensus icients with p
44	.02	(-02) .92***	(.10)	.59***	(.12)	40^{**}	(.12)	.03	(.13)	3.55^{*}	(1.49)	.82	67.	34	25.44	d excess pout c is the sma. e portfolio. ne t+1 min heses. Coeff
43	.03	(20.) 85***	(.06)	.66***	(.10)	.25**	(.07)	.01	(.08)	5.24^{**}	(1.78)	-87	.85	34	38.96	lue-weighte portfolio: 1) Large-Valu sured in Ju n in parent
42	.04**	(TO-)	(.05)	.52***	(.10)	.06	(.08)	03	(.06)	3.71	(1.84)	88.	.86	34	42.64	015. The value size of the siz
41	.07***	(10.) 83***	(.07)	.72***	(.12)	35***	(20.)	.03	(.04)	5.30^{***}	(1.05)	.91	.89	34	56.10	s from 1982-2 iolios represen io and portfc h earnings pe four lags, wh
35	.09*** / 01)	(TO-)	(.07)	.82***	(.11)	.35*	(.13)	01	(90)	8.18^{***}	(1.47)	-84	.81	34	28.65	rmation year. -market portfort rowth portfol ling 12 mont lerrors with
34	.04*	(20.) .87***	(20.)	.73***	(.15)	$.42^{***}$	(60.)	.05	(.05)	4.89^{***}	(1.25)	.86	.84	34	34.63	4 portfollo fo and book-to- the Small-G s' actual trai 87) standard
33	.01	(.02) 1.02***	(90.)	77***	(.11)	.35**	(.10)	10	(.07)	2.90^{*}	(1.21)	6.	.88	34	51.02	ket for the 3 r the 25 size ortfolio 11 is fined as firm and West (19
32	10.	(TO-)	(20.)	.89***	(60.)	.07	(.05)	.05	(.08)	.91	(.78)	.94	.93	34	85.24	book-to-man st number fc olio. Thus, r year t are de seing Newey
31	.04*	(-U2) .92***]	(.08)	94^{***}	(.17)	.39***	(20.)	.09*	(.03)	2.71**	(.78)	.91	.89	34	56.57	d on size and f t+1. The fi (Value) port t for June of e calculated
25	.01	.04***	(11)	10^{***}	(.16)	29***	(.14)	.02	(.10)	3.77	(3.33)	.83	.80	34	26.83	rtfolios forme ar t to June c ok-to-market ors in the sor t-statistics a
24	02	(-02) 98*** 1	(.05)	74*** 1	(.08)	54***	(.11)	.06	(90.)	- 66	(1.72) (-06 -	.89	34	52.78	rns on 25 po n July of yes high low bo i forecast err it levels. Tes
23	.04		(.12)	34^{***}	(.19)	.10	(60.)	01	(20.)	1.37	(1.90)	-06 06	.89	34	53.02	l excess retu deulated fron und x5 is the olio earnings d 99 per cer
22	.03	(20.) 99***	(20.)	97*** 1	(60.)	.06	(.10)	12	(20.)	1.38	(86.)	.91	83.	34	55.61	eplain annua turns and ca h) portfolio ≤ sighted portfi l per cent an
21	00.	L.05***	(.10)	L.03***	(.16)	31*	(.12)	01	(.12)	.74	(67.)	.85	.82	34	31.73	t errors to e. a portfolio re arket (Growt AL. Value-we year at the : year at the
15	.08***	1.03***	(.05)	1.40***	(.10)	40^{***}	(.05)	03	(20.)	4.91^{*}	(1.80)	.92	06.	34	60.79	rnings foreca a alligned wit w book-to-m im factor W7 immed every
14	.03	1.02***	(20.)	1.62^{***}	(.14)	.19*	(.08)	$.21^{*}$	(.09)	.95	(1.85)	<u>06</u> .	.88	34	50.16	Lincluding es or returns ar o: x1 is the lc the momenti t errors are ti t errors are ti
13	.05	(.04) .94***]	(.07)	1.68***	(.12)	10	(60.)	.15	(60.)	1.77	(2.15)	-06	.88	34	48.95	-factor mode +1. Risk fact arket portfolk or HML and nings forecast
12	.01	.04) .95***	(60.)	51***]	(.18)	33**	(.11)	60.	(.08)	49	(1.26)	.87	.85	34	37.25	Carhart four nd of June t e book-to-mi he value fact 1 year t. Ear
11	05	.20***	(.08)	.69*** 1	(.17)	.51***	(.12)	07	(60.)	- 66	(1.07)	-06	.88	34	51.33	ability of the need at the e represents th actor SMB, t s per share ir
	(Intercept)	MKT-RF 1		SMB 1		- HMIL -		WML		EFE	-	\mathbb{R}^2	Adj. R ²	Num. obs.	F statistic	The table tests the portfolics are rebala The second number MKT-RF, the size <i>t</i> scaled by total asset

errors
orecast
ngs f
earnir
and
model
factor
four-f
arhart
O. C
statistics for
Summary
22:
Table

55	.01 (.04)	.81*** (.10)	04 (.25)	02	(.30)	.17	(.36)	.42	.34	34	5.25	he end of sents the SMB, the
54	04 (.02)	02***	.01	.44*	(.16)	$.64^{*}$	(.24)	.78	.74	34	25.09	alanced at t umber repre size factor S
53	.00 (10.)	88*** 1 (.04)	12 (.08)	23**	(20.)	- 00	(.16)	.87	.85	34	47.12 2	folios are ret l'he second 1 IKT-RF, the
52	02 (.01)	.07***	26*	43***	(90.)	01	(.09)	16.	-06 -	34	76.93	and the port a portfolio. 7 cess return M
51	.03 (.02)	97*** 1 (.07)	19 .17)	.03	(.14)	31^{*}	(.14)	.87	.85	34	47.53	lune of t+1, capitalisation e market exc
45	01 (.02)	1.10***	.13	.16	(.19)	1.21***	(.28)	.72	.68	34	18.58	of year t to . c is the large mprised of th
44	02 (.02)	04***	.56*** (.13)	.42**	(.13)	 	(.20)	64.	.76	34	27.32	ed from July portfolio, 55 model is co v < 0.05
43	00 (.02)	.08) 1 (108)	.65*** (.13)	.13	(.16)	.29	(.22)	.83	.81	34	35.07	are calculate apitalisation Hou q-factor p < 0.01, *p
42	.00 (101)	.08)	.45***	.10	(.12)	.18	(00)	88.	.86	34	52.08	folio returns all market c tfolio. The] p < 0.001, **
41	.05* (.02)	.82*** (.12)	.71***	36*	(.15)	31	(.18)	.86	.84	34	43.65	excess port 1x is the sm ge-Value por n bold . ***'
35	.04** (.01)	.83*** (.14)	.81***	.13	(.11)	.44**	(.13)	.74	.70	34	20.33	Ine-weighted se portfolio: 5 is the Lar, b p < 0.05 i
34	01 (.02)	1.00*** (.13)	. 66 **	.32*	(.12)	.54**	(.19)	.82	67.	34	32.52	1015. The va- sents the siz d portfolio 5 efficients wit
33	03 (.02)	1.07*** (.07)	.75***	.34	(.18)	.26*	(.13)	.86	.85	34	46.05	from 1982-2 rtfolios repre portfolio an entheses. Co
32	00 (.01)	1.15*** (.05)	.(80)	.16	(.10)	01	(.15)	.94	.93	34	113.28	mation years to-market pc mall-Growth shown in par
31	.02 (.01)	.11.)	.95** (.27)	41^{*}	(.16)	26	(.20)	.85	8. 8	34	40.96	portfolio for e and book-1 o 11 is the S i, which are :
25	05 (.03)	1.17*** (.15)	.92***	.29	(.32)	.84**	(.30)	.80	.77	34	28.61	at for the 34 or the 25 siz aus, portfolk ith four lags
24	04^{*} (.02)	1.08 ***	. 69 ***	.51***	(.12)	.43**	(.14)	68.	88.	34	60.46	ook-to-mark rst number f portfolio. Tl jard errors w
23	.01 (.02)	1.04 ***	1.34*** (.14)	.24*	(.10)	.03	(.19)	.91	<u>.</u>	34	73.53	on size and b f t+1. The fi rket (Value) : (1987) stan
22	.00 (10.)	1.01*** (.07)	.95***	.15	(.10)	0.	(.10)	06.	88. 88	34	63.39	ilios formed o t to June o / book-to-ma vey and West
21	01 (.01)	L.03***	L.09***	07	(.15)	45	(.25)	.84	.82	34	37.49	i on 25 portfé i July of year the high low ed using New
15	.00 (.02)	(.11) (.11)	(.18)	.02	(.19)	.88***	(.20)	06.	88.	34	64.34	xcess returns lculated fron blio and x5 is s are calculat
14	.02 (.02)	(80.)	50 *** 1 (.13)	11	(.18)	58***	(.16)	06:	88.	34	62.24	lain annual e turns and ca cowth) portfo Test-statistic
13	.04 (.02)	66 *** 1	64*** 1 (.14)	33	(.21)	.21	(.19)	89.	.88	34	51.01	model to exp h portfolio re o-market (Gi actor CMA. '
12	.05* (.02)	87*** (.09)	.53*** 1	56*	(.21)	10	(.17)	88.	.87	34	54.47	Hou q-factor alligned wit investment f
11	.01 (10.)	06*** .13) (66*** 1 .20) (.67***	(.15)	19	.18)	.91	06:	34	7.48 5	bility of the l or returns are olio: x1 is th MW and the
	(Intercept) (MKT-RF 1.	SMB 1.	RMW	_	CMA -)	\mathbb{R}^2	Adj. R ²	Num. obs.	F statistic 7	The table tests the a June t+1. Risk facto book-to-market portf profitability factor Rl

q-factor model
Hou
for
statistics
Summary
23:
Table

	55	.02	(.03)	.82***	(.11)	05	(.27)	.03	(.32)	.24	(.24)	8.95	(9.65)	.45	.35	34	4.62	and the cortfolio. So return sured in $p < 0.05$
	54	01	(.03)	.96	(.08)	.06	(.14)	.52**	(.16)	.51*	(.23)	8.45**	(2.60)	.84	.81	34	28.55	une of $t+1$, italisation I narket exces r share mea r share mea r p < 0.01, *
	53	.01	(.01)	.87***	(.05)	11	(.08)	.22**	(90.)	.02	(.13)	3.63***	(.68)	68.	.87	34	46.20	f year t to J the large cap ised of the r earnings pe p < 0.001, *
	52	01	(10)	1.05***	(90)	27**	(.08)	.44***	(90.)	02	(60.)	1.44	(26.)	.92	06:	34	62.34	from July o trfolio, 5x is 1 del is compt nth expected in bold . ***
2	51	.03	(.02)	.98***	(20.)	20	(.16)	.02	(.14)	31^{*}	(.14)	52	(1.27)	-87	.84	34	36.76	e calculated alisation por q-factor mo msus 12 moi tith $p < 0.05$
)	45	.03	(.03)	L.02***	(.11)	.31	(.19)	.25	(.20)	.93**	(.33)	4.70***	(1.23)	.75	.71	34	16.95	o returns ar market capit. o. The Hou minus conse oefficients w
2	44	.02	(.02)		(.08)	.61***	(60.)	.52**	(.17)	.10	(.22)	6.85** 2	(1.91)	.83	.80	34	27.11	ccess portfol is the small : alue portfol in June t+1 rentheses. C
	43	.02	(.02)	.89***	(.05)	$.60^{***}$	(.11)	.23	(.13)	.25	(.18)	6.52^{**}	(2.09)	88.	.85	34	39.87	-weighted e- ortfolio: 1x the Large-V re measured shown in pa
0	42	.02	(.01)	.96	(90)	$.44^{***}$	(.11)	.18	(.10)	.15	(60.)	4.62^{***}	(1.10)	06.	88.	34	51.06	 The value tis the size p ortfolio 55 is ings per sha s, which are s, which are
	41	.07**	(.02)	.81***	(60.)	.75***	(.17)	24	(.17)	32	(.17)	4.11* 4	(1.68)	88.	.86	34	41.59	un 1982-201. dios represen tíolio and px month earn with four lag
	35	.08***	(10.)	.75***	(80.)	.79***	(.14)	.35***	(80.)	.22	(.14)	9.60***	(1.50)	.82	67.	34	25.57	ion years fre aarket portfe Growth por dard errors dard errors
	34	.03*	(10.)	.95***	(.08)	$.64^{**}$	(.18)	.42***	(.11)	.37*	(.14)	7.63***	(1.60)	.87	.85	34	39.04	tiolio formal nd book-to-r is the Small firms' actuu t (1987) star
	33	00.	(.02)	.06***	(90)	72^{***}	(60.)	.47*	(.18)	.20*	(.08)	5.34* 7	(1.94)	68.	.87	34	44.90	rr the 34 pou the 25 size a portfolio 11 re defined as vey and Wes
	32	.01	.01)	12*** 1	.06)	91 *** .	.08)	21^{*}	.10)	04	(.15)	2.14	1.10) ()	.94	.93	34	3.21	to-market ik number for folio. Thus, e of year t a ed using Nev
	31	.05*	(.02)	93*** 1	(.10)	94*** 94	(.24) (30	(.20)	22	(11)	.33*	1.06) (.87	.84	34	86.02 9	ze and book -1. The first (Value) port sort for Jur i are calculat
	25	01	(.04)	12***	(.16) (······································	(.14) (.26	(.30)	81**	(.28)	4.33 2	2.60) (.81	-17.	34	23.48 8	ormed on si to June of t- k-to-market errors in the est-statistics est-statistics
	24	02	.03)	06*** 1	.06)	·· ***6	(11)	4***	.14)	40**	.14)	2.76	2.02) (.90	88.	34	0.12 2	5 portiolios 1 ly of year t i uigh low boo ags forecast - sent levels. 7
	23	- 03	02)	01*** 1.	10) ()	32*** .6	16) ()	21* 	10) (·. 00	18) (.37 2	.12) (2	91	06	34	0.11 5	returns on 2 ated from Ju d x5 is the h rtfolio earni and 99 per c
2	2)2) 	0*** 1.0	.) (70	1:5	.) (01	*6 *1)8) (.		.) (01	05 2	08) (2	. 06	. 68	14	.57 6(nual excess 1 is and calcul, portfolio an weighted po e 1 per cent
	1 2	1.	(I) (.)	3*** 1.0) [.]) (6	1*** .9 ₄	···) (0	06 .I	5) (.(5) (.	4 2.	7) (1.	4	1	4	15 52	o explain an trfolio return et (Growth) ZMA. Value ry year at th
2	2	0.	0.) (3	*** 1.0:	(- (- (-	*** 1.1	5) (.2	i i	8) (.1	; ;	3) (.2	<u>۹</u>	0) (.4	%		÷	10 29.	cast errors t ned with po ook-to-mark nent factor (rimmed eve
	15	.08	(.02)	** 1.06	(.07	** 1.16	(.15	0.02	(.18	.81.	(.25	6.58	i) (1.5	36.	16.	34	5 71.1	arnings force rns are allig is the low bo I the investu c errors are t
	14	.03	0.03	1.09^{*}	(.08)	* 1.49*	(.13)	1((.18)	.55*	(.15)	1.02	(1.34	06.	88.	34	48.30	including er factor retu ortfolio: x1 i r RMW and ings forecast ings forecast
	13	.04	(.02)		(.08)	1.64^{**}	(.14)	33	(.23)	.21	(.19)	.30	(1.72)	68.	.87	34	47.16	actor model ne t+1. Rish co-market po ability facto year t. Earn year t.
	12	.02	(.03)	.88	(80.)	1.55^{***}	(.21)	57**	(.19)	13	(.16)	-1.66	(1.39)	88.	.87	34	43.99	the Hou q- he end of Ju ts the book- B, the profit per share in
	11	01	(.03)	1.07***	(.12)	1.68^{***}	(.21)	66^{***}	(.14)	20	(.19)	44	(88)	.91	83.	34	55.71	the ability of aslanced at t ber represen ze factor SM total assets J total assets J
		(Intercept)		MKT-RF		SMB		RMW		CMA		EFE		\mathbb{R}^2	$Adj. R^2$	Num. obs.	F statistic	The table tests t portfolics are reb The second numl MKT-RF, the siz June t scaled by

errors	
forecast	
earnings	
model and	
q-factor 1	
or Hou	
statistics for	
Summary	
Table 24:	

55	.02	(.04)	.79***	(.12)	16	(.29)	.12	(.25)	08	(.19)	.43	.35	34	5.49	folios are ae second æt excess entheses.
54	05	(.03)	66 ***	(.10)	.07	(.16)	$.49^{*}$	(.22)	.20*	(60.)	.68	.64	34	15.64	nd the port ortfolio. Tl of the marb rown in par
53	00	(10.)	88***	(.04)	16*	(20.)	II.	(.13)	.12*	(.05)	.87	.85	34	16.67	ie of t+1, a italisation r comprised which are s
52	02	(.02)	L.04***	(20.)	28**	(80)	.23*	(.10)	.13*	(90.)	.88	.87	34	54.97	year t to Jur the large cap ctor model is ith four lags,
51	.01	(.02)	L.04***]	(80)	20	(.14)	13	(60.)	$.18^{*}$	(20.)	88.	.87	34	55.35	from July of artfolio, 5x is Yuan four-fa dard errors w
45	.01	(.03)	98***	(.13)	48*	(.19)	$.54^{*}$	(.20)	11	(60.)	.61	.56	34	11.33	talisation p nbaugh and (1987) stan
44	04	(.03)	L.03***	(.12)	.57**	(.17)	.33	(.20)	.13	(.10)	.72	.68	34	18.60	o returns are market capi io. The Star ey and West
43	02	(.02)	93*** 1	(.11)	78***	(.11)	.12	(.11)	.08	(60.)	.81	.78	34	30.34	cess portfolio is the small alue portfol i using New
42	01	(.01)	97***	(.10)	52***	(.10)	.03	(.10)	.06	(.04)	.86	.84	34	43.76	veighted exc ortfolio: 1x the Large-V e calculated
41	.03	(.02)	89***	(111)	65***	(.16)	.48***	(.11)	.03	(.05)	.86	.84	34	14.30	The value-v s the size pc tfolio 55 is 1 -statistics a
35	.02	.02)	34***	(.15)	92***	.16)	- 24 -	.13)	.03	(20)	.68	.64	34	5.59 4	1982-2015. os represent olio and por PERF. Test
34	02	(.03)	3. ***96	(.14) ((.22)	.30	(.16) (.05) (20.)	.70	.66	34	16.98 1	years from rket portfoli rowth portf icing factor
33	04	(.03)	02***	(20.)	85***	(.10)	.21	(.19)	02	(20.)	.81	.78	34	31.02 1	io formation book-to-ma the Small-G elated mispr
32	.03*	01)	18*** 1	(90)	0***	(11)	02	(80)	60	(20)	92	91	34	2.51 3	e 34 portfol 25 size and rtfolio 11 is rformance-r
1	02 -	2)	8*** 1.	3)		2)	- **0	.) (9	5	5) (.	22		4	.67 8:	arket for th iber for the b. Thus, po c and the pe
3	6 –.	 	*** 1.0	: ()		(1	1	[] ()		.) (.	<i>x</i> .	w.	e	⁴ 50.	I book-to-m he first nun se) portfolk ctly MGM1
25	0. –	(.03	* 1.11	(.15	1.17	(.14	.41	(.20)	10.	(.11	.70	.66	34	3 16.7	on size and e of t+1. T narket (Vah r affect dire
24	06	(.03)	1.04**	(60.)	.73***	(.15)	.43*	(.18)	70.	(20.)	64.	.76	34	26.68	lios formed ar t to Jun w book-to-n t can rathe
23	02	(.03)	1.07***	(.11)	1.38***	(.19)	00.	(.13)	60.	(.05)	.87	.85	34	48.21	m 25 portfo m July of ye the high lov managemer
22	02	(.02)	1.02^{***}	(.08)	.96	(.13)	.02	(.13)	00	(.05)	.87	.85	34	46.80	ss returns (lculated fro to and x5 is hat a firm's
21	04^{*}	(.01)	1.11***	(60.)	1.06^{***}	(.14)	41***	(.10)	.10	(.05)	.86	.84	34	44.52	a annual exo sturns and cs wth) portfol to variables 1
15	01	(.02)	1.09***	(.13)	1.58***	(.17)	:23	(.13)	11	(.08)	.81	.78	34	30.91	del to explai h portfolio n -market (Gro octor related
14	04^{*}	(.01)	22***	(20.)		(.14)	.16	(.12)	.11	(90.)	.87	.85	34	48.46	1-factor mo- alligned wit low book-to- mispricing fi fi, * $p < 0.05$
13	03	(10)	10*** 1	(20.)	74*** 1	(.19)	13	(.12)	60.	(20.)	.86	.84	34	13.54	and Yuan fo r returns are io: x1 is the SMBm, the 11, **p < 0.0
12	01	.02)	04^{***} 1.	(20.	56*** 1.	.19)	.38	.14)	.05	. (20.	.84	.82	34	7.80 4	Stambaugh . Risk facto: weet portfol. Stambaugh *** $p < 0.00$
11	- 04	 (1) 	3*** 1.0	(11)	0*** 1.	.) (19)	53** -	18) (.	.01	06) (.	86	S5	34	.23 3	ility of the 7 of June t+1 · book-to-ma ize factor of 0.05 in bold .
1	(Intercept) -		MKT-RF 1.2	(.)	SMBm 1.7	(;)	MGMT1	(;)	PERF -)')	R ² .	Adj. R ² .8	Num. obs. 5	F statistic 46	The table tests the at rebalanced at the end number represents the return MKT-RF, the s Coefficients with $p < 0$

model
ur-factor
Yuan fo
and
nbaugh
Star
for
statistics
Summary
25:
Table

	55	.04	(.04)	.79***	(.12)	12	(.30)	.22	(.27)	10	(.18)	10.02	(9.83)	.47	.37	34	4.95	
	54	02	(.03)	$.94^{***}$	(.08)	.13	(.17)	$.52^{**}$	(.19)	$.20^{**}$	(90.)	L0.18***	(2.53)	77.	.73	34	18.99	r t to June s the large or model is are defined Newey and
2	53	.01	(.01)	86***	(.05)	12	(80)	.14	(.12)	.08	(.05)	3.44*	(1.26)	.88	.86	34	43.05	July of yea ortfollo, 5x : an four-fact is of year t ated using
	52	02	(.02)	L.03***	(.08)	27**	(.08)	$.24^{*}$	(.10)	.13	(20.)	1.09	(1.30) (.89	.87	34	43.34	culated from italisation pc augh and Yuu e sort for Jur ics are calcul ics are calcul
	51	.01	(.02)	1.06***	(90.)	24	(.13)	17	(.10)	.19**	(90.)	-2.29	(2.31)	.89	.87	34	43.89	eturns are cal Il market cap o. The Stamb at errors in th s. Test-statist
~ ~ ~ ~	45	.05	(.04)	89***	(.10)	.63***	(.15)	.42	(.21)	07	(60.)	3.07***	(1.11)	29.	.61	34	11.32	ss portfolio r lx is the sma falue portfolic rnings forecas per cent levels
0	44	00.	(.03)	.95***	(60.)	.59***	(.14)	.28	(.19)	.12	(60.)	6.88***	(1.52)	.76	.72	34	18.15	weighted exce se portfolio: 7 s the Large-A d portfolio ea cent and 99 ₁ cent and
	43	.01	(.02)	.90***	(90)	.76***	(60.)	.20	(.10)	80.	(20.)	7.64*** ((1.55)	.87	.85	34	39.04	. The value-value- esents the siz portfolio 55 i alue-weightes at the 1 per .
	42	.01	(10)	.95***	(20.)	$.54^{***}$	(.13)	11.	(80)	.06	(.04)	5.50**	(1.61)	.89	.87	34	45.47	on 1982-2015 ortfolios repr- portfolio and stor PERF, V d every year
	41	.05**	(.02)	.90***	(.07)	.71***	(.13)	34^{**}	(60.)	.08	(.05)	4.97^{***}	(1.27)	68.	.87	34	45.24	tion years fre- -to-market p- nall-Growth I mispricing fac are trimme s are trimme
	35	.06**	(.02)	.75***	(.08)	.85***	(.10)	.33*	(.14)	.04	(.03)	.0.87***	(1.23)	.80	-11	34	22.82	ortfolio forma size and book to 11 is the Sr ance-related 1 forecast error
	34	.03	(.02)	90***	(80)	75***	(.14)	33**	(.12)	60.	(.05)	0.26*** 1	1.52)	.81	.78	34	24.22	t for the 34 p ar for the 25 s Thus, portfoli 1 the perform : t. Earnings
~	33	00.	.03)	01***	(20)	34***	.12)	.30	.17)	01	.05)	55*** 1C	(141) (.85	.82	34	1.92	pok-to-marke e first numbe e) portfolio. ' y MGMT an share in yea
÷.	32	00	.02) (13*** 1.	.07) (70.		(11)	.02	.06)	- 10	.06)	02*** 6.	(12.	.93	.92	34	5.25 3	m size and b s of t+1. Th market (Valu affect directl :al assets per
	31	. 10	02) (.	6*** 1.1	.) (60	4*** <u>.</u> 9	18) (.		17) (.	*-	.) ()	70* 4.(.) (II.	. 68	87	¥	.36 70	ios formed o ar t to Junc ow book-to t can rather scaled by tot
-0- 	55		.) (1)	1*** 1.0	15) (.	2*** .9.	16) (.	- *0	16) (.	E. 70.	(II)	5*** 2.	42) (1	74 .	. 02	14	.34 46	on 25 portfo om July of y i is the high l i managemen ed in June t s < 0.05
~	4 2	02 .(5) (.(0*** 1.0	(8)	*** 1.2	(12)	3*	(12)	- 9	(9)	88 9.6	84) (2.	0		4	32 16	cess returns calculated fre- tfolio and $x \tilde{z}$ that a firm's hare measure * $p < 0.01, *_1$
2	3 2	2	3) (.0	*** 1.00	4) (.0		1.) (1	-8 -4	1) (1	0.	0.) (0	2** 3.5	9) (2.8	8. C	8	1 33	88 22.	in annual ex- eturns and $<$ Growth) por to variables rings per sl $p < 0.001, *$
	25	0 <u>.</u>	(i	*** 1.02	(.1.	*** 1.37	 (.2 	ö.	(. I.	- <u>-</u> .	(i 0.)	** 5.7	8) (1.9	6. (δö.	õ	2 47.3	nors to expla th portfolio r e-to-market (actor related expected ea in bold . ***
	22	2 .02	(.02)	** 1.02	(00)	** 1.01	(.16	**	(.15	.00	(.04	3 4.70	(1.2)	38.	18:	34	8 47.0	p forecast er alligned wit the low book mispricing fa us 12 month us 12 month ith $p < 0.05$
~ ^ ~	21	.0.	(.02	* 1.12*	(.08	** 1.09	(.15	35	II.)	.13	.05	** 1.18	67.) (.86	.84	34	5 35.2	dding earning - returns are tfolio: x1 is SMBm, the SMBm, the inus consens inus consens oefficients w
	15	.10*	(.04)	* .99**	(80.)	* 1.45*	(11.)	.23	(.13)	06	(90.)	* 9.76*	(2.25)	.88	.85	34	39.25	 model inclu Risk facton narket por narket bor Stambaugh June t+1 m arentheses. C
2	14	.05	(.02)	1.13**	(60.)	1.68	(.12)	.17	(.10)	.13*	(90.)	6.36^{**}	(1.59)	68.	.87	34	47.10	in four-factor of June t+1 s the book-t size factor of measured in rshown in pu
	13	.05*	(.02)	1.06^{***}	(90.)	1.73***	(.16)	12	(.11)	H.	(.08)	5.49^{**}	(1.79)	.88	.86	34	40.72	ugh and Yua I at the end oer represent KT-RF, the gs per share ss, which are
2	12	00.	(.04)	1.04^{***}	(70.)	1.56***	(.18)	36	(.18)	.06	(90.)	.59	(2.17)	.84	.81	34	29.31	The Stamba ce rebalancec second numl ess return M aonth earnin with four lag
	11	08	(.04)	1.23***	(11)	1.73***	(.20)	56*	(.23)	03	(80.)	84	(1.31)	.87	.84	34	36.52	the ability o portfolios a ortfolio. The e market exc trailing 12 n ndard errors
		(Intercept)		MIKT-RF		SMBm		MGMT		PERF		EFE		\mathbb{R}^2	Adj. R ²	Num. obs.	F statistic	The table tests of t+1, and the capitalisation p comprised of the as firms' actual West (1987) sta

Table 26: Summary statistics for Stambaugh and Yuan four-factor model and earnings forecast	errors
Table 26: Summary statistics for Stambaugh and Yuan four-factor model and earnings	forecast
Table 26: Summary statistics for Stambaugh and Yuan four-factor model and	earnings
Table 26: Summary statistics for Stambaugh and Yuan four-factor model	and
Table 26: Summary statistics for Stambaugh and Yuan four-factor	model
Table 26: Summary statistics for Stambaugh and Yuan four	c-factor
Table 26: Summary statistics for Stambaugh and Yue	un four
Table 26: Summary statistics for Stambaugh and	/us
Table 26: Summary statistics for Stambaugh	
Table 26: Summary statistics for S	and Y
Table 26: Summary statistics	tambaugh and Y
Table 26: Summary	for Stambaugh and Y
Table 26:	statistics for Stambaugh and Y
	Summary statistics for Stambaugh and Y

B R Session Info

devtools::session_info()

##	- Session	info							
##	setting	value							
##	version	R version 4.0.	2	(2020-06-2	22)				
##	os	Windows 10 x64	ł						
##	system	x86_64, mingw3	32						
##	ui	RTerm							
##	language	(EN)							
##	collate	German_Germany	7.1	1252					
##	ctype	German_Germany	7.1	1252					
##	tz	Europe/Berlin							
##	date	2022-03-15							
##									
##	- Packages	3							
##	! package	e	*	version	date	lib	sourc	e	
##	abind			1.4-5	2016-07-21	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	assert	that		0.2.1	2019-03-21	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	backpoi	rts		1.1.7	2020-05-13	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	bayest	estR		0.7.2	2020-07-20	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##	bdsmat	rix		1.3-4	2020-01-13	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	bibtex			0.4.2.2	2020-01-02	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	blob			1.2.1	2020-01-20	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##	bookdor	n	*	0.20	2020-06-23	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##	boot			1.3-25	2020-04-26	[2]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)

##	broom		0.7.0	2020-07-09	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##	broom.mixed	*	0.2.6	2020-05-17	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	cachem		1.0.1	2021-01-21	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.3)
##	CADFtest	*	0.3-3	2017-06-02	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	callr		3.5.1	2020-10-13	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.3)
##	car		3.0-8	2020-05-21	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##	carData		3.0-4	2020-05-22	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	cellranger		1.1.0	2016-07-27	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	checkmate		2.0.0	2020-02-06	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##	cli		2.0.2	2020-02-28	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	coda		0.19-3	2019-07-05	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	colorspace		1.4-1	2019-03-18	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	cowplot	*	1.0.0	2019-07-11	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	crayon		1.3.4	2017-09-16	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	curl		4.3	2019-12-02	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	data.table	*	1.13.0	2020-07-24	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##	DBI		1.1.0	2019-12-15	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	dbplyr		1.4.4	2020-05-27	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##	desc		1.2.0	2018-05-01	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	devtools	*	2.3.2	2020-09-18	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.3)
##	digest		0.6.25	2020-02-23	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	dplyr	*	1.0.1	2020-07-31	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##	dynlm	*	0.3-6	2019-01-06	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	effectsize		0.3.2	2020-07-27	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##	ellipsis		0.3.1	2020-05-15	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	emmeans		1.4.8	2020-06-26	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)

##	estimability		1.3	2018-02-11	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	estimatr	*	0.22.0	2020-03-19	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	evaluate		0.14	2019-05-28	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	fansi		0.4.1	2020-01-08	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	farver		2.0.3	2020-01-16	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	fastmap		1.1.0	2021-01-25	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.3)
##	fBasics	*	3042.89.1	2020-03-07	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	forcats	*	0.5.0	2020-03-01	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	forecast	*	8.12	2020-03-31	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##	foreign		0.8-80	2020-05-24	[2]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##	Formula		1.2-3	2018-05-03	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	fracdiff		1.5-1	2020-01-24	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##	fs		1.5.0	2020-07-31	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##	fUnitRoots	*	3042.79	2017-11-16	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	gbRd		0.4-11	2012-10-01	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	generics		0.0.2	2018-11-29	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	ggeffects		0.15.1	2020-07-27	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##	ggplot2	*	3.3.2	2020-06-19	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##	ggpubr	*	0.4.0	2020-06-27	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##	ggsignif		0.6.0	2019-08-08	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	ggstance		0.3.4	2020-04-02	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	glue		1.4.1	2020-05-13	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	gridExtra	*	2.3	2017-09-09	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	gtable		0.3.0	2019-03-25	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	gtools	*	3.8.2	2020-03-31	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	haven		2.3.1	2020-06-01	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)

##	highr		0.8	2019-03-20	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	hms		0.5.3	2020-01-08	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	htmltools		0.5.0	2020-06-16	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##	httr		1.4.2	2020-07-20	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##	insight		0.9.0	2020-07-20	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##	jsonlite		1.7.2	2020-12-09	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.3)
##	jtools	*	2.1.0	2020-06-23	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##	kableExtra	*	1.1.0	2019-03-16	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	knitr	*	1.29	2020-06-23	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##	labeling		0.3	2014-08-23	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	lattice		0.20-41	2020-04-02	[2]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##	lfe	*	2.8-5.1	2020-07-08	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##	lifecycle		0.2.0	2020-03-06	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	lme4		1.1-23	2020-04-07	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	lmtest	*	0.9-37	2019-04-30	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	lubridate		1.7.9	2020-06-08	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##	magrittr		1.5	2014-11-22	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	MASS		7.3-51.6	2020-04-26	[2]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##	Matrix	*	1.2-18	2019-11-27	[2]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##	maxLik		1.4-0	2020-07-31	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##	memoise		2.0.0	2021-01-26	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.3)
##	minqa		1.2.4	2014-10-09	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	miscTools		0.6-26	2019-12-08	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	modelr		0.1.8	2020-05-19	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	munsell		0.5.0	2018-06-12	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	mvtnorm		1.1-1	2020-06-09	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)

##	nlme		3.1-148	2020-05-24	[2]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##	nloptr		1.2.2.2	2020-07-02	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##	nnet		7.3-14	2020-04-26	[2]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##	openxlsx	*	4.1.5	2020-05-06	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	pander		0.6.3	2018-11-06	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	parameters		0.8.2	2020-07-24	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##	performance		0.4.8	2020-07-27	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##	PerformanceAnalytics	*	2.0.4	2020-02-06	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##	pillar		1.4.6	2020-07-10	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##	pkgbuild		1.1.0	2020-07-13	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##	pkgconfig		2.0.3	2019-09-22	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	pkgload		1.1.0	2020-05-29	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##	plm	*	2.2-3	2020-02-28	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	plyr		1.8.6	2020-03-03	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	prettyunits		1.1.1	2020-01-24	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	processx		3.4.5	2020-11-30	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.3)
##	ps		1.3.3	2020-05-08	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	purrr	*	0.3.4	2020-04-17	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	quadprog		1.5-8	2019-11-20	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	quantmod		0.4.17	2020-03-31	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	R6		2.4.1	2019-11-12	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	Rcpp		1.0.5	2020-07-06	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##	Rdpack		1.0.0	2020-07-01	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##	readr	*	1.3.1	2018-12-21	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	readxl		1.3.1	2019-03-13	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	remotes		2.2.0	2020-07-21	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)

##	reprex		0.3.0	2019-05-16	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	reshape2		1.4.4	2020-04-09	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	rio		0.5.16	2018-11-26	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	rlang		0.4.7	2020-07-09	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##	rmarkdown		2.3	2020-06-18	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##	rollRegres	*	0.1.3	2019-11-25	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##	rprojroot		1.3-2	2018-01-03	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	rstatix		0.6.0	2020-06-18	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##	rstudioapi		0.11	2020-02-07	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	rvest		0.3.6	2020-07-25	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##	sandwich	*	2.5-1	2019-04-06	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	scales		1.1.1	2020-05-11	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	sessioninfo		1.1.1	2018-11-05	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.3)
##	sjlabelled		1.1.6	2020-06-25	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##	sjmisc		2.8.5	2020-05-28	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##	sjPlot	*	2.8.4	2020-05-24	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##	sjstats		0.18.0	2020-05-06	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	spatial		7.3-12	2020-04-26	[2]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##	stargazer	*	5.2.2	2018-05-30	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	statmod		1.4.34	2020-02-17	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	stringi		1.4.6	2020-02-17	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	stringr	*	1.4.0	2019-02-10	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	testthat		2.3.2	2020-03-02	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	texreg	*	1.37.5	2020-06-18	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##	tibble	*	3.0.3	2020-07-10	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##	tidyr	*	1.1.1	2020-07-31	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)

##		tidyselect		1.1.0	2020-05-11	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##		tidyverse	*	1.3.0	2019-11-21	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##		timeDate	*	3043.102	2018-02-21	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##		timeSeries	*	3062.100	2020-01-24	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##	D	ТМВ		1.7.18	2020-07-27	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##		tseries	*	0.10-47	2019-06-05	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##		TTR	*	0.23-6	2019-12-15	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##		urca	*	1.3-0	2016-09-06	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##		usethis	*	2.0.0	2020-12-10	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.3)
##		vctrs		0.3.2	2020-07-15	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##		viridisLite		0.3.0	2018-02-01	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##		webshot		0.5.2	2019-11-22	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##		withr		2.4.1	2021-01-26	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.3)
##		xfun		0.16	2020-07-24	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.2)
##		xml2		1.3.2	2020-04-23	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##		xtable		1.8-4	2019-04-21	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##		xts	*	0.12-0	2020-01-19	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##		yaml		2.2.1	2020-02-01	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)
##		zip		2.1.1	2020-08-27	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.3)
##		Z00	*	1.8-8	2020-05-02	[1]	CRAN	(R	4.0.0)

##

[1] C:/Users/User/Documents/R/win-library/4.0

[2] C:/Program Files/R/R-4.0.2/library

##

D -- DLL MD5 mismatch, broken installation.

References

- Agrawal, A., & Chen, M. A. (2008). Do analyst conflicts matter: Evidence from stock recommendations. Journal of Law and Economics, 51(3), 503–538. https://doi.org/10.2 139/ssrn.654281
- Asness, C. (2011). Momentum in japan: The exception that proves the rule. The Journal of Portfolio Management, 37(4), 67–75. https://doi.org/10.3905/jpm.2011.37.4.067
- Asness, C. S., Liew, J. M., & Stevens, R. L. (1997). Parallels between the cross-sectional predictability of stock and country returns. *The Journal of Portfolio Management*, 23(3), 79–87. https://doi.org/10.3905/jpm.1997.409606
- Asness, C. S., Moskowitz, T. J., & Pedersen, L. H. (2013). Value and momentum everywhere. The Journal of Finance, 68(3), 929–985. https://doi.org/10.1111/jofi.12021
- Banz, R. W. (1981). The relationship between return and market value of common stocks. Journal of Financial Economics, 9(1), 3–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-405X(81)90018-0
- Barroso, P., & Santa-Clara, P. (2015). Momentum has its moments. Journal of Financial Economics, 116(1), 111–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfineco.2014.11.010
- Basu, S. (1977). Investment performance of common stocks in relation to their price-earnings ratios: A test of the efficient market hypothesis. *The Journal of Finance*, 32(3), 663–682. https://doi.org/10.2307/2326304
- Blankenburg, M. (2021a). Earnings forecast errors and firm characteristics. Unpublished Working Paper.
- Blankenburg, M. (2021b). Earnings forecast errors and risk-factor models. Unpublished Working Paper.

- Blankenburg, M. (2021c). Risk of momentum: An international comparison. Unpublished Working Paper.
- Bollerslev, T. (1987). A conditionally heteroskedastic time series model for speculative prices and rates of return. The Review of Economics and Statistics, 69(3), 542–547. https://doi.org/10.2307/1925546
- Brown, L. D., & Mohd, E. (2003). The predictive value of analyst characteristics. Journal of Accounting, Auditing & Finance, 18(4), 625–647. https://doi.org/10.1177/0148558X0301 800412
- Carhart, M. M. (1997). On persistence in mutual fund performance. The Journal of Finance, 52(1), 57–82. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-6261.1997.tb03808.x
- Chen, L., & Zhao, X. S. (2009). Understanding the value and size premia: What can we learn from stock migrations? *SSRN Electronic Journal*. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.1360382
- Chen, S., & Matsumoto, D. A. (2006). Favorable versus unfavorable recommendations: The impact on analyst access to management-provided information. *Journal of Accounting Research*, 44(4), 657–689. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-679X.2006.00217.x
- Clement, M. B. (1999). Analyst forecast accuracy: Do ability, resources, and portfolio complexity matter? Journal of Accounting and Economics, 27(3), 285–303. https: //doi.org/10.1016/S0165-4101(99)00013-0
- Cochrane, J. H. (2011). Presidential address: Discount rates. *The Journal of Finance*, 66(4), 1047–1108. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-6261.2011.01671.x
- Da, Z., & Warachka, M. C. (2009). Cashflow risk, systematic earnings revisions, and the cross-section of stock returns. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 94(3), 448–468. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfineco.2008.12.008
- Daniel, K. D., Hirshleifer, D., & Subrahmanyam, A. (2001). Overconfidence, arbitrage, and

equilibrium asset pricing. The Journal of Finance, 56(3), 921–965. https://doi.org/10.1 111/0022-1082.00350

- Daniel, K., Hirshleifer, D., & Subrahmanyam, A. (1998). Investor psychology and security market under- and overreactions. *The Journal of Finance*, 53(6), 1839–1885. https: //doi.org/10.1111/0022-1082.00077
- Daniel, K., & Moskowitz, T. J. (2016). Momentum crashes. Journal of Financial Economics, 122(2), 221–247. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfineco.2015.12.002
- Das, S., Levine, C. B., & Sivaramakrishnan, K. (1998). Earnings predictability and bias in analysts' earnings forecasts. Accounting Review, 73(2), 277–294.
- Dechow, P. M., Hutton, A. P., & Sloan, R. G. (2000). The relation between analysts' forecasts of long-term earnings growth and stock price performance following equity offerings. *Contemporary Accounting Research*, 17(1), 1–32. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1911-3846.200 0.tb00908.x
- Dechow, P. M., & Sloan, R. G. (1997). Returns to contrarian investment strategies: Tests of naive expectations hypotheses. Journal of Financial Economics, 43(1), 3–27. https: //doi.org/10.1016/S0304-405X(96)00887-2
- Doukas, J. A., Kim, C. F., & Pantzalis, C. (2002). A test of the errors-in-expectations explanation of the value/glamour stock returns performance: Evidence from analysts' forecasts. *The Journal of Finance*, 57(5), 2143–2165. https://doi.org/10.1111/1540-6261.00491
- Engle, R. F. (1982). Autoregressive conditional heteroscedasticity with estimates of the variance of united kingdom inflation. *Econometrica*, 50(4), 987. https://doi.org/10.2307/ 1912773
- Engle, R. F., & Bollerslev, T. (1986). Modelling the persistence of conditional variances.

Econometric Reviews, 5(1), 1–50. https://doi.org/10.1080/07474938608800095

- Erb, C. B., & Harvey, C. R. (2006). The strategic and tactical value of commodity futures. *Financial Analysts Journal*, 62(2), 69–97. https://doi.org/10.2469/faj.v62.n2.4084
- Fama, E. F., & French, K. R. (1992). The cross-section of expected stock returns. The Journal of Finance, 47(2), 427–465. https://doi.org/10.2307/2329112
- Fama, E. F., & French, K. R. (1993). Common risk factors in the returns on stocks and bonds. Journal of Financial Economics, 33(1), 3–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-405X(93)90023-5
- Fama, E. F., & French, K. R. (1996). Multifactor explanations of asset pricing anomalies. The Journal of Finance, 51(1), 55–84. https://doi.org/10.2307/2329302
- Fama, E. F., & French, K. R. (2006). Profitability, investment and average returns. Journal of Financial Economics, 82(3), 491–518. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfineco.2005.09.009
- Fama, E. F., & French, K. R. (2012). Size, value, and momentum in international stock returns. Journal of Financial Economics, 105(3), 457–472. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfin eco.2012.05.011
- Fama, E. F., & French, K. R. (2015). A five-factor asset pricing model. Journal of Financial Economics, 116(1), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfineco.2014.10.010
- Fama, E. F., & French, K. R. (2016). Dissecting anomalies with a five-factor model. *Review of Financial Studies*, 29(1), 69–103. https://doi.org/10.1093/rfs/hhv043
- Frankel, R., & Lee, C. M. C. (1998). Accounting valuation, market expectation, and cross-sectional stock returns. Journal of Accounting & Economics, 25(3), 283–319. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-4101(98)00026-3
- Green, J., Hand, J. R. M., & Zhang, X. F. (2017). The characteristics that provide independent

information about average u.s. Monthly stock returns. *Review of Financial Studies*, 30(12), 4389–4436. https://doi.org/10.1093/rfs/hhx019

- Grinblatt, M., & Moskowitz, T. J. (2004). Predicting stock price movements from past returns: The role of consistency and tax-loss selling. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 71(3), 541–579. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-405X(03)00176-4
- Grundy, B. D., & Martin, J. S. M. (2001). Understanding the nature of the risks and the source of the rewards to momentum investing. *Review of Financial Studies*, 14(1), 29–78. https://doi.org/10.1093/rfs/14.1.29
- Hirshleifer, D. (2001). Investor psychology and asset pricing. The Journal of Finance, 56(4), 1533–1597. https://doi.org/10.1111/0022-1082.00379
- Hirshleifer, D., & Jiang, D. (2010). A financing-based misvaluation factor and the crosssection of expected returns. *Review of Financial Studies*, 23(9), 3401–3436. https: //doi.org/10.1093/rfs/hhq063
- Hou, K., Xue, C., & Zhang, L. (2015). Digesting anomalies: An investment approach. Review of Financial Studies, 28(3), 650–705. https://doi.org/10.1093/rfs/hhu068
- Hou, K., Xue, C., & Zhang, L. (2017). A comparison of new factor models. Fisher College of Business Working Paper Series, 2015-03-05. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2520929
- Huberts, L. C., & Fuller, R. J. (1995). Predictability bias in the us equity market. Financial Analysts Journal, 51(2), 12–28. https://doi.org/10.2469/faj.v51.n2.1877
- Hughes, J., Liu, J., & Su, W. (2008). On the relation between predictable market returns and predictable analyst forecast errors. *Review of Accounting Studies*, 13(2-3), 266–291. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11142-007-9065-9
- Jegadeesh, N., & Titman, S. (1993). Returns to buying winners and selling losers: Implications for stock market efficiency. The Journal of Finance, 48(1), 65–91. https://doi.org/10.111

- Kothari, S. P., So, E., & Verdi, R. (2016). Analysts' forecasts and asset pricing: A survey. Annual Review of Financial Economics, 8(1), 197–219. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurevfinancial-121415-032930
- Kozak, S., Nagel, S., & Santosh, S. (2018). Interpreting factor models. The Journal of Finance, 73(3), 1183–1223. https://doi.org/10.1111/jofi.12612
- Kross, W., & Ro, B. (1990). Earnings expectations: The analysts' information advantage. Accounting Review, 65(2), 461–476.
- Lang, M. H., & Lundholm, R. J. (1996). Corporate disclosure policy and analyst behavior. Accounting Review, 71(4), 467–492.
- Lin, H.-w., & McNichols, M. F. (1998). Underwriting relationships, analysts' earnings forecasts and investment recommendations. *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, 25(1), 101–127. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-4101(98)00016-0
- Lintner, J. (1965). The valuation of risk assets and the selection of risky investments in stock portfolios and capital budgets. The Review of Economics and Statistics, 47(1), 13–37. https://doi.org/10.2307/1924119
- Mayew, W. J. (2008). Evidence of management discrimination among analysts during earnings conference calls. *Journal of Accounting Research*, 46(3), 627–659. https://doi.or g/10.1111/j.1475-679X.2008.00285.x
- Menkhoff, L., Sarno, L., Schmeling, M., & Schrimpf, A. (2012). Currency momentum strategies. Journal of Financial Economics, 106(3), 660–684. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jfineco.2012.06.009
- Michaely, R., & Womack, K. L. (1999). Conflict of interest and the credibility of underwriter analyst recommendations. *Review of Financial Studies*, 12(4), 653–686. https://doi.org/

10.1093/rfs/12.4.653

- Moskowitz, T. J., & Grinblatt, M. (1999). Do industries explain momentum? The Journal of Finance, 54 (4), 1249–1290. https://doi.org/10.1111/0022-1082.00146
- Moskowitz, T. J., Ooi, Y. H., & Pedersen, L. H. (2012). Time series momentum. Journal of Financial Economics, 104(2), 228–250. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfineco.2011.11.003
- Newey, W. K., & West, K. D. (1987). A simple, positive semi-definite, heteroskedasticity and autocorrelation consistent covariance matrix. *Econometrica*, 55(3), 703–708. https: //doi.org/10.2307/1913610
- Newey, W. K., & West, K. D. (1994). Automatic lag selection in covariance matrix estimation. The Review of Economic Studies, (209), 631–653. https://doi.org/10.2307/2297912
- Novy-Marx, R. (2013). The other side of value: The gross profitability premium. Journal of Financial Economics, 108(1), 1–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfineco.2013.01.003
- Okunev, J., & White, D. (2003). Do momentum-based strategies still work in foreign currency markets? The Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis, 38(2), 425–447. https://doi.org/10.2307/4126758
- Pástor, L., & Stambaugh, R. F. (2003). Liquidity risk and expected stock returns. Journal of Political Economy, 111(3), 642–685. https://doi.org/10.1086/374184
- Petersen, M. A. (2009). Estimating standard errors in finance panel data sets: Comparing approaches. *Review of Financial Studies*, 22(1), 435–480. https://doi.org/10.1093/rfs/hh n053
- Piotroski, J. D., & So, E. C. (2012). Identifying expectation errors in value/glamour strategies: A fundamental analysis approach. *Review of Financial Studies*, 25(9), 2841– 2875. https://doi.org/10.1093/rfs/hhs061

- Rouwenhorst, K. G. (1998). International momentum strategies. The Journal of Finance, 53(1), 267–284. https://doi.org/10.1111/0022-1082.95722
- Rouwenhorst, K. G. (1999). Local return factors and turnover in emerging stock markets. *The Journal of Finance*, 54(4), 1439–1464. https://doi.org/10.1111/0022-1082.00151
- Schwert, G. W. (1989). Why does stock market volatility change over time? The Journal of Finance, 44(5), 1115–1153. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-6261.1989.tb02647.x
- Sharpe, W. F. (1964). Capital asset prices: A theory of market equilibrium under conditions of risk. The Journal of Finance, 19(3), 425–442. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-6261.196 4.tb02865.x
- Sinha, P., Brown, L. D., & Das, S. (1997). A re-examination of financial analysts' differential earnings forecast accuracy. *Contemporary Accounting Research*, 14(1), 1–42. https: //doi.org/10.1111/j.1911-3846.1997.tb00518.x
- So, E. C. (2013). A new approach to predicting analyst forecast errors: Do investors overweight analyst forecasts? *Journal of Financial Economics*, 108(3), 615–640. https: //doi.org/10.1016/j.jfineco.2013.02.002
- Stambaugh, R. F., Yu, J., & Yuan, Y. (2012). The short of it: Investor sentiment and anomalies. Journal of Financial Economics, 104(2), 288–302. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jfineco.2011.12.001
- Stambaugh, R. F., Yu, J., & Yuan, Y. (2014). The long of it: Odds that investor sentiment spuriously predicts anomaly returns. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 114(3), 613–619. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfineco.2014.07.008
- Stambaugh, R. F., Yu, J., & Yuan, Y. (2015). Arbitrage asymmetry and the idiosyncratic volatility puzzle. The Journal of Finance, 70(5), 1903–1948. https://doi.org/10.1111/jofi. 12286

- Stambaugh, R. F., & Yuan, Y. (2017). Mispricing factors. Review of Financial Studies, 30(4), 1270–1315. https://doi.org/10.1093/rfs/hhw107
- Stock, J. H., & Watson, M. W. (2015). Introduction to econometrics (Updated third global edition). Pearson.
- Thompson, S. B. (2011). Simple formulas for standard errors that cluster by both firm and time. Journal of Financial Economics, 99(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfineco.20 10.08.016
- Wang, K. Q., & Xu, J. (2015). Market volatility and momentum. Journal of Empirical Finance, 30, 79–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jempfin.2014.11.009
- Xing, Y. (2008). Interpreting the value effect through the q-theory: An empirical investigation. *Review of Financial Studies*, 21(4), 1767–1795. https://doi.org/10.1093/rfs/hhm051
- Zhang, X. F. (2006). Information uncertainty and stock returns. *The Journal of Finance*, 61(1), 105–137. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-6261.2006.00831.x